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Chapter 1 

2001 Gujarat Earthquake 

The 2001 Gujarat earthquake, also known as the Bhuj 

earthquake, occurred on 26 January, India's 52nd Republic 

Day, at 08:46 am IST. The epicentre was about 9 km south-

southwest of the village of Chobari in Bhachau Taluka of Kutch 

District of Gujarat, India.  

The intraplate earthquake reached 7.7 on the moment 

magnitude scale and had a maximum felt intensity of X 

(Extreme) on the Mercalli intensity scale. The earthquake killed 

between 13,805 and 20,023 people (including 18 in 

southeastern Pakistan), injured another 167,000 and destroyed 

nearly 340,000 buildings.  

Tectonic setting 

Gujarat lies 300–400 km from the plate boundary between the 

Indian Plate and the Eurasian Plate, but the current tectonics 

are still governed by the effects of the continuing continental 

collision along this boundary. During the break-up of 

Gondwana in the Jurassic, this area was affected by rifting 

with a roughly west–east trend. During the collision with 

Eurasia the area has undergone shortening, involving both 

reactivation of the original rift faults and development of new 

low-angle thrust faults. The related folding has formed a series 

of ranges, particularly in central Kutch.  
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The focal mechanism of most earthquakes is consistent with 

reverse faulting on reactivated rift faults. The pattern of uplift 

and subsidence associated with the 1819 Rann of Kutch 

earthquake is consistent with reactivation of such a fault.  

The 2001 Gujarat earthquake was caused by movement on a 

previously unknown south-dipping fault, trending parallel to 

the inferred rift structures.  

Effects 

The death toll in the Kutch region was 12,300. Bhuj, which 

was situated only 20 km away from the epicentre, was 

devastated. Considerable damage also occurred in Bhachau 

and Anjar with hundreds of villages flattened in Taluka of 

Anjar, Bhuj and Bhachau. Over one million structures were 

damaged or destroyed, including many historic buildings and 

tourist attractions. The quake destroyed around 40% of homes, 

eight schools, two hospitals and 4 km of road in Bhuj, and 

partly destroyed the city's historic Swaminarayan temple and 

historic forts, Prag Mahal and Aina Mahal. The Indian National 

Trust for Arts and Cultural Heritage (INTACH) inspected more 

than 250 heritage buildings in Kutch and Saurashtra and 

found that about 40% of them are either collapsed or seriously 

damaged. Only 10% were undamaged.  

In Ahmedabad, Gujarat's commercial capital with a population 

of approximately 7 million (according to data in 2018), as many 

as 50 multi-storey buildings collapsed and several hundred 

people were killed. Total property damage was estimated at 

$7.5 billion. In Kutch, the earthquake destroyed about 60% of 

food and water supplies and around 258,000 houses, 90% of 
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the district's housing stock. The biggest setback was the total 

demolition of the Bhuj Civil hospital. The Indian military 

provided emergency support which was later augmented by the 

International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent 

Society. A temporary Red Cross hospital remained in Bhuj to 

provide care while a replacement hospital was built.  

Reconstruction 

Four months after the earthquake the Gujarat government 

announced the Gujarat Earthquake Reconstruction and 

Rehabilitation Policy. The policy proposed a different approach 

to urban and rural construction with the estimated cost of 

rebuilding to be US$1.77 billion.  

The main objectives of the policy included repairing, building, 

and strengthening houses and public buildings. Other 

objectives included the revival of the economy, health support, 

and reconstruction of the community and social infrastructure.  

Housing 

The housing policies focused on the removal of rubble, setting 

up temporary shelters, full reconstruction of damaged houses, 

and the retrofitting of undamaged units. The policy established 

a community-driven housing recovery process. The 

communities affected by the earthquake were given the option 

for complete or partial relocation to in-situ reconstruction. The 

total number of eligible houses to be repaired was 929,682 and 

the total number of eligible houses to be reconstructed was 

213,685. By 2003, 882,896 (94%) houses were repaired and 

113,271 (53%) were reconstructed.  
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City planning 

The Environmental Planning Collaborative (EPC) was 

commissioned to provide a new city plan for the city of Bhuj. 

The plan focused on creating a wider roadway network to 

provide emergency access to the city. The EPC used land 

readjustment (LR) in the form of eight town planning schemes. 

This was implemented by deducting land from private lot sizes 

to create adequate public land for the widening of roadways. 

The remaining land was readjusted and given back to the 

original owners as final plots.  

Relief 

• In order to support the reconstruction and 

rehabilitation of the city, the Government of Gujarat 

created four assistance packages worth up to US$1 

billion. These packages assisted about 300,000 

families. The government also announced a US$2.5 

million package to revive small, medium, and cottage 

industries. The World Bank and the Asian 

Development Bank also provided loans worth $300 

million and $500 million, respectively. 

Memorial 

Smritivan, a memorial park and museum dedicated to victims 

of the earthquake is being built on top of Bhujia Hill. 13,823 

trees, each dedicated to a victim, were planted in the garden 

and 108 small water reservoirs were created on the hill.  



Chapter 2 

Western India 

Western India is a loosely defined region of India consisting of 

its western part. The Ministry of Home Affairs in its Western 

Zonal Council Administrative division includes the states of 

Goa, Gujarat, and Maharashtra along with the Union territory 

of Dadra and Nagar Haveli and Daman and Diu, while the 

Ministry of Culture and some historians also include the state 

of Rajasthan. The Geological Survey of India includes 

Maharashtra but excludes Rajasthan whereas Ministry of 

Minority Affairs includes Karnataka but excludes Rajasthan.  

Madhya Pradesh is also often included and Haryana, western 

Uttar Pradesh and southern Punjab are sometimes included. 

Western India may also refer to the western half of India, i.e. 

all the states west of Delhi and Chennai, thus also including 

Punjab, 

Kerala and surrounding states. The region is highly 

industrialised, with a large urban population. Roughly, 

western India is bounded by the Thar Desert in the north, the 

Vindhya Range in the east and north and the Arabian Sea in 

the west. 

A major portion of Western India shares the Thar Desert with 

North India and Pakistan and the Deccan Plateau with South 

and Central India.  

In ancient history, Western India was divided into three great 

states according to Hwen Thsang, namely Sindh (which 
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comprised the whole valley of the Indus from the Punjab to the 

sea, including the Delta and the island of Kutch), Gurjara 

(which comprised Western Rajputana and the Indian Desert), 

and Balabhi (which comprised the peninsula of Gujarat, with a 

small portion of the adjacent coast). Before the partition of 

India, the now-Pakistani territories of Sindh and Balochistan 

were also included in this region. In art history, the term 

normally covers just Gujarat and Rajasthan, which tend to 

move together in terms of style.  

History 

Parts of Gujarat were the site of Indus Valley Civilization. 

Places have been uncovered in Gujarat at Lothal, Surkotada, 

and around Ghaggar river in Rajasthan. The Western Indian 

region was ruled by the Rashtrakuta Empire, the Maurya 

Empire, the Gupta Empire, Rajputs, Satavahanas, Western 

Satraps, Indo Greeks, Kadambas etc. in the ancients times. 

During the medieval age, the area was under the rule of the 

Vaghela dynasty, the Gujarat Sultanate, and the Delhi 

Sultanate. 

Thereafter, the area was under Mughal rule. Later, the 

Maratha Empire which arose in western Maharashtra came to 

dominate a major portion of the Indian sub-continent. However 

its defeat by the British in the Anglo-Maratha wars left most of 

India under colonial rule. The region then experienced great 

upheavals during the struggle for Indian Independence. 

Gandhi's Dandi March took place in Gujarat. The region 

became part of independent India in 1947, and the present 

state boundaries were drawn based on linguistic 

considerations in 1956.  
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Geography 

• The region consists of the predominantly arid to 

semi-arid region of Saurashtra and Kutch in the 

North. The region South of that of Cambay and 

Southern Gujarat makes the northern semi arid 

region and the southern humid region submerge. The 

Western Ghats lie along the coast of South Gujarat, 

Maharashtra and Goa. The Deccan plains of the 

Vidarbha, Marathwada in central and eastern 

Maharashtra define the rest of the region. The 

vegetation varies from tropical rainforests along the 

Konkan coast to thorny bushes and shrubs in 

northern Gujarat. The rivers in this region are the 

Mahi, Narmada, Tapi, Godavari, Zuari, Mandovi, 

Krishna, Ghaggar, Chambal and many other smaller 

tributaries of other rivers.  

Climate 

• The climate varies between tropical wet, tropical wet 

and dry, and semi arid. The coastal regions 

experience little seasonal variations although the 

temperatures range between 20 °C to 38 °C. Mumbai 

and northern Konkan regions experience cooler 

winters with minimum temperatures hovering around 

12 °C. Interior Maharashtra experiences hot 

summers with maximum temperatures averaging 

40 °C and mild winters with minimum temperatures 

averaging about 10 °C. Pune, a city in the western 

region experiences temperatures around 35-40 °C in 
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summers and 7-12 °C on winters. Gujarat also has a 

warm climate with hot summers and cool winters.  

Demographics 

The majority follow Hinduism and there are significant 

minority who follow Islam and smaller number who follow 

Christianity. There are also a few indigenous Jews called the 

Bene Israel who speak Marathi. The Parsees who settled in 

Gujarat made Mumbai and Surat their home. Significant 

percentages of Jains and Buddhists can be found too. Most 

Christians live in the state of Goa.  

Overall, 83.66% of the population is Hindu, 10.12% Muslim, 

4% Buddhist with Christians in Goa and Maharashtra making 

up the majority of the remainder. Marathi, with about 73 

million speakers is the most widely spoken language, followed 

by Gujarati with about 46 million speakers and Konkani 2.5 

million speakers, all of which are Indo-Aryan languages. As in 

other parts of India, a high level of multilingualism is seen 

with English and Hindi being spoken as additional languages 

in urban areas.  

The average literacy rate of West India is around 76%, higher 

than the national average of 70.5%. The population density is 

around 290 per square km. The average fertility rate is about 

2.2, while the average household size is about 4.7.  

Culture 

The states of Maharashtra, Gujarat and Goa are culturally 

varied and distinct.  
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Maharashtrian culture derives from the ancient Hindu Vedic 

culture influenced deeply by the Maratha Empire. 

Maharashtrians take great pride in the Maratha Empire, and 

many places in Maharashtra are named after the founder of the 

Empire, Shivaji. Marathi literature and cinema are popular in 

the state as well as across India. Bollywood has had a huge 

impact on the lifestyle and culture of this part of India as the 

industry is primarily located in Mumbai.  

Gujarati culture is a blend of Indian culture and foreign 

influence. It has been influenced by the Parsis, who migrated 

to Gujarat from Persia about a 1000 years ago. Gujarat also 

saw Turkic and Mughal conquests, as well as a constant 

stream of back and forth migrations to and from Sindh and 

Rajasthan, which helped shape the unique cultural landscape 

of the state. Cultural Events like Rann Utsav, International 

Kite Festival and Global Garba festivals have been started in 

Gujarat to showcase its culture internationally.  

Goa's culture is a unique blend of Indian and Portuguese 

cultures, as a result of it formerly being part of Portuguese 

India for 450 years. The state is popular amongst tourists for 

its beaches, Goan cuisine, temples, churches and architecture. 

The Churches and Convents of Goa have been declared as a 

World Heritage Site by UNESCO.  

Food items 

The cuisine of Western India is diverse. Surat City Of Gujarat 

is Worldwide Known For Food, Maharashtrian cuisine is 

diverse and ranges from bland to fiery hot. Pohay, Shrikhand, 

Pav Bhaji, Vada Pav are good examples of Maharashtrian 
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cuisine. Goan cuisine is dominated by the use of rice, coconut, 

seafood, Kokum, cashew-nuts. With its distinct spices and 

medium of cooking as coconut oil, both vegetarian as well as 

non-vegetarian cuisine is equally popular. Gujarati cuisine is 

almost exclusively vegetarian. Gujarat is one of three states in 

India, with prohibition on alcohol, along with Mizoram and 

Manipur. In contrast, Maharashtra has some of the best 

vineyards in India, with Nashik and Sangli districts being the 

country's biggest grape-producing districts.  

Economy 

• The region generates 24.00% of the national GDP of 

the country, with an annual growth rate of 14.5% as 

of 2006. The states generate about 23% of the tax 

revenues of the country. More than 85% of the 

households have access to electricity with about 55% 

owning a television. Agriculture employs most people 

in the region, while services have largest share in 

the total GDP. 

  



Chapter 3 

Vajpayee Meets Pakistani 

President Pervez Musharraf 

• Atal Bihari Vajpayee (25 December 1924 –

16 August 2018) was an Indian statesman who

served three terms as the prime minister of India,

first for a term of 13 days in 1996, then for a period

of 13 months from 1998 to 1999, followed by a full

term from 1999 to 2004. Vajpayee was one of the co-

founders and a senior leader of the Bharatiya Janata

Party (BJP). He was a member of the Rashtriya

Swayamsevak Sangh, a Hindu nationalist volunteer

organisation. He was the first Indian prime minister

not of the Indian National Congress to serve a full

term in office. He was also noted as a poet and a

writer.

He was a member of the Indian Parliament for over five 

decades, having been elected ten times to the Lok Sabha, the 

lower house, and twice to the Rajya Sabha, the upper house. 

He served as the Member of Parliament for Lucknow, retiring 

from active politics in 2009 due to health concerns. He was 

among the founding members of the Bharatiya Jana Sangh 

(BJS), of which he was president from 1968 to 1972. The BJS 

merged with several other parties to form the Janata Party, 

which won the 1977 general election. In March 1977, Vajpayee 

became the minister of external affairs in the cabinet of Prime 

Minister Morarji Desai. He resigned in 1979, and the Janata 
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alliance collapsed soon after. Former members of the BJS 

formed the BJP in 1980, with Vajpayee its first president.  

During his tenure as prime minister, India carried out the 

Pokhran-II nuclear tests in 1998. Vajpayee sought to improve 

diplomatic relations with Pakistan, travelling to Lahore by bus 

to meet with Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif. After the 1999 

Kargil War with Pakistan, he sought to restore relations 

through engagement with President Pervez Musharraf, inviting 

him to India for a summit at Agra.  

The administration of Narendra Modi declared in 2014 that 

Vajpayee's birthday, 25 December, would be marked as Good 

Governance Day. In 2015, he was conferred India's highest 

civilian honour, the Bharat Ratna, by the president of India, 

Pranab Mukherjee. He died on 16 August 2018 of age-related 

illness.  

Pervez Musharraf 

Pervez Musharraf (born 11 August 1943) is a Pakistani 

politician and a retired four-star general who became the tenth 

president of Pakistan after the successful military takeover of 

the federal government in 1999. He held the presidency from 

2001 until 2008, when he tendered his resignation to avoid 

impeachment.  

Born in Delhi during the British Raj, Musharraf was raised in 

Karachi and Istanbul. He studied mathematics at Forman 

Christian College in Lahore and was also educated at the Royal 

College of Defence Studies in the United Kingdom. Musharraf 

entered the Pakistan Military Academy in 1961 and was 
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commissioned to the Pakistan Army in 1964, playing an active 

role in the Afghan civil war. Musharraf saw action during the 

Indo-Pakistani War of 1965 as a second lieutenant. By the 

1980s, he was commanding an artillery brigade. In the 1990s, 

Musharraf was promoted to major general and assigned an 

infantry division, and later commanded the Special Services 

Group. Soon after, he also served as deputy military secretary 

and director general of military operations.  

Musharraf rose to national prominence when he was promoted 

to four-star general by Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif in 1998, 

making Musharraf the head of the armed forces. He led the 

Kargil infiltration that almost brought India and Pakistan to a 

full-fledged war in 1999. After months of contentious relations 

between Sharif and Musharraf, Sharif unsuccessfully 

attempted to remove Musharraf as the army's leader. In 

retaliation, the army staged a coup d'état in 1999, which 

allowed Musharraf to take over Pakistan as president in 2001. 

He subsequently placed Sharif under strict house arrest before 

launching official criminal proceedings against him.  

Musharraf initially remained the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs 

and the Chief of the Army Staff, relinquishing the former 

position upon confirmation of his presidency. However, he 

remained the Army Chief until retiring in 2007. The initial 

stages of his presidency featured controversial wins in a state 

referendum to grant him a five-year term limit, and a general 

election in 2002. During his presidency, he advocated for the 

Third Way, adopting a synthesis of conservatism and socialism. 

Musharraf reinstated the constitution in 2002, though it was 

heavily amended within the Legal Framework Order. He 

appointed Zafarullah Jamali and later Shaukat Aziz as Prime 
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Minister, and oversaw directed policies against terrorism, 

becoming a key player in the American-led war on terror.  

Musharraf pushed for social liberalism under his enlightened 

moderation program and promoted economic liberalisation, 

while he also banned trade unions. Musharraf's presidency 

coincided with a rise of overall gross domestic product by 

around 50%; in the same period, domestic savings declined, 

and economic inequality rose at a rapid rate. Musharraf's 

government has also been accused of human rights abuses, 

and he survived a number of assassination attempts during his 

presidency. When Aziz departed as prime minister, and after 

approving the suspension of the judicature in 2007, 

Musharraf's position weakened dramatically. Tendering his 

resignation to avoid impeachment in 2008, Musharraf 

emigrated to London in a self-imposed exile. His legacy as 

leader is mixed; he saw the emergence of a more assertive 

middle class, but an open disregard for civilian institutions 

greatly weakened democracy in Pakistan.  

Musharraf returned to Pakistan in 2013 to participate in that 

year's general election, but was disqualified from participating 

after the country's high courts issued arrest warrants for him 

and Aziz for their alleged involvement in the assassinations of 

Nawab Akbar Bugti and Benazir Bhutto. Upon Sharif's re-

election in 2013, he initiated high treason charges against 

Musharraf for implementing emergency rule and suspending 

the constitution in 2007. 

The case against Musharraf continued after Sharif's removal 

from office in 2017, the same year in which Musharraf was 

declared an "absconder" in the Bhutto assassination case by 
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virtue of moving to Dubai. In 2019, Musharraf was sentenced 

to death in absentia for the treason charges, although, the 

death sentence was later annulled by the Lahore High Court.  

Early life 

British India 

Musharraf was born on 11 August 1943 to an Urdu-speaking 

family in Delhi, British India, the son of Syed Musharrafuddin 

and his wife Begum Zarin Musharraf (c. 1920–2021). His family 

were Muslims who were also Sayyids, claiming descent from 

prophet Muhammad. Syed Musharraf graduated from Aligarh 

Muslim University and entered the civil service, which was an 

extremely prestigious career under British rule. He came from 

a long line of government officials as his great-grandfather was 

a tax collector while his maternal grandfather was a qazi 

(judge). Musharraf's mother Zarin, born in the early 1920s, 

grew up in Lucknow and received her schooling there, after 

which she graduated from Indraprastha College at Delhi 

University, taking a bachelor's degree in English literature. 

She then married and devoted herself to raising a family. His 

father, Syed, was an accountant who worked at the foreign 

office in the British Indian government and eventually became 

an accounting director.  

Musharraf was the second of three children, all boys. His elder 

brother, Javed Musharraf, based in Rome, is an economist and 

one of the directors of the International Fund for Agricultural 

Development. His younger brother, Naved Musharraf, is an 

anaesthesiologist based in Illinois, US.  
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At the time of his birth, Musharraf's family lived in a large 

home that belonged to his father's family for many years called 

Nehar Wali Haveli, which means "House Next to the Canal". Sir 

Syed Ahmed Khan's family lived next door. It is indicative of 

"the family's western education and social prominence" that 

the house's title deeds, although written entirely in Urdu, were 

signed by Musharraf's father in English.  

Pakistan and Turkey 

Musharraf was four years old when India achieved 

independence and Pakistan was created as the homeland for 

India's Muslims. His family left for Pakistan in August 1947, a 

few days before independence. His father joined the Pakistan 

Civil Services and began to work for the Pakistani government; 

later, his father joined the Foreign Ministry, taking up an 

assignment in Turkey. In his autobiography In the Line of Fire: 

A Memoir, Musharraf elaborates on his first experience with 

death, after falling off a mango tree.  

Musharraf's family moved to Ankara in 1949, when his father 

became part of a diplomatic deputation from Pakistan to 

Turkey. He learned to speak Turkish. He had a dog named 

Whiskey that gave him a "lifelong love for dogs". He played 

sports in his youth. 

In 1956, he left Turkey and returned to Pakistan in 1957 where 

he attended Saint Patrick's School in Karachi and was 

accepted at the Forman Christian College University in Lahore. 

At Forman, Musharraf chose mathematics as a major in which 

he excelled academically, but later developed an interest in 

economics.  
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Initial military career 

In 1961, at the age of 18, Musharraf entered the Pakistan 

Military Academy at Kakul. During his college years at PMA 

and initial joint military testings, 

Musharraf shared a room with PQ Mehdi of the Pakistan Air 

Force and Abdul Aziz Mirza of the Navy (both reached four-star 

assignments and served with Musharraf later on) and after 

giving the exams and entrance interviews, all three cadets went 

to watch a world-acclaimed Urdu film, Savera (lit. Dawn), with 

his inter-services and college friends, Musharraf recalls, In the 

Line of Fire, published in 2006. With his friends, Musharraf 

passed the standardise, physical, psychological, and officer-

training exams, he also took discussions involving the 

socioeconomics issues; all three were interviewed by joint 

military officers who were designated as Commandants. The 

next day, Musharraf along with PQ Mehdi and Mirza, reported 

to PMA and they were selected for their respective training in 

their arms of commission.  

Finally, in 1964, Musharraf graduated with a Bachelor's degree 

in his class of 29th PMA Long Course together with Ali Kuli 

Khan and his lifelong friend Abdul Aziz Mirza. He was 

commissioned in the artillery regiment as second lieutenant 

and posted near the Indo-Pakistan border. During this time in 

the artillery regiment, Musharraf maintained his close 

friendship and contact with Mirza through letters and 

telephones even in difficult times when Mirza, after joining the 

Navy Special Service Group, was stationed in East-Pakistan as 

a military advisor to Eastern Corps.  
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Indo-Pakistani conflicts (1965–1971) 

His first battlefield experience was with an artillery regiment 

during the intense fighting for the Khemkaran sector in the 

Second Kashmir War. He also participated in the Lahore and 

Sialkot war zones during the conflict. During the war, 

Musharraf developed a reputation for sticking to his post 

under shellfire. He received the Imtiazi Sanad medal for 

gallantry.  

Shortly after the end of the War of 1965, he joined the elite 

Special Service Group (SSG). He served in the SSG from 1966 

to 1972. He was promoted to captain and to major during this 

period. During the 1971 war with India, he was a company 

commander of an SSG commando battalion. During the 1971 

war he was scheduled to depart to East-Pakistan to join the 

army-navy joint military operations, but the deployment was 

cancelled after Indian Army advances towards Southern 

Pakistan.  

Professorship (1972–1990) 

Musharraf was promoted to lieutenant colonel in 1974; and to 

colonel in 1978. As staff officer in the 1980s, he studied 

political science at the National Defense University (NDU), and 

then briefly tenured as assistant professor of war studies at 

the Command and Staff College and then assistant professor of 

political science also at NDU. One of his professors at NDU was 

general Jehangir Karamat who served Musharraf's guidance 

counselor and instructor who had significant influence on 

Musharraf's philosophy and critical thinking. He did not play 

any significant role in Pakistan's proxy war in the 1979–1989 
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Soviet invasion of Afghanistan. In 1987, he became a brigade 

commander of a new brigade of the SSG near Siachen Glacier. 

He was personally chosen by then-President and Chief of Army 

Staff general Zia-ul-Haq for this assignment due to 

Musharraf's wide experience in mountain and arctic warfare. In 

September 1987, Musharraf commanded an assault at Bilafond 

La before being pushed back.  

He studied at the Royal College of Defense Studies (RCDS) in 

Britain during 1990–91. His course-mate included Major-

generals B. S. Malik and Ashok Mehta of the Indian Army, and 

Ali Kuli Khan of Pakistan Army. In his course studies, 

Musharraf performed extremely in relation to his classmates, 

submitted his master's degree thesis, titled "Impact of Arm 

Race in the Indo-Pakistan subcontinent", and earned good 

remarks. 

He submitted his thesis to Commandant General Antony 

Walker who regarded Musharraf as one of his finest students 

he had seen in his entire career. At one point, Walker 

described Musharraf: "A capable, articulate and extremely 

personable officer, who made a valuable impact at RCDS. His 

country is fortunate to have the services of a man of his 

undeniable quality." 

He graduated with a master's degree from RCDS and returned 

to Pakistan soon after. Upon returning in the 1980s, 

Musharraf took an interest in the emerging Pakistani rock 

music genre, and often listened to rock music after leaving 

duty. During that decade, regarded as the time when rock 

music in Pakistan began, Musharraf was reportedly keen on 

the popular Western fashions of the time, which were then very 
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popular in government and public circles. Whilst in the Army 

he earned the nickname "Cowboy" for his westernized ways and 

his fashion interest in Western clothing.  

Early commandant (1991–1995) 

Earlier in 1988–89, as Brigadier, Musharraf proposed the 

Kargil infiltration to Prime Minister Benazir Bhutto but she 

rebuffed the plan. In 1991–93, he secured a two-star 

promotion, elevating him to the rank of major general and held 

the command of 40th Army Division as its GOC, stationed in 

Okara Military District in Punjab Province. In 1993–95, Major-

General Musharraf worked closely with the Chief of Army Staff 

as Director-General of Pakistan Army's Directorate General for 

the Military Operations (DGMO). During this time, 

Musharraf became close to engineering officer and director-

general of ISI lieutenant-general Javed Nasir and had worked 

with him while directing operations in Bosnian war. His 

political philosophy was influenced by Benazir Bhutto who 

mentored him on various occasions, and Musharraf generally 

was close to Benazir Bhutto on military policy issues on India. 

From 1993 to 1995, 

Musharraf repeatedly visited the United States as part of the 

delegation of Benazir Bhutto. It was Maulana Fazal-ur-Rehman 

who lobbied for his promotion to Benazir Bhutto, and 

subsequently getting Musharraf's promotion papers approved 

by Benazir Bhutto, which eventually led to his appointment in 

Benazir Bhutto's key staff. In 1993, Musharraf personally 

assisted Benazir Bhutto to have a secret meeting at the 

Pakistani Embassy in Washington, D.C. with officials from the 
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Mossad and a special envoy of Israeli premier Yitzhak Rabin. It 

was during this time Musharraf built an extremely cordial 

relationship with Shaukat Aziz who, at that time, was serving 

as the executive president of global financial services of the 

Citibank.  

After the collapse of the fractious Afghan government, 

Musharraf assisted General Babar and the Inter-Services 

Intelligence (ISI) in devising a policy of supporting the newly 

formed Taliban in the Afghan civil war against the Northern 

Alliance government. On policy issues, Musharraf befriended 

senior justice of the Supreme Court of Pakistan Justice Rafiq 

Tarar (later president) and held common beliefs with the latter.  

His last military field operations posting was in the Mangla 

region of the Kashmir Province in 1995 when Benazir Bhutto 

approved the promotion of Musharraf to three-star rank, 

Lieutenant-General. Between 1995 and 1998, Lieutenant-

General Musharraf was the corps commander of I Strike Corps 

(CC-1) stationed in Mangla, Mangla Military District.  

Four-star appointments (1998–2007) 

Chief of Army Staff and Chairman Joint Chiefs 

Although both Nawaz Sharif and general Jehangir Karamat 

were educated, and held common beliefs concerning national 

security, problems arose with Chairman of the Joint Chiefs and 

Chief of Army Staff General Karamat in October 1998. While 

addressing the officers and cadets at the Naval War College, 

General Karamat promoted the creation of the National 

Security Council, which would be backed by a "team of civil-
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military experts" for devising policies to seek resolution 

ongoing problems relating the civil-military issues; also 

recommended a "neutral but competent bureaucracy and 

administration of at federal level and the establishment of 

Local governments in four provinces." This proposal was met 

with hostility, and led to Nawaz Sharif's dismissal of General 

Karamat. In turn, this reduced Nawaz's mandate in public 

circles, and led to much criticism from Leader of the 

Opposition Benazir Bhutto.  

There were three lieutenant-general officers potentially in line 

to succeed General Karamat as four-star rank and chief of 

army staff. Lieutenant-general Ali Kuli Khan, a graduate of 

PMA and RMA, Sandhurst, was an extremely capable staff 

officer and well-liked in public circles, but was seen as close to 

the former chief of army staff general (retired) Abdul Vaheed; 

and was not promoted. Second in line was lieutenant-general 

Khalid Nawaz Khan who was popularly known for his ruthless 

leadership in the army; particularly for his unforgiving attitude 

to his junior officers. Lieutenant-general Nawaz Khan was 

known for his opposition and anti-muhajir sentiment, and was 

particularly hard line against the MQM.  

Musharraf was in third-in-line and was well regarded by the 

general public and the armed forces. He also had an excellent 

academic standing from his college and university studies. 

Musharraf was strongly favored by the Prime Minister's 

colleagues: a straight officer with democratic views. Nisar Ali 

Khan and Shahbaz Sharif recommended Musharraf and Prime 

Minister Nawaz Sharif personally promoted Musharraf to the 

rank of four-star general to replace Karamat.  
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After the Kargil incident, Musharraf did not wish to be the 

Chairman of the Joint Chiefs: Musharraf favored the chief of 

naval staff Admiral Bokhari to take on this role, and claimed 

that: "he did not care" Prime minister Sharif was displeased by 

this suggestion, due to the hostile nature of his relationship 

with the Admiral. Musharraf further exacerbated his divide 

with Nawaz Sharif after recommending the forced retirement of 

senior officers close to the Prime minister, including 

Lieutenant-General Tariq Pervez (or TP), commander of XII 

Corps, who was a brother-in-law of a high profile cabinet 

minister. According to Musharraf, lieutenant-general TP was 

an ill-mannered, foul-mouthed, ill-disciplined officer who 

caused a great deal of dissent within the armed forces.  

Nawaz Sharif's announcement of the promotion of General 

Musharraf to Chairman Joint Chiefs caused an escalation of 

the tensions with Admiral Bokhari: upon hearing the news, he 

launched a strong protest against the Prime minister The next 

morning, the Prime minister relieved Admiral Bokhari of his 

duties. It was during his time as Chairman of the Joint Chiefs 

that Musharraf began to build friendly relations with the 

United States Army establishment, including General Anthony 

Zinni, USMC, General Tommy Franks, General John Abizaid, 

and General Colin Powell of the US Army, all of whom were 

premier four-star generals in the military history of the United 

States.  

Kargil Conflict 

The Pakistan Army originally conceived the Kargil plan after 

the Siachen conflict but the plan was rebuffed repeatedly by 

senior civilian and military officials. Musharraf was a leading 
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strategist behind the Kargil Conflict. From March to May 1999, 

he ordered the secret infiltration of Kashmiri forces in the 

Kargil district. After India discovered the infiltration, a fierce 

Indian offensive nearly led to a full-scale war. However, Sharif 

withdrew support of the insurgents in the border conflict in 

July because of heightened international pressure. Sharif's 

decision antagonized the Pakistan Army and rumors of a 

possible coup began emerging soon afterward. Sharif and 

Musharraf dispute on who was responsible for the Kargil 

conflict and Pakistan's withdrawal.  

This strategic operation met with great hostility in the public 

circles and wide scale disapproval in the media who roundly 

criticised this operation. Musharraf had severe confrontation 

and became involved in serious altercations with his senior 

officers, chief of naval staff Admiral Fasih Bokhari, chief of air 

staff, air chief marshal PQ Mehdi and senior lieutenant-general 

Ali Kuli Khan. Admiral Bokhari ultimately demanded a full-

fledged joint-service court martial against General Musharraf, 

while on the other hand General Kuli Khan lambasted the war 

as "a disaster bigger than the East-Pakistan tragedy", adding 

that the plan was "flawed in terms of its conception, tactical 

planning and execution" that ended in "sacrificing so many 

soldiers." Problems with his lifelong friend, chief of air staff air 

chief marshal Pervez Mehdi also arose when air chief refrained 

to participate or authorise any air strike to support the 

elements of army operations in the Kargil region.  

During the last meeting with the Prime minister, Musharraf 

faced grave criticism on results produced by Kargil infiltration 

by the principal military intelligence (MI) director lieutenant-

general Jamshed Gulzar Kiani who maintained in the meeting: 
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"(...) whatever has been written there is against logic. If you 

catch your enemy by the jugular vein he would react with full 

force... If you cut enemy supply lines, the only option for him 

will be to ensure supplies by air... (sic).. at that situation the 

Indian Army was unlikely to confront and it had to come up to 

the occasion. It is against wisdom that you dictate to the 

enemy to keep the war limited to a certain front...."  

Nawaz Sharif has maintained that the Operation was 

conducted without his knowledge. However, details of the 

briefing he got from the military before and after the Kargil 

operation have become public. Before the operation, between 

January and March, Sharif was briefed about the operation in 

three separate meetings. In January, the army briefed him 

about the Indian troop movement along the LOC in Skardu on 

29 January 1999, on 5 February at Kel, on 12 March at the 

GHQ, and finally on 17 May at the ISI headquarters. During 

the end of the June DCC meeting, a tense Sharif turned to the 

army chief and said "you should have told me earlier", 

Musharraf pulled out his notebook and repeated the dates and 

contents of around seven briefings he had given him since the 

beginning of January.  

Chief Executive 

1999 coup 

• Military officials from Musharraf's Joint Staff 

Headquarters (JS HQ) met with regional corps 

commanders three times in late September in 

anticipation of a possible coup. To quieten rumours 

of a fallout between Musharraf and Sharif, Sharif 
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officially certified Musharraf's remaining two years of 

his term on 30 September. 

Musharraf had left for a weekend trip to take part in Sri 

Lanka's Army's 50th-anniversary celebrations. When Pervez 

Musharraf was returning from an official visit to Colombo his 

flight was denied landing permissions to Karachi International 

Airport after orders were issued from the Prime Minister's 

office. Upon hearing the announcement of Nawaz Sharif, 

replacing Pervez Musharraf by Khwaja Ziauddin, the third 

replacement of the top military commander of the country in 

less than two years, local military commanders began to 

mobilize troops towards Islamabad from nearby Rawalpindi. 

The military placed Sharif under house arrest, but in a last-

ditch effort Sharif privately ordered Karachi air traffic 

controllers to redirect Musharraf's flight to India. The plan 

failed after soldiers in Karachi surrounded the airport control 

tower. At 2:50 am on 13 October, Musharraf addressed the 

nation with a recorded message.  

Musharraf met with President Rafiq Tarar on 13 October to 

deliberate on legitimising the coup. On 15 October, Musharraf 

ended emerging hopes of a quick transition to democracy after 

he declared a state of emergency, suspended the Constitution 

and assumed power as Chief Executive. He also quickly purged 

the government of political enemies, notably Ziauddin and 

national airline chief Shahid Khaqan Abbassi. On 17 October, 

he gave his second national address and established a seven-

member military-civilian council to govern the country. He 

named three retired military officers and a judge as provincial 

administrators on 21 October. Ultimately, Musharraf assumed 

executive powers but did not obtain the office of the Prime 
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minister. The Prime minister's secretariat (official residence of 

Prime minister of Pakistan) was closed by the military police 

and its staff was fired by Musharraf immediately.  

There were no organised protests within the country to the 

coup, that was widely criticized by the international 

community. Consequently, Pakistan was suspended from the 

Commonwealth of Nations. Sharif was put under house arrest 

and later exiled to Saudi Arabia on his personal request and 

under a contract.  

First days 

The senior military appointments in the inter-services were 

extremely important and crucial for Musharraf to keep the 

legitimacy and the support for his coup in the joint inter-

services. 

Starting with the PAF, Musharraf pressured President Tarar to 

appoint most-junior air marshal to four-star rank, particularly 

someone with Musharraf had experienced working during the 

inter-services operations. Once Air-chief Marshal Pervez 

Kureshi was retired, the most junior air marshal Muschaf Mir 

(who worked with Musharraf in 1996 to assist ISI in Taliban 

matters) was appointed to four-star rank as well as elevated as 

Chief of Air Staff. 

There were two extremely important military appointments 

made by Musharraf in the Navy. Although Admiral Aziz Mirza 

(a lifelong friend of Musharraf, he shared a dorm with the 

admiral in the 1960s and they graduated together from the 

academy) was appointed by Prime minister Nawaz Sharif, Mirza 

remained extremely supportive of Musharraf's coup and was 
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also a close friend of Musharraf since 1971 when both 

participated in a joint operation against the Indian Army. After 

Mirza's retirement, Musharraf appointed Admiral Shahid 

Karimullah, with whom Musharraf had trained together in 

special forces schools during the 1960s, to four-star rank and 

chief of naval staff. Musharraf's first foreign visit was to Saudi 

Arabia on 26 October where he met with King Fahd. After 

meeting senior Saudi royals, the next day he went to Medina 

and performed Umrah in Mecca. On 28 October, he went to 

United Arab Emirates before returning home. By the end of 

October, Musharraf appointed many technocrats and 

bureaucrats in his Cabinet, including former Citibank 

executive Shaukat Aziz as Finance Minister and Abdul Sattar 

as Foreign Minister. In early November, he released details of 

his assets to the public.  

In late December 1999, Musharraf dealt with his first 

international crisis when India accused Pakistan's involvement 

in the Indian Airlines Flight 814 hijacking. Though United 

States President Bill Clinton pressured Musharraf to ban the 

alleged group behind the hijacking — Harkat-ul-Mujahideen, 

Pakistani officials refused because of fears of reprisal from 

political parties such as Jamaat-e-Islami.  

In March 2000, Musharraf banned political rallies. In a 

television interview given in 2001, Musharraf openly spoke 

about the negative role of a few high-ranking officers in the 

Pakistan Armed Forces in state's affairs. Musharraf labelled 

many of his senior professors at NDU as "pseudo-intellectuals", 

including the NDU's notable professors, General Aslam Beg and 

Jehangir Karamat under whom Musharraf studied and served 

well.  
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Sharif trial and exile 

The Military Police held former prime minister Sharif under 

house arrest at a government guesthouse and opened his 

Lahore home to the public in late October 1999. He was 

formally indicted in November on charges of hijacking, 

kidnapping, attempted murder, and treason for preventing 

Musharraf's flight from landing at Karachi airport on the day of 

the coup. His trial began in early March 2000 in an anti-

terrorism court, which is designed for speedy trials. He 

testified Musharraf began preparations of a coup after the 

Kargil conflict. 

Sharif was placed in Adiala Jail, infamous for hosting Zulfikar 

Ali Bhutto's trial, and his leading defence lawyer, Iqbal Raad, 

was shot dead in Karachi in mid-March. Sharif's defense team 

blamed the military for intentionally providing their lawyers 

with inadequate protection. The court proceedings were widely 

accused of being a show trial. Sources from Pakistan claimed 

that Musharraf and his military government's officers were in 

full mood to exercise tough conditions on Sharif, and intended 

to send Nawaz Sharif to the gallows to face a similar fate to 

that of Zulfikar Ali Bhutto in 1979. 

It was the pressure on Musharraf exerted by Saudi Arabia and 

the United States to exile Sharif after it was confirmed that the 

court is about to give its verdict on Nawaz Sharif over treason 

charges, and the court would sentence Sharif to death. Sharif 

signed an agreement with Musharraf and his military 

government and his family was exiled to Saudi Arabia in 

December 2000.  
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Constitutional changes 

Shortly after Musharraf's takeover, Musharraf issued Oath of 

Judges Order No. 2000, which required judges to take a fresh 

oath of office. On 12 May 2000, the Supreme Court asked 

Musharraf to hold national elections by 12 October 2002. After 

President Rafiq Tarar's resignation, Musharraf formally 

appointed himself as President on 20 June 2001. In August 

2002, he issued the Legal Framework Order No. 2002, which 

added numerous amendments to the Constitution.  

2002 general elections 

Musharraf called for nationwide political elections in the 

country after accepting the ruling of the Supreme Court of 

Pakistan. Musharraf was the first military president to accept 

the rulings of the Supreme Court and holding free and fair 

elections in 2002, part of his vision to return democratic rule 

to the country. In October 2002, Pakistan held general 

elections, which the pro-Musharraf PML-Q won wide margins, 

although it had failed to gain an absolute majority. The PML-Q 

formed a government with far-right religious parties coalition, 

the MMA and the liberals MQM; the coalition legitimized 

Musharraf's rule.  

After the elections, the PML-Q nominated Zafarullah Khan 

Jamali for the office of prime minister, which Musharraf also 

approved. After first session at the Parliament, Musharraf 

voluntarily transferred the powers of chief executive to Prime 

Minister Zafarullah Khan Jamali. Musharraf succeeded to pass 

the XVII amendment, which grants powers to dissolve the 

parliament, with approval required from the Supreme Court. 
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Within two years, Jamali proved to be an ineffective prime 

minister as he forcefully implemented his policies in the 

country and caused problems with the business class elites. 

Musharraf accepted the resignation of Jamali and asked his 

close colleague Chaudhry Shujaat Hussain to appoint a new 

prime minister in place. Hussain nominated Finance minister 

Shaukat Aziz, who had been impressive due to his performance 

as finance minister in 1999. Musharraf regarded Aziz as his 

right hand and preferable choice for the office of Prime 

minister. With Aziz appointed as Prime minister, Musharraf 

transferred all executive powers to Aziz as he trusted Shaukat 

Aziz. 

Aziz proved to be extremely capable in running the 

government; under his leadership economic growth reached to 

a maximum level, which further stabilized Musharraf's 

presidency. Aziz swiftly, quietly and quickly undermined the 

elements seeking to undermine Musharraf, which became a 

factor in Musharraf's trust in him. Between 2004 and 2007, 

Aziz approved many projects that did not require Musharraf's 

permission.  

In 2010, all constitutional changes carried out by Musharraf 

and Aziz's policies were reverted by the 18th Amendment, 

which put the country back to its initial position and restored 

the powers of the Prime Minister.  

Presidency 

The presidency of Pervez Musharraf helped bring the liberal 

forces to the national level and into prominence, for the first 

time in the history of Pakistan. He granted national amnesty to 
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the political workers of the liberal parties like Muttahida 

Qaumi Movement and Pakistan Muslim League (Q), and 

supported MQM in becoming a central player in the 

government. Musharraf disbanded the cultural policies of the 

previous Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif, and quickly adopted 

Benazir Bhutto's cultural policies after disbanding Indian 

channels in the country.  

His cultural policies liberalized Pakistan's media, and he 

issued many television licenses to the private-sector to open 

television centers and media houses. The television dramas, 

film industry, theatre, music and literature activities, were 

personally encouraged by Pervez Musharraf. Under his policies, 

the rock music bands gained a following in the country and 

many concerts were held each week. His cultural policies, the 

film, theatre, rock and folk music, and television programs 

were extremely devoted to and promoted the national spirit of 

the country. In 2001, Musharraf got on stage with the rock 

music band, Junoon, and sang the national song with the 

band.  

On political fronts, Musharraf faced fierce opposition from the 

ultra-conservative alliance, the MMA, led by clergyman 

Maulana Noorani. In Pakistan, Maulana Noorani was 

remembered as a mystic religious leader and had preached 

spiritual aspects of Islam all over the world as part of the 

World Islamic Mission. 

Although the political deadlock posed by Maulana Noorani was 

neutralized after Noorani's death, Musharraf yet had to face 

the opposition from ARD led by Benazir Bhutto of the PPP.  
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Support for the War on Terror 

Musharraf allied with the United States against the Afghan 

mujahideen in Afghanistan after the September 11 attacks.  

A few months after the 11 September attacks, Musharraf gave 

a speech against extremism. He instituted prohibitions on 

foreign students' access to studying Islam within Pakistan, an 

effort that began as an outright ban but was later reduced to 

restrictions on obtaining visas. On 18 September 2005, 

Musharraf made a speech before a broad based audience of 

Jewish leadership, sponsored by the American Jewish 

Congress's Council for World Jewry, in New York City. He was 

widely criticised by Middle Eastern leaders, but was met with 

some praise among Jewish leadership.  

Relations with India 

After the 2001 Gujarat earthquake, Musharraf expressed his 

sympathies to Indian Prime Minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee and 

sent a plane load of relief supplies to India. In 2004, 

Musharraf began a series of talks with India to resolve the 

Kashmir dispute. In 2004 a cease-fire was agreed upon along 

the Line of Control. Many troops still patrol the border.  

Relations with Saudi Arabia 

In 2006, King Abdullah of Saudi Arabia visited Pakistan for the 

first time as King. Musharraf honoured King Abdullah with the 

Nishan-e-Pakistan. Musharraf received the King Abdul-Aziz 

Medallion in 2007.  
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Nuclear scandals 

From September 2001 until his resignation in 2007 from the 

military, Musharraf's presidency was affected by scandals 

relating to nuclear weapons, which were detrimental to his 

authoritative legitimacy in the country and in the international 

community. In October 2001, Musharraf authorized a sting 

operation led by FIA to arrest two physicists Sultan 

Bashiruddin Mahmood and Chaudhry Abdul Majeed, because of 

their supposed connection with the Taliban after they secretly 

visited Taliban-controlled Afghanistan in 2000. 

The local Pakistani media widely circulated the reports that 

"Mahmood had a meeting with Osama bin Laden where Bin 

Laden had shown interest in building a radiological weapon;" it 

was later discovered that neither scientist had any in-depth 

knowledge of the technology. In December 2001, Musharraf 

authorized security hearings and the two scientists were taken 

into the custody by the JAG Branch (JAG); security hearings 

continued until early 2002.  

Another scandal arose as a consequence of disclosure by 

Pakistani nuclear physicist Abdul Qadeer Khan. On 27 

February 2001, Musharraf spoke highly of Khan at a state 

dinner in Islamabad, and he personally approved Khan's 

appointment as Science Advisor to the Government. In 2004, 

Musharraf relieved Abdul Qadeer Khan from his post and 

initially denied knowledge of the government's involvement in 

nuclear proliferation, despite Khan's claim that Musharraf was 

the "Big Boss" of the proliferation ring. Following this, 

Musharraf authorized a national security hearing, which 

continued until his resignation from the army in 2007. 
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According to Zahid Malik, Musharraf and the military 

establishment at that time acted against Abdul Qadeer Khan in 

an attempt to prove the loyalty of Pakistan to the United States 

and Western world.  

The investigations backfired on Musharraf and public opinion 

turned against him. The populist ARD movement, which 

included the major political parties such as the PML and the 

PPP, used the issue to bring down Musharraf's presidency.  

The debriefing of Abdul Qadeer Khan severely damaged 

Musharraf's own public image and his political prestige in the 

country. He faced bitter domestic criticism for attempting to 

vilify Khan, specifically from opposition leader Benazir Bhutto. 

In an interview to Daily Times, Bhutto maintained that Khan 

had been a "scapegoat" in the nuclear proliferation scandal and 

said that she didn't "believe that such a big scandal could have 

taken place under the nose of General Musharraf". Musharraf's 

long-standing ally, the MQM, published criticism of Musharraf 

over his handling of Abdul Qadeer Khan. The ARD movement 

and the political parties further tapped into the public anger 

and mass demonstrations against Musharraf. 

The credibility of the United States was also badly damaged; 

the US itself refrained from pressuring Musharraf to take 

further action against Khan. While Abdul Qadeer Khan 

remained popular in the country, Musharraf could not 

withstand the political pressure and his presidency was further 

weakened. Musharraf quickly pardoned Abdul Qadeer Khan in 

exchange for cooperation and issued confinement orders 

against Khan that limited Khan's movement. He handed over 

the case of Abdul Qadeer Khan to Prime minister Aziz who had 
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been supportive towards Khan, personally "thanking" him: "The 

services of Dr. Qadeer Khan are unforgettable for the country."  

On 4 July 2008, in an interview, Abdul Qadeer Khan laid the 

blame on President Musharraf and later on Benazir Bhutto for 

transferring the technology, claiming that Musharraf was 

aware of all the deals and he was the "Big Boss" for those 

deals. Khan said that "Musharraf gave centrifuges to North 

Korea in a 2000 shipment supervised by the armed forces. The 

equipment was sent in a North Korean plane loaded under the 

supervision of Pakistan security officials." Nuclear weapons 

expert David Albright of the Institute for Science and 

International Security agreed that Khan's activities were 

government-sanctioned. After Musharraf's resignation, Abdul 

Qadeer Khan was released from house arrest by the executive 

order of the Supreme Court of Pakistan. After Musharraf left 

the country, the new Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff 

Committee General Tärik Majid terminated all further 

debriefings of Abdul Qadeer Khan. Few believed that Abdul 

Qadeer Khan acted alone and the affair risked gravely 

damaging the Armed Forces, which oversaw and controlled the 

nuclear weapons development and of which Musharraf was 

Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff until his resignation from 

military service on 28 November 2007.  

Corruption issues 

When Musharraf came to power in 1999, he promised that the 

corruption in the government bureaucracy would be cleaned 

up. However, some claimed that the level of corruption did not 

diminish throughout Musharraf's time.  
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Domestic politics 

In December 2003, Musharraf made a deal with MMA, a six-

member coalition of far-right Islamic parties, agreeing to leave 

the army by 31 December 2004. With that party's support, pro-

Musharraf legislators were able to muster the two-thirds 

supermajority required to pass the Seventeenth Amendment, 

which retroactively legalised Musharraf's 1999 coup and many 

of his decrees. Musharraf reneged on his agreement with the 

MMA and pro-Musharraf legislators in the Parliament passed a 

bill allowing Musharraf to keep both offices.  

On 1 January 2004, Musharraf had won a confidence vote in 

the Electoral College of Pakistan, consisting of both houses of 

Parliament and the four provincial assemblies. Musharraf 

received 658 out of 1170 votes, a 56% majority, but many 

opposition and Islamic members of parliament walked out to 

protest the vote. As a result of this vote, his term was extended 

to 2007.  

Prime Minister Zafarullah Khan Jamali resigned on 26 June 

2004, after losing the support of Musharraf's party, PML(Q). 

His resignation was at least partially due to his public 

differences with the party chairman, 

Chaudhry Shujaat Hussain. This was rumored to have 

happened at Musharraf's command. Jamali had been appointed 

with the support of Musharraf's and the pro-Musharraf 

PML(Q). Most PML(Q) parliamentarians formerly belonged to 

the Pakistan Muslim League party led by Sharif, and most 

ministers of the cabinet were formerly senior members of other 

parties, joining the PML(Q) after the elections upon being 
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offered positions. Musharraf nominated Shaukat Aziz, the 

minister for finance and a former employee of Citibank and 

head of Citibank Private Banking as the new prime minister.  

In 2005, the Bugti clan attacked a gas field in Balochistan, 

after Dr. Shazia was raped at that location. Musharraf 

responded by 4,500 soldiers, supported by tanks and 

helicopters, to guard the gas field.  

Women's rights 

The National Assembly voted in favor of the "Women's 

Protection Bill" on 15 November 2006 and the Senate approved 

it on 23 November 2006. President General Pervez Musharraf 

signed into law the "Women's Protection Bill", on 1 December 

2006. The bill places rape laws under the penal code and 

allegedly does away with harsh conditions that previously 

required victims to produce four male witnesses and exposed 

the victims to prosecution for adultery if they were unable to 

prove the crime. However, the Women's Protection bill has been 

criticized heavily by many for paying continued lip service and 

failing to address the actual problem by its roots: repealing the 

Hudood Ordinance. In this context, Musharraf has also been 

criticized by women and human rights activists for not 

following up his words by action. The Human Rights 

Commission of Pakistan (HRCP) said that "The so-called 

Women's Protection Bill is a farcical attempt at making Hudood 

Ordinances palatable" outlining the issues of the bill and the 

continued impact on women.  

His government increased reserved seats for women in 

assemblies, in order to increase women's representation and 
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make their presence more effective. The number of reserved 

seats in the National Assembly was increased from 20 to 60. In 

provincial assemblies, 128 seats were reserved for women. This 

situation has brought out increase participation of women in 

the 1988 and 2008 elections.  

In March 2005, a couple of months after the rape of a 

Pakistani physician, Dr. Shazia Khalid, working on a 

government gas plant in the remote Balochistan province, 

Musharraf was criticised for pronouncing, Captain Hammad, a 

fellow military man and the accused in the case, innocent 

before the judicial inquiry was complete. Shazia alleged that 

she was forced by the government to leave the country.  

In an interview given to The Washington Post in September 

2005, Musharraf said that Pakistani women who had been the 

victims of rape treated rape as a "moneymaking concern", and 

were only interested in the publicity in order to make money 

and get a Canadian visa. He subsequently denied making these 

comments, but the Post made available an audio recording of 

the interview, in which Musharraf could be heard making the 

quoted remarks. 

Musharraf also denied Mukhtaran Mai, a Pakistani rape victim, 

the right to travel abroad, until pressured by US State 

Department. The remarks made by Musharraf sparked outrage 

and protests both internationally and in Pakistan by various 

groups i.e. women groups, activists. In a rally, held close to 

the presidential palace and Pakistan's parliament, hundreds of 

women demonstrated in Pakistan demanding Musharraf 

apologise for the controversial remarks about female rape 

victims.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 1 

40 

 

Assassination attempts 

Musharraf has survived multiple assassination attempts and 

alleged plots. In 2000 Kamran Atif, an alleged member of 

Harkat-ul Mujahideen al-Alami, tried to assassinate 

Musharraf. Atif was sentenced to death in 2006 by an Anti 

Terrorism Court. On 14 December 2003, Musharraf survived an 

assassination attempt when a powerful bomb went off minutes 

after his highly guarded convoy crossed a bridge in Rawalpindi; 

It was the third such attempt during his four-year rule. On 25 

December 2003, two suicide bombers tried to assassinate 

Musharraf, but their car bombs failed to kill him; 16 others 

died instead. Musharraf escaped with only a cracked 

windshield on his car. Amjad Farooqi was an alleged 

mastermind behind these attempts, and was killed by Pakistani 

forces in 2004 after an extensive manhunt.  

On 6 July 2007, there was another attempted assassination, 

when an unknown group fired a 7.62 submachine gun at 

Musharraf's plane as it took off from a runway in Rawalpindi. 

Security also recovered 2 anti-aircraft guns, from which no 

shots had been fired. On 17 July 2007, Pakistani police 

detained 39 people in relation to the attempted assassination 

of Musharraf. The suspects were detained at an undisclosed 

location by a joint team of Punjab Police, the Federal 

Investigation Agency and other Pakistani intelligence agencies.  

Fall from the presidency 

By August 2007, polls showed 64 percent of Pakistanis did not 

want another Musharraf term. Controversies involving the 

atomic issues, Lal Masjid incident, the unpopular War in 
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North-West Pakistan, the suspension of Chief Justice Iftikhar 

Muhammad Chaudhry, and widely circulated criticisms from 

rivals Benazir Bhutto and Nawaz Sharif, had brutalized the 

personal image of Musharraf in public and political circles. 

More importantly, with Shaukat Aziz departing from the office 

of Prime Minister, 

Musharraf could not have sustained his presidency any longer 

and dramatically fell from the presidency within a matter of 

eight months, after popular and mass public movements called 

for his impeachment for the actions taken during his 

presidency.  

Suspension of the Chief Justice 

On 9 March 2007, Musharraf suspended Chief Justice Iftikhar 

Muhammad Chaudhry and pressed corruption charges against 

him. He replaced him with Acting Chief Justice Javed Iqbal.  

Musharraf's moves sparked protests among Pakistani lawyers. 

On 12 March 2007, lawyers started a campaign called Judicial 

Activism across Pakistan and began boycotting all court 

procedures in protest against the suspension. In Islamabad, as 

well as other cities such as Lahore, Karachi, and Quetta 

hundreds of lawyers dressed in black suits attended rallies, 

condemning the suspension as unconstitutional. 

Slowly the expressions of support for the ousted Chief Justice 

gathered momentum and by May, protesters and opposition 

parties took out huge rallies against Musharraf, and his tenure 

as army chief was also challenged in the courts.  
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Lal Masjid siege 

Lal Masjid had a religious school for women and the Jamia 

Hafsa madrassa, which was attached to the mosque. A male 

madrassa was only a few minutes drive away. In April 2007, 

the mosque administration started to encourage attacks on 

local video shops, alleging that they were selling porn films, 

and massage parlours, which were alleged to be used as 

brothels. These attacks were often carried out by the mosque's 

female students. In July 2007, a confrontation occurred when 

government authorities made a decision to stop the student 

violence and send police officers to arrest the responsible 

individuals and the madrassa administration.  

This development led to a standoff between police forces and 

armed students. Mosque leaders and students refused to 

surrender and fired at police from inside the mosque building. 

Both sides suffered casualties.  

Return of Benazir Bhutto and Nawaz Sharif 

On 27 July, Bhutto met for the first time with Musharraf in the 

United Arab Emirates to discuss her return to Pakistan. On 14 

September 2007, Deputy Information Minister Tariq Azim 

stated that Bhutto will not be deported, but must face 

corruption charges against her. He clarified Sharif's and 

Bhutto's right to return to Pakistan. On 17 September 2007, 

Bhutto accused Musharraf's allies of pushing Pakistan to crisis 

by refusal to restore democracy and share power. Bhutto 

returned from eight years exile on 18 October. Musharraf 

called for a three-day mourning period after Bhutto's 

assassination on 27 December 2007.  
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Sharif returned to Pakistan in September 2007 and was 

immediately arrested and taken into custody at the airport. He 

was sent back to Saudi Arabia. Saudi intelligence chief Muqrin 

bin Abdul-Aziz Al Saud and Lebanese politician Saad Hariri 

arrived separately in Islamabad on 8 September 2007, the 

former with a message from Saudi King Abdullah and the latter 

after a meeting with Nawaz Sharif in London. After meeting 

President General Pervez Musharraf for two-and-a-half hours 

discussing Nawaz Sharif's possible return. On arrival in Saudi 

Arabia, Nawaz Sharif was received by Prince Muqrin bin Abdul-

Aziz, the Saudi intelligence chief, who had met Musharraf in 

Islamabad the previous day. That meeting had been followed by 

a rare press conference, at which he had warned that Sharif 

should not violate the terms of King Abdullah's agreement of 

staying out of politics for 10 years.  

Resignation from the Military 

On 2 October 2007, Musharraf appointed General Tariq Majid 

as Chairman Joint Chiefs Committee and approved General 

Ashfaq Kayani as vice chief of the army starting 8 October. 

When Musharraf resigned from military on 28 November 2007, 

Kayani became Chief of Army Staff.  

2007 presidential elections 

In a March 2007 interview, Musharraf said that he intended to 

stay in office for another five years.  

A nine-member panel of Supreme Court judges deliberated on 

six petitions (including Jamaat-e-Islami's, Pakistan's largest 

Islamic group) for disqualification of Musharraf as a 
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presidential candidate. Bhutto stated that her party may join 

other opposition groups, including Sharif's. On 28 September 

2007, in a 6–3 vote, Judge Rana Bhagwandas's court removed 

obstacles to Musharraf's election bid.  

2007 state of emergency 

On 3 November 2007 Musharraf declared emergency rule 

across Pakistan. He suspended the Constitution, imposed a 

state of emergency, and fired the Chief Justice of the Supreme 

Court again. In Islamabad, troops entered the Supreme Court 

building, arrested the judges and kept them detained in their 

homes. Independent and international television channels went 

off air. Public protests were mounted against Musharraf.  

2008 general elections 

General elections were held on 18 February 2008, in which the 

Pakistan Peoples Party (PPP) polled the highest votes and won 

the most seats. On 23 March 2008, President Musharraf said 

an "era of democracy" had begun in Pakistan and that he had 

put the country "on the track of development and progress". On 

22 March, the PPP named former parliament speaker Syed 

Yousaf Raza Gillani as its candidate for the country's next 

prime minister, to lead a coalition government united against 

him.  

Impeachment movement 

On 7 August 2008, the Pakistan Peoples Party and the 

Pakistan Muslim League (N) agreed to force Musharraf to step 

down and begin his impeachment. Asif Ali Zardari and Nawaz 
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Sharif announced sending a formal request or joint charge 

sheet that he step down, and impeach him through 

parliamentary process upon refusal. Musharraf refused to step 

down. A charge-sheet had been drafted and was to be 

presented to parliament. It included Mr. Musharraf's first 

seizure of power in 1999—at the expense of Nawaz Sharif, the 

PML(N)'s leader, whom Mr. Musharraf imprisoned and exiled—

and his second in November 2007, when he declared an 

emergency as a means to get re-elected as president. The 

charge-sheet also listed some of Mr. Musharraf's contributions 

to the "war on terror."  

Musharraf delayed his departure for the Beijing Olympics, by a 

day. On 11 August, the government summoned the national 

assembly.  

Exile 

On 18 August 2008, Musharraf announced his resignation. On 

the following day, he defended his nine-year rule in an hour-

long televised speech. However, public opinion was largely 

against him by this time. A poll conducted a day after his 

resignation showed that 63% Pakistanis welcomed Musharraf's 

decision to step down while only 15% were unhappy with it. On 

23 November 2008 he left for exile in London where he arrived 

the following day.  

Academia and lectureship 

After his resignation, Musharraf went to perform a holy 

pilgrimage to Mecca. He then went on a speaking and 

lectureship tour through the Middle East, Europe, and United 
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States. Chicago-based Embark LLC was one of the 

international public-relations firms trying to land Musharraf as 

a highly paid keynote speaker. According to Embark President 

David B. Wheeler, the speaking fee for Musharraf would be 

$150,000–200,000 for a day plus jet and other V.I.P. 

arrangements on the ground. In 2011, he also lectured at the 

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace on politics and 

racism where he also authored and published a paper with 

George Perkvich.  

Party creation 

Musharraf launched his own political party, the All Pakistan 

Muslim League, in June 2010.  

Legal threats and actions 

The PML-N has tried to get Pervez Musharraf to stand trial in 

an article 6 trial for treason in relation to the emergency on 3 

November 2007. The Prime Minister of Pakistan Yousaf Raza 

Gilani has said a consensus resolution is required in national 

assembly for an article 6 trial of Pervez Musharraf"I have no 

love lost for Musharraf ... if parliament decides to try him, I 

will be with parliament. Article 6 cannot be applied to one 

individual ... those who supported him are today in my cabinet 

and some of them have also joined the PML-N ... the MMA, the 

MQM and the PML-Q supported him ... this is why I have said 

that it is not doable," said the Prime Minister while informally 

talking to editors and also replying to questions by journalists 

at an Iftar-dinner he had hosted for them. Although the 

constitution of Pakistan, Article 232 and Article 236, provides 

for emergencies, and on 15 February 2008, the interim 
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Pakistan Supreme Court attempted to validated the 

Proclamation of Emergency on 3 November 2007, the 

Provisional Constitution Order No 1 of 2007 and the Oath of 

Office (Judges) Order, 2007, after the Supreme Court judges 

were restored to the bench, on 31 July 2009, they ruled that 

Musharraf had violated the constitution when he declared 

emergency rule in 2007.  

Saudi Arabia exerted its influence to attempt to prevent 

treason charges, under Article 6 of the constitution, from being 

brought against Musharraf, citing existing agreements between 

the states, as well as pressuring Sharif directly. As it turned 

out, it was not Sharif's decision to make.  

Abbottabad's district and sessions judge in a missing person's 

case passed judgment asking the authorities to declare Pervez 

Musharraf a proclaimed offender. On 11 February 2011 the 

Anti Terrorism Court, issued an arrest warrant for Musharraf 

and charged him with conspiracy to commit murder of Benazir 

Bhutto. On 8 March 2011, the Sindh High Court registered 

treason charges against him.  

Views 

Pakistani police commandos 

Regarding the Lahore attack on Sri Lankan players, Musharraf 

criticized the police commandos' inability to kill any of the 

gunmen, saying "If this was the elite force I would expect them 

to have shot down those people who attacked them, the 

reaction, their training should be on a level that if anyone 
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shoots toward the company they are guarding, in less than 

three seconds they should shoot the man down."  

Blasphemy laws 

Regarding the blasphemy laws, Musharraf said that Pakistan is 

sensitive to religious issues and that the blasphemy law should 

stay.  

Return to Pakistan 

Since the start of 2011, news had circulated that Musharraf 

would return to Pakistan before the 2013 general election. He 

himself vowed this in several interviews. 

On Piers Morgan Tonight, Musharraf announced his plans to 

return to Pakistan on 23 March 2012 in order to seek the 

Presidency in 2013. The Taliban and Talal Bugti threatened to 

kill him should he return. On 24 March 2013, after a four-year 

self-imposed exile, he returned to Pakistan. He landed at 

Jinnah International Airport, Karachi, via a chartered Emirates 

flight with Pakistani journalists and foreign news 

correspondents. Hundreds of his supporters and workers of 

APML greeted Musharraf upon his arrival at Karachi airport, 

and he delivered a short public speech.  

Electoral disqualification 

On 16 April 2013, three weeks after he returned to Pakistan, 

an electoral tribunal in Chitral declared Musharraf disqualified 

from contesting elections, effectively quashing his political 

ambitions (several other constituencies had previously rejected 
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Musharraf's nominations). A spokesperson for Musharraf's 

party said the ruling was "biased" and they would appeal the 

decision.  

Jail, house arrest and bail 

Two days later, on 18 April 2013, the Islamabad High Court 

ordered the arrest of Musharraf on charges relating to the 

2007 arrests of judges. Musharraf had technically been on bail 

since his return to the country, and the court now declared his 

bail ended. Musharraf escaped from court with the aid of his 

security personnel, and went to his farm-house mansion. The 

following day, 

Musharraf was placed under house arrest but was later 

transferred to police headquarters in Islamabad. Musharraf 

characterized his arrest as "politically motivated" and his legal 

team has declared their intention to fight the charges in the 

Supreme Court. 

Further to the charges of this arrest, the Senate also passed a 

resolution petitioning that Musharraf be charged with high 

treason in relation to the events of 2007.  

On Friday, 26 April 2013, a week after one court had voided 

his bail and caused his arrest in the "arrest of judges" case, 

another court ordered house arrest for Musharraf in 

connection with the death of Benazir Bhutto. On 20 May, a 

Pakistani court granted bail to Musharraf. On 12 June 2014 

Sindh High Court allowed him to travel to seek medical 

attention abroad.  
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Fourth assassination attempt 

On 03 April 2014, Musharraf escaped the fourth assassination 

attempt, resulting in an injury of a woman, acording to 

Pakistani news.  

Judicial hearings and return to exile 

On 25 June 2013, Musharraf was named as prime suspect in 

two separate cases. The first case was subverting and 

suspending the constitution, and the second was a Federal 

Investigation Agency probe into the conspiracy to assassinate 

Bhutto. Musharraf was indicted on 20 August 2013 for 

Bhutto's assassination in 2007. On 2 September 2013, a first 

information report (FIR) was registered against him for his role 

in the Lal Masjid Operation in 2007. The FIR was lodged after 

the son of slain hard line cleric Abdul Rahid Ghazi (who was 

killed during the operation) asked authorities to bring charges 

against Musharraf.  

On 18 March 2016, Musharraf's name was removed from the 

Exit Control List and he was allowed to travel abroad, citing 

medical treatment. He currently lives in Dubai in self-imposed 

exile. 

Musharraf vowed to return to Pakistan, but has not done so. It 

was first disclosed in October 2018 that Musharraf suffers 

from amyloidosis, a rare and serious illness for which he has 

undergone treatment in hospitals in London and Dubai; an 

official with Musharraf's political party said that Musharraf 

would return to Pakistan after he made a full recovery.  
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In 2017, Musharraf appeared as a political analyst on his 

weekly television show Sab Se Pehle Pakistan with President 

Musharraf, hosted by BOL News.  

On 31 August 2017, the anti-terrorism court in Rawalpindi 

declared him an "absconder" in Bhutto's murder case. The 

court also ordered that his property and bank account in 

Pakistan be seized.  

Verdict 

On 17 December 2019, a special court declared him a traitor 

and sentenced him in absentia to death for abrogating and 

suspending the constitution in November 2007. The three-

member panel of the special court which issued the order was 

spearheaded by Chief Justice of the Peshawar High Court 

Waqar Ahmed Seth. He is also the first Pakistani Army General 

to be sentenced to death. Analysts did not expect Musharraf to 

face the sentence given his illness and the fact that Dubai has 

no extradition treaty with Pakistan; the verdict was also viewed 

as largely symbolic given that Musharraf retains support 

within the current Pakistani government and military.  

Musharraf challenged the verdict, and on 13 January 2020, the 

Lahore High Court annulled the death sentence against 

Musharraf, ruling that the special court that held the trial was 

unconstitutional. The unanimous verdict was delivered by a 

three-member bench of the Lahore High Court, consisting of 

Justice Sayyed Muhammad Mazahar Ali Akbar Naqvi, Justice 

Muhammad Ameer Bhatti, and Justice Chaudhry Masood 

Jahangir. The court ruled that the prosecution of Musharraf 

was politically motivated and that the crimes of high treason 
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and subverting the Constitution were "a joint offense" that 

"cannot be undertaken by a single person."  

Personal life 

Musharraf is the second son of his parents and has two 

brothers—Javed and Naved. Javed retired as a high-level 

official in Pakistan's civil service. Naved is an anesthesiologist 

who has lived in Chicago since completing his residency 

training at Loyola University Medical Center in 1979.  

Musharraf married Sehba, who is from Karachi, on 28 

December 1968. They have a daughter, Ayla, an architect 

married to film director Asim Raza, and a son, Bilal. He also 

has close family ties to the prominent Kheshgi family.  

Musharraf published his autobiography—In the Line of Fire: A 

Memoir—in 2006.  

First Vajpayee ministry 

Atal Bihari Vajpayee was sworn in as Prime Minister of India 

for first time on 16 May 1996.  

BJP was well short of majority and looking for allies, but 

Vajpayee resigned after just 16 days since he could not muster 

enough support. The ministry was kept small because its fate 

was uncertain when swearing-in took place.  
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Pokhran-II 

The Pokhran-II tests were a series of five nuclear bomb test 

explosions conducted by India at the Indian Army's Pokhran 

Test Range in May 1998. It was the second instance of nuclear 

testing conducted by India; the first test, code-named Smiling 

Buddha, was conducted in May 1974.  

The tests achieved their main objective of giving India the 

capability to build fission and thermonuclear weapons with 

yields up to 200 kilotons. 

The then-Chairman of the Indian Atomic Energy Commission 

described each one of the explosions of Pokhran-II to be 

"equivalent to several tests carried out by other nuclear 

weapon states over decades". Subsequently, India established 

computer simulation capability to predict the yields of nuclear 

explosives whose designs are related to the designs of 

explosives used in this test.  

Pokhran-II consisted of five detonations, the first of which was 

a fusion bomb while the remaining four were fission bombs. 

The tests were initiated on 11 May 1998, under the assigned 

code name Operation Shakti, with the detonation of one fusion 

and two fission bombs. On 13 May 1998, two additional fission 

devices were detonated, and the Indian government led by 

Prime Minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee shortly convened a press 

conference to declare India as a full-fledged nuclear state. The 

tests resulted in a variety of sanctions against India by a 

number of major states, including Japan and the United 

States.  
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Many names have been assigned to these tests; originally these 

were collectively called Operation Shakti–98, and the five 

nuclear bombs were designated Shakti-I through to Shakti-V. 

More recently, the operation as a whole has come to be known 

as Pokhran II, and the 1974 explosion as Pokhran-I.  

India's nuclear bomb project 

Efforts towards building the nuclear bomb, infrastructure, and 

research on related technologies have been undertaken by 

India since World War II. Origins of India's nuclear program 

date back to 1944 when nuclear physicist Homi Bhabha began 

persuading the Indian Congress towards the harnessing of 

nuclear energy— a year later he established the Tata Institute 

of Fundamental Research (TIFR).  

In 1950s, the preliminary studies were carried out at the BARC 

and plans were developed to produce plutonium and other 

bomb components. In 1962, India and China engaged in the 

disputed northern front, and was further intimidated with a 

Chinese nuclear test in 1964. Direction towards militarisation 

of the nuclear program slowed down when Vikram Sarabhai 

became its head and Lal Bahadur Shastri showed little interest 

after becoming the Prime Minister in that year.  

After Indira Gandhi became Prime Minister in 1966, the 

nuclear program was consolidated when physicist Raja 

Ramanna joined the efforts. Another nuclear test by China 

eventually led to India's decision to build nuclear weapons in 

1967 and conduct its first nuclear test, Smiling Buddha, in 

1974.  
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Post-Smiling Buddha 

Responding to Smiling Buddha, the Nuclear Suppliers Group 

severely affected India's nuclear program. The world's major 

nuclear powers imposed technological embargo on India and 

Pakistan, which was on its own technological race to match 

India's achievement. The nuclear program struggled for years 

to gain credibility and its progress was crippled by the lack of 

indigenous resources and dependence on imported technology 

and technical assistance. Prime Minister Indira Gandhi 

declared to the IAEA that India's nuclear program was not for 

military purposes, despite authorising preliminary work on the 

hydrogen bomb design.  

In the aftermath of the state emergency in 1975 that resulted 

in the collapse of the Prime Minister Indira Gandhi's 

government, the nuclear program was left in a vacuum, lacking 

political leadership and even basic management. Work on the 

hydrogen bomb design continued under M. Srinivasan, a 

mechanical engineer, but progress was slow.  

The nuclear program received little attention from Prime 

Minister Morarji Desai who was renowned for his peace 

advocacy. In 1978, Prime Minister Desai transferred physicist 

Ramanna to Indian MoD, and his government once again 

accelerated India's nuclear program.  

Shortly thereafter, the world discovered the Pakistan's 

clandestine atomic bomb program. Contrary to India's nuclear 

program, Pakistan's atomic bomb program was akin to United 

States Manhattan Project, in that it was under military 

oversight with civilian scientists in charge of the scientific 
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aspects of the program. The Pakistan's secretive atomic bomb 

program was well funded and organised by China; India 

realised that Pakistan was very likely to succeed in its project 

in matter of two years.  

In 1980, the general elections marked the return of Indira 

Gandhi and the nuclear program began to gain momentum 

under Ramanna in 1981. Requests for additional nuclear tests 

continued to be denied by the government after Prime Minister 

Indira Gandhi saw Pakistan begin engaging in brinkmanship, 

though the nuclear program continued to advance. Work 

towards the hydrogen bomb, as well as the launch of the 

missile programme, began under Dr. Abdul Kalam, who was 

then an aerospace engineer.  

Political momentum: 1988–1998 

In 1989, the general elections witnessed the Janata Dal party 

led by V.P. Singh, forming the government. Prime Minister V.P. 

Singh downplayed the relations with the Prime Minister 

Benazir Bhutto whose Pakistan Peoples Party (PPP) won the 

general elections in 1988. Foreign relations between India and 

Pakistan severely worsened when India accused Pakistan of 

supporting the Insurgency in Jammu and Kashmir. During this 

time, the Indian Missile Program succeeded in the development 

of the Prithvi missiles.  

Successive governments in India decided to observe this 

temporary moratorium for fear of inviting international 

criticism. The Indian public had supported the nuclear tests 

which ultimately led Prime Minister Narasimha Rao deciding to 

conduct further tests in 1995. Plans were halted after 
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American spy satellites picked up signs of preparations for 

nuclear testing at Pokhran Test Range in Rajasthan. President 

Bill Clinton and his administration exerted enormous pressure 

on Prime Minister Narasimha Rao to stop the preparations. 

Responding to India, Prime Minister Benazir Bhutto issued 

harsh criticism towards India on Pakistan's news channels; 

thus putting stress on the relations between two countries.  

Diplomatic tensions escalated between India and Pakistan 

when Prime Minister Benazir Bhutto raised the Kashmir issue 

at the United Nations in 1995. In a speech delivered by then-

Speaker of the National Assembly of Pakistan, Yousaf Raza 

Gillani, stressed the "Kashmir problem" as a continuing threat 

to peace and security in the region. The Indian delegation 

headed by Atal Bihari Vajpayee at the United Nations, 

reiterated that the "UN resolutions only call upon Pakistan— 

the occupying force to vacate the "Jammu and Kashmir Area."  

1998 Indian general elections 

The BJP, came to power in 1998 general elections with an 

exclusive public mandate. BJP's political might had been 

growing steadily in strength over the past decade over several 

issues.  

In Pakistan, the similar conservative force, the PML(N), was 

also in power with an exclusive mandate led by Prime Minister 

Nawaz Sharif who defeated the leftist PPP led by Benazir 

Bhutto in the general elections held in 1997. During the BJP 

campaign, Atal Bihari Vajpayee indulged in grandstanding— 

such as when he declared on 25 February that his government 

would "take back that part of Kashmir that is under Pakistan's 
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control." Before this declaration, the BJP platform had clear 

intentions to "exercise the option to induct nuclear weapons" 

and "India should become an openly nuclear power to garner 

the respect on the world stage that India deserved." By 18 

March 1998, Vajpayee publicly began lobbying for nuclear 

testing and declared that "there is no compromise on national 

security; all options including the nuclear options will be 

exercised to protect security and sovereignty."  

Consultation began between Prime Minister Vajpayee, Dr.Abdul 

Kalam, R. Chidambaram and officials of the Indian DAE on 

nuclear options. Chidambaram briefed Prime Minister Vajpayee 

extensively on the nuclear program; Abdul Kalam presented the 

status of the missile program. On 28 March 1998, Prime 

Minister Vajpayee asked the scientists to make preparations in 

the shortest time possible, and preparations were hastily 

made.  

Pakistan, at a Conference on Disarmament, said it would 

offered a peace agreement with India for "an equal and mutual 

restraint in conventional, missile and nuclear fields." 

Pakistan's equation was later reemphasised on 6 April and the 

momentum in India for nuclear tests began to build up which 

strengthened Vajpayee's position to order the tests.  

Preparations for the test 

Unlike Pakistan's weapon–testing laboratories, there was very 

little that India could do to hide its activity at Pokhran. Unlike 

the high-altitude granite mountains in Pakistan, the bushes 

are sparse and the dunes in the Rajasthan Desert don't provide 

much cover from probing satellites. The Indian Intelligence 
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Agency had been aware of United States spy satellites and the 

CIA had been detecting Indian test preparations since 1995. 

Therefore, the tests required complete secrecy in India and 

also needed to avoid detection by other countries. The 58th 

Engineer Regiment of the Indian Army Corps of Engineers was 

commissioned to prepare the test sites to avoid detection by 

the United States spy satellites. The 58th Engineer's 

commander Colonel Gopal Kaushik supervised the test 

preparations and ordered his "staff officers take all measures 

to ensure total secrecy."  

Extensive planning was done by a small group of scientists, 

senior military officers and senior politicians to ensure that 

the test preparations would remain secret, and even senior 

members of the Indian government didn't know what was going 

on. 

The chief scientific adviser and the Director of Defence 

Research and Development Organisation (DRDO), Dr. Abdul 

Kalam, and Dr. R. Chidambaram, the Director of the 

Department of Atomic Energy (DAE), were the chief 

coordinators of this test planning. The scientists and engineers 

of the Bhabha Atomic Research Centre (BARC), the Atomic 

Minerals Directorate for Exploration and Research (AMDER), 

and the Defence Research and Development Organisation 

(DRDO) were involved in the nuclear weapon assembly, layout, 

detonation and data collection. 

A small group of senior scientists were involved in the 

detonation process. All scientists were required to wear army 

uniforms to preserve the secrecy of the tests. Since 1995, the 

58th Engineer Regiment had learned how to avoid satellite 
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detection. Work was mostly done during night, and equipment 

was returned to the original place to give the impression that it 

was never moved.  

Bomb shafts were dug under camouflage netting and the dug-

out sand was shaped like dunes. Cables for sensors were 

covered with sand and concealed using native vegetation. 

Scientists would not depart for Pokhran in groups of two or 

three. They travelled to destinations other than Pokhran under 

pseudonyms, and were then transported by the army. 

Technical staff at the test range wore military uniforms, to 

prevent detection in satellite images.  

Nuclear weapon designs and development 

Development and test teams 

The main technical personnel involved in the operation were:  

• Project Chief Coordinators :  

• Dr. A.P.J. Abdul Kalam (later, President of India), 

Scientific Adviser to the prime minister and Head of 

the DRDO. 

• Dr. R. Chidambaram, Chairman of the Atomic Energy 

Commission and the Department of Atomic energy. 

• Defence Research & Development Organization 

(DRDO) :  

• Dr. K. Santhanam; Director, Test Site Preparations. 

• Atomic Minerals Directorate for Exploration and 

Research :  

• Dr. G. R. Dikshitulu; Senior Research Scientist 

B.S.O.I Group, Nuclear Materials Acquisition. 
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• Bhabha Atomic Research Centre (BARC) :  

• Dr. Anil Kakodkar, Director of BARC. 

• Dr. Satinder Kumar Sikka, Director; Thermonuclear 

Weapon Development. 

• Dr. M. S. Ramakumar, Director of Nuclear Fuel and 

Automation Manufacturing Group; Director, Nuclear 

Component Manufacture. 

• Dr. D.D. Sood, Director of Radiochemistry and 

Isotope Group; Director, Nuclear Materials 

Acquisition. 

• Dr. S.K. Gupta, Solid State Physics and Spectroscopy 

Group; Director, Device Design & Assessment. 

• Dr. G. Govindraj, Associate Director of Electronic 

and Instrumentation Group; Director, Field 

Instrumentation. 

Movement and logistics 

Three laboratories of the DRDO were involved in designing, 

testing and producing components for the bombs, including the 

advanced detonators, the implosion and high-voltage trigger 

systems. 

These were also responsible for weaponising, systems 

engineering, aerodynamics, safety interlocks and flight trials. 

The bombs were transported in four Indian Army trucks under 

the command of Colonel Umang Kapur; all devices from BARC 

were relocated at 3 am on 1 May 1998. From the Chhatrapati 

Shivaji International Airport, the bombs were flown in an 

Indian Air Force's AN-32 commanded by Squadron Leader 

Mahendra Prasad Sharma plane to Jaisalmer. They were 

transported to Pokhran in an army convoy of four trucks, and 
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this required three trips. The devices were delivered to the 

device preparation building, which was designated as 'Prayer 

Hall'.  

The test sites was organised into two government groups and 

were fired separately, with all devices in a group fired at the 

same time. The first group consisted of the thermonuclear 

device (Shakti I), the fission device (Shakti II), and a sub-

kiloton device (Shakti III). The second group consisted of the 

remaining two sub-kiloton devices Shakti IV and V. It was 

decided that the first group would be tested on 11 May and the 

second group on 13 May. The thermonuclear device was placed 

in a shaft code named 'White House', which was over 200 

metres (660 ft) deep, the fission bomb was placed in a 150 

metres (490 ft) deep shaft code named 'Taj Mahal', and the first 

sub-kiloton device in 'Kumbhkaran'. The first three devices 

were placed in their respective shafts on 10 May, and the first 

device to be placed was the sub-kiloton device in the 

'Kumbhkaran' shaft, which was sealed by the army engineers 

by 8:30 pm. The thermonuclear device was lowered and sealed 

into the 'White House' shaft by 4 am, and the fission device 

being placed in the 'Taj Mahal' shaft was sealed at 7:30 am, 

which was 90 minutes before the planned test time. The shafts 

were L-shaped, with a horizontal chamber for the test device.  

The timing of the tests depended on the local weather 

conditions, with the wind being the critical factor. The tests 

were underground, but due to a number of shaft seal failures 

that had occurred during tests conducted by the United States, 

the Soviet Union, and the United Kingdom, the sealing of the 

shaft could not be guaranteed to be leak-proof. By early 

afternoon, the winds had died down and the test sequence was 
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initiated. Dr. K. Santhanam of the DRDO, in charge of the test 

site preparations, gave the two keys that activated the test 

countdown to Dr. M. Vasudev, the range safety officer, who 

was responsible for verifying that all test indicators were 

normal. After checking the indicators, Vasudev handed one key 

each to a representative of BARC and the DRDO, who unlocked 

the countdown system together. At 3:45 pm the three devices 

were detonated.  

Specifications and detonation 

Five nuclear devices were tested during Operation Shakti. Four 

of the devices were weapon-grade plutonium and one 

Thorium/U-233. They were:  

• Shakti I: A thermonuclear device yielding 56 kt, but 

designed for up to 200 kt. The yield of this device 

was deliberately kept low in order to avoid civilian 

damage and to eliminate the possibility of a 

radioactive leak. 

• Shakti II: A plutonium implosion design yielding 

15 kt and intended as a warhead that could be 

delivered by bomber or missile. It was an 

improvement of the device detonated in the 1974 

Smiling Buddha (Pokhran-I) test of 1974, developed 

using simulations on the PARAM supercomputer. 

• Shakti III: An experimental linear implosion design 

that used "non-weapon grade" plutonium, but which 

likely omitted the material required for fusion, 

yielding 0.3 kt. 

• Shakti IV: A 0.5 kt experimental device. 
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• Shakti V: A 0.2 kt Thorium/U-233 experimental 

device. 

An additional, sixth device (Shakti VI) is suspected to have 

been present but not detonated.  

At 3:43 pm IST; three nuclear bombs (specifically, the Shakti I, 

II and III) were detonated simultaneously, as measured by 

international seismic monitors. On 13 May, at 12.21 p.m. IST 

(6:51 UTC), two sub-kiloton devices (Shakti IV and V) were 

detonated. Due to their very low yield, these explosions were 

not detected by any seismic station. On 13 May 1998, India 

declared the series of tests to be over after this.  

Announcement 

Having tested weaponized nuclear warheads in the Pokhran-II 

series, India became the sixth country to join the nuclear club. 

Shortly after the tests, a press meet was convened at the Prime 

Minister's residence in New Delhi. Prime Minister Atal Bihari 

Vajpayee appeared before the press corps and made the 

following short statement:  

Today, at 15:45 hours, India conducted three underground 

nuclear tests in the Pokhran range. The tests conducted today 

were with a fission device, a low yield device and a 

thermonuclear device. The measured yields are in line with 

expected values. Measurements have also confirmed that there 

was no release of radioactivity into the atmosphere. These were 

contained explosions like the experiment conducted in May 

1974. I warmly congratulate the scientists and engineers who 

have carried out these successful tests. 
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Reactions to tests 

Domestic reactions 

News of the tests were greeted with jubilation and large-scale 

approval by society in India. The Bombay Stock Exchange 

registered significant gains. 

Newspapers and television channels praised the government for 

its bold decision; editorials were full of praise for the country's 

leadership and advocated the development of an operational 

nuclear arsenal for the country's armed forces. 

The Indian opposition, led by Congress Party criticised the 

Vajpayee administration for carrying out the series of nuclear 

tests. 

The Congress Party spokesperson Salman Khursheed, accused 

the BJP of trying to use the tests for political ends rather than 

to enhance the country's national security.  

By the time India had conducted tests, the country had a total 

of $44bn in loans in 1998, from the IMF and the World Bank. 

The industrial sectors of the Indian economy, such as the 

chemicals industry, were likely to be hurt by sanctions. The 

Western consortium companies, which had invested heavily in 

India, especially in construction, computing and telecoms, 

were generally the ones who were harmed by the sanctions. In 

1998, Indian government announced that it had already 

allowed for some economic response and was willing to take 

the consequences.  
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International reactions 

Canada, Japan, and other countries 

Strong criticism was drawn from Canada on India's actions and 

its High Commissioner. Sanctions were also imposed by Japan 

on India and consisted of freezing all new loans and grants 

except for humanitarian aid to India.  

Some other nations also imposed sanctions on India, primarily 

in the form of suspension of foreign aid to India and 

government-to-government credit lines. However, the United 

Kingdom, France, and Russia refrained from condemning India.  

China 

On 12 May the Chinese Foreign Ministry stated: "The Chinese 

government is seriously concerned about the nuclear tests 

conducted by India," and that the tests "run counter to the 

current international trend and are not conducive to peace and 

stability in South Asia.". 

The next day the Chinese Foreign Ministry issued the 

statement clearly stating that "it is shocked and strongly 

condemned" the Indian nuclear tests and called for the 

international community to "adopt a unified stand and strongly 

demand that India immediate stop development of nuclear 

weapons". China further rejected India's stated rationale of 

needing nuclear capabilities to counter a Chinese threat as 

"totally unreasonable". In a meeting with Masayoshi Takemura 

of Democratic Party of Japan, Foreign Minister of the People's 

Republic of China Qian Qichen was quoted as saying that 
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India's nuclear tests were a "serious matter," particularly 

because they were conducted in light of the fact that more than 

140 countries have signed the Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty. 

"It is even more unacceptable that India claims to have 

conducted the tests to counter what it called a "China threat". 

On 24 November 1998, the Chinese Embassy, New Delhi issued 

a formal statement:  

(sic).... But regrettably, India conducted nuclear tests last 

May, which has run against the contemporary historical trend 

and seriously affected peace and stability in South Asia. 

Pakistan also conducted nuclear tests later on. India's nuclear 

tests have not only led to the escalation of tensions between 

India and Pakistan and provocation of nuclear arms races in 

South Asia, but also dealt a heavy blow to international 

nuclear disarmament and the global nonproliferation regime. It 

is only natural that India's nuclear tests have met with 

extensive condemnation and aroused serious concern from the 

international community. 

• —  Chinese Embassy, New Delhi 

Pakistan 

The most vehement and strong reaction to India's nuclear 

explosion was from a neighbouring country, Pakistan. Great ire 

was raised in Pakistan, which issued a severe statement 

blaming India for instigating a nuclear arms race in the region. 

Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif vowed that his country would give 

a suitable reply to India. 

The day after the first tests, Foreign Minister Gohar Ayub Khan 

indicated that Pakistan was ready to conduct a nuclear test. 
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He stated: "Pakistan is prepared to match India, we have the 

capability.... We in Pakistan will maintain a balance with India 

in all fields", he said in an interview. "We are in a headlong 

arms race on the subcontinent."  

On 13 May 1998, Pakistan bitterly condemned the tests, and 

Foreign Minister Gohar Ayub was quoted as saying that Indian 

leadership seemed to "have gone berserk [sic] and was acting 

in a totally unrestrained way." Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif 

was much more subdued, maintaining ambiguity about 

whether a test would be conducted in response: "We are 

watching the situation and we will take appropriate action with 

regard to our security", he said. Sharif sought to mobilise the 

entire Islamic world in support of Pakistan and criticised India 

for nuclear proliferation.  

Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif had been under intense pressure 

regarding the nuclear tests by President Bill Clinton and 

Opposition leader Benazir Bhutto at home. Initially surprising 

the world, Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif authorised a nuclear 

testing program and the Pakistan Atomic Energy Commission 

(PAEC) carried out nuclear testing under the codename Chagai-

I on 28 May 1998 and Chagai-II on 30 May 1998. These six 

underground nuclear tests at the Chagai and Kharan test site 

were conducted fifteen days after India's last test. The total 

yield of the tests was reported to be 40 kt (see codename: 

Chagai-I).  

Pakistan's subsequent tests invited similar condemnation from 

the United States. American President Bill Clinton was quoted 

as saying "Two wrongs don't make a right", criticising 

Pakistan's tests as reactionary to India's Pokhran-II. The 
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United States and Japan reacted by imposing economic 

sanctions on Pakistan. According to the Pakistan's science 

community, the Indian nuclear tests gave an opportunity to 

Pakistan to conduct nuclear tests after 14 years of conducting 

only cold tests (See: Kirana-I).  

Pakistan's leading nuclear physicist, Pervez Hoodbhoy, held 

India responsible for Pakistan's nuclear test experiments in 

Chagai.  

United States 

The United States issued a strong statement condemning India 

and promised that sanctions would follow. The American 

intelligence community was embarrassed as there had been "a 

serious intelligence failure of the decade" in detecting the 

preparations for the test.  

In keeping with its preferred approach to foreign policy in 

recent decades, and in compliance with the 1994 anti-

proliferation law, the United States imposed economic 

sanctions on India. The sanctions on India consisted of cutting 

off all assistance to India except humanitarian aid, banning 

the export of certain defence material and technologies, ending 

American credit and credit guarantees to India, and requiring 

the US to oppose lending by international financial institutions 

to India.  

From 1998–1999, the United States held series of bilateral 

talks with India over the issue of India becoming party of the 

CTBT and NPT. In addition, the United States also made an 

unsuccessful attempt of holding talks regarding the rollback of 

India's nuclear program. India took a firm stand against the 
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CTBT and refusing to be signatory party of it despite under 

pressure by the US President Bill Clinton, and noted the treaty 

as it was not consistent with India's national security interest.  

UN condemnation 

The reactions from abroad started immediately after the tests 

were advertised. On 6 June, the UN Security Council adopted 

Resolution 1172, condemning the Indian and the Pakistani 

tests. China issued a vociferous condemnation calling upon the 

international community to exert pressure on India to sign the 

NPT and to eliminate its nuclear arsenal. With India joining the 

group of countries possessing nuclear weapons, a new strategic 

dimension had emerged in Asia, particularly in South Asia.  

Legacy 

The Indian government has officially declared 11 May as 

National Technology Day in India to commemorate the first of 

the five nuclear tests that were carried out on 11 May 1998.  

It was officially signed by then-Prime Minister Atal Bihari 

Vajpayee in 1998 and the day is celebrated by giving awards to 

various individuals and industries in the field of science and 

technology.  

Kargil War 

The Kargil War, also known as the Kargil conflict, was an 

armed conflict fought between India and Pakistan from May to 

July 1999 in the Kargil district of Kashmir and elsewhere along 

the Line of Control (LoC). In India, the conflict is also referred 
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to as Operation Vijay (Hindi: �वजय, l it .   'Victory'), which was the 

name of the Indian military operation to clear out the Kargil 

sector. The Indian Air Force's role in acting jointly with Indian 

Army ground troops during the war was aimed at flushing out 

regular and irregular troops of the Pakistan Army from vacated 

Indian positions along the LoC. This particular operation was 

given the codename Operation Safed Sagar (Hindi: ऑपरेशन सफेद 

सागर, l it .   'White Sea').  

The cause of the war was the infiltration of Pakistani troops—

disguised as Kashmiri militants—into positions on the Indian 

side of the LoC, which serves as the de facto border between 

the two states in Kashmir. During the initial stages of the war, 

Pakistan blamed the fighting entirely on independent Kashmiri 

insurgents, but documents left behind by casualties and later 

statements by Pakistan's Prime Minister and Chief of Army 

Staff showed the involvement of Pakistani paramilitary forces, 

led by General Ashraf Rashid. 

The Indian Army, later supported by the Indian Air Force, 

recaptured a majority of the positions on the Indian side of the 

LoC. Facing international diplomatic opposition, Pakistani 

forces withdrew from the remaining Indian positions along the 

LoC.  

The war is the most recent example of high-altitude warfare in 

mountainous terrain, and as such, posed significant logistical 

problems for the combating sides. It is also the sole instance of 

direct, conventional warfare between nuclear states (i.e., those 

possessing nuclear weapons). India had conducted its first 

successful test in 1974; Pakistan, which had been developing 
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its nuclear capability in secret since around the same time, 

conducted its first-known tests in 1998, just two weeks after a 

second series of tests by India.  

Location 

Before the Partition of India in 1947, Kargil was a tehsil of 

Ladakh, a sparsely populated region with diverse linguistic, 

ethnic and religious groups, living in isolated valleys separated 

by some of the world's highest mountains. The Indo-Pakistani 

War of 1947-1948 concluded with the Line of Control bisecting 

the Ladakh district, with the Skardu tehsil going to Pakistan 

(now part of Gilgit-Baltistan). After Pakistan's defeat in the 

Indo-Pakistani War of 1971, the two nations signed the Simla 

Agreement promising not to engage in armed conflict with 

respect to that boundary.  

The town of Kargil is located 205 km (127 mi) from Srinagar, 

facing the Northern Areas across the LOC. Like other areas in 

the Himalayas, Kargil has a continental climate. Summers are 

cool with frigid nights, while winters are long and chilly with 

temperatures often dropping to −48 °C (−54 °F).  

An Indian national highway (NH 1) connecting Srinagar to Leh 

cuts through Kargil. The area that witnessed the infiltration 

and fighting is a 160-kilometre (100 mi) long stretch of ridges 

overlooking this only road linking Srinagar and Leh. 

The military outposts on the ridges above the highway were 

generally around 5,000 m (16,000 ft) high, with a few as high 

as 5,485 m (17,995 ft). Apart from the district capital, Kargil, 

the populated areas near the front line in the conflict included 
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the Mushko Valley and the town of Drass, southwest of Kargil, 

as well as the Batalik sector and other areas, northeast of 

Kargil.  

Kargil was targeted partly because the terrain was conducive to 

the preemptive seizure of several unoccupied military 

positions. With tactically vital features and well-prepared 

defensive posts atop the peaks, a defender on the high ground 

would enjoy advantages akin to that of a fortress. Any attack 

to dislodge a defender from high ground in mountain warfare 

requires a far higher ratio of attackers to defenders, and the 

difficulties would be exacerbated by the high altitude and 

freezing temperatures.  

Kargil is just 173 km (107 mi) from the Pakistani-controlled 

town of Skardu, which was capable of providing logistical and 

artillery support to Pakistani combatants. A road between 

Kargil and Skardu exists, which was closed in 1949.  

Background 

After the Indo-Pakistani War of 1971, there had been a long 

period with relatively few direct armed conflicts involving the 

military forces of the two neighbours—notwithstanding the 

efforts of both nations to control the Siachen Glacier by 

establishing military outposts on the surrounding mountains 

ridges and the resulting military skirmishes in the 1980s. 

During the 1990s, however, escalating tensions and conflict 

due to separatist activities in Kashmir, some of which were 

supported by Pakistan, as well as the conducting of nuclear 

tests by both countries in 1998, led to an increasingly 

belligerent atmosphere. In an attempt to defuse the situation, 
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both countries signed the Lahore Declaration in February 

1999, promising to provide a peaceful and bilateral solution to 

the Kashmir conflict.  

During the winter of 1998–1999, some elements of the 

Pakistani Armed Forces were covertly training and sending 

Pakistani troops and paramilitary forces, some allegedly in the 

guise of mujahideen, into territory on the Indian side of the 

LOC. The infiltration was codenamed "Operation Badr"; its aim 

was to sever the link between Kashmir and Ladakh, and cause 

Indian forces to withdraw from the Siachen Glacier, thus 

forcing India to negotiate a settlement of the broader Kashmir 

dispute. Pakistan also believed that any tension in the region 

would internationalise the Kashmir issue, helping it to secure 

a speedy resolution. Yet another goal may have been to boost 

the morale of the decade-long rebellion in Jammu and Kashmir 

by taking a proactive role.  

Pakistani Lieutenant General Shahid Aziz, and then head of ISI 

analysis wing, has confirmed there were no mujahideen but 

only regular Pakistan Army soldiers who took part in the Kargil 

War. "There were no Mujahideen, only taped wireless messages, 

which fooled no one. Our soldiers were made to occupy barren 

ridges, with hand held weapons and ammunition", Lt Gen Aziz 

wrote in his article in The Nation daily in January 2013.  

Some writers have speculated that the operation's objective 

may also have been retaliation for India's Operation Meghdoot 

in 1984 that seized much of Siachen Glacier.  

According to India's then army chief Ved Prakash Malik, and 

many scholars, much of the background planning, including 

construction of logistical supply routes, had been undertaken 
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much earlier. On several occasions during the 1980s and 

1990s, the army had given Pakistani leaders (Zia ul Haq and 

Benazir Bhutto) similar proposals for infiltration into the 

Kargil region, but the plans had been shelved for fear of 

drawing the nations into all-out war.  

Some analysts believe that the blueprint of attack was 

reactivated soon after Pervez Musharraf was appointed chief of 

army staff in October 1998. After the war, Nawaz Sharif, Prime 

Minister of Pakistan during the Kargil conflict, claimed that he 

was unaware of the plans, and that he first learned about the 

situation when he received an urgent phone call from Atal 

Bihari Vajpayee, his counterpart in India. Sharif attributed the 

plan to Musharraf and "just two or three of his cronies", a view 

shared by some Pakistani writers who have stated that only 

four generals, including Musharraf, knew of the plan. 

Musharraf, however, asserted that Sharif had been briefed on 

the Kargil operation 15 days ahead of Vajpayee's journey to 

Lahore on 20 February.  

Occupation by Pakistan 

During February 1999, the Pakistan Army sent forces to 

occupy some posts on the Indian side of the LOC. Troops from 

the elite Special Services Group as well as four to seven 

battalions of the Northern Light Infantry (a paramilitary 

regiment not part of the regular Pakistani army at that time) 

covertly and overtly set up bases on 132 vantage points of the 

Indian-controlled region. According to some reports, these 

Pakistani forces were backed by Kashmiri guerrillas and 

Afghan mercenaries. According to General Ved Malik, the bulk 

of the infiltration occurred in April.  
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Pakistani intrusions took place in the heights of the lower 

Mushkoh Valley, along the Marpo La ridgeline in Dras, in 

Kaksar near Kargil, in the Batalik sector east of the Indus 

River, on the heights above of the Chorbat La sector where the 

LOC turns North and in the Turtuk sector south of the Siachen 

area.  

India discovers infiltration and mobilises 

Initially, these incursions were not detected for a number of 

reasons: Indian patrols were not sent into some of the areas 

infiltrated by the Pakistani forces and heavy artillery fire by 

Pakistan in some areas provided cover for the infiltrators. But 

by the second week of May, the ambushing of an Indian patrol 

team led by Capt Saurabh Kalia, who acted on a tip-off by a 

local shepherd in the Batalik sector, led to the exposure of the 

infiltration. Initially, with little knowledge of the nature or 

extent of the infiltration, the Indian troops in the area 

assumed that the infiltrators were jihadis and claimed that 

they would evict them within a few days. Subsequent discovery 

of infiltration elsewhere along the LOC, and the difference in 

tactics employed by the infiltrators, caused the Indian army to 

realise that the plan of attack was on a much bigger scale. The 

total area seized by the ingress is generally accepted to 

between 130 and 200 km (50 and 80 sq mi).  

The Government of India responded with Operation Vijay, a 

mobilisation of 200,000 Indian troops. However, because of the 

nature of the terrain, division and corps operations could not 

be mounted; subsequent fighting was conducted mostly at the 

brigade or battalion level. In effect, two divisions of the Indian 

Army, numbering 20,000, plus several thousand from the 
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Paramilitary forces of India and the air force were deployed in 

the conflict zone. The total number of Indian soldiers that were 

involved in the military operation on the Kargil-Drass sector 

was thus close to 30,000. 

The number of infiltrators, including those providing logistical 

backup, has been put at approximately 5,000 at the height of 

the conflict. This figure includes troops from Pakistan-

administered Kashmir who provided additional artillery 

support.  

The Indian Air Force launched Operation Safed Sagar in 

support of the mobilisation of Indian land forces on 26 May. 

The Indian Govt cleared limited use of Air Power only on 25 

May, for fear of undesirable escalation, with the fiat that IAF 

fighter jets were not to cross the LOC under any circumstance. 

This was the first time any air war was fought at such high 

altitudes globally, with targets at altitudes between 1,800 to 

5,500 metres (6,000 to 18,000 ft) above sea level. The rarified 

air at these altitudes affected ballistic trajectories of air to 

ground weapons, such as rockets, dumb and laser guided 

bombs. 

There was no opposition at all by the Pakistani Air Force, 

leaving the IAF free to carry out its attacks with impunity. The 

total air dominance of the IAF gave the aircrew enough time to 

modify aiming indices and firing techniques, increasing its 

effectiveness during the high altitude war. Poor weather 

conditions and range limitations intermittently affected bomb 

loads and the number of airstrips that could be used, except 

for the Mirage 2000 fleet, which commenced operations on 30 

May.  
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Naval action 

The Indian Navy also prepared to blockade the Pakistani ports 

(primarily the Karachi port) to cut off supply routes under 

Operation Talwar. The Indian Navy's western and eastern fleets 

joined in the North Arabian Sea and began aggressive patrols 

and threatened to cut Pakistan's sea trade. This exploited 

Pakistan's dependence on sea-based oil and trade flows. Later, 

then–Prime Minister of Pakistan Nawaz Sharif disclosed that 

Pakistan was left with just six days of fuel to sustain itself if a 

full-scale war had broken out.  

India attacks Pakistani positions 

• The terrain of Kashmir is mountainous and at high 

altitudes; even the best roads, such as National 

Highway 1 (India) (NH1) from Srinagar to Leh, are 

only two lanes. The rough terrain and narrow roads 

slowed down traffic, and the high altitude, which 

affected the ability of aircraft to carry loads, made 

control of NH 1 (the actual stretch of the highway 

which was under Pakistani fire) a priority for India. 

From their 130+ covertly occupied observation posts, 

the Pakistani forces had a clear line-of-sight to lay 

down indirect artillery fire on NH 1, inflicting heavy 

casualties on the Indians. This was a serious 

problem for the Indian Army as the highway was the 

main logistical and supply route. The Pakistani 

shelling of the arterial road posed the threat of Leh 

being cut off, though an alternative (and longer) road 

to Leh existed via Himachal Pradesh, the Leh–Manali 

Highway.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 1 

79 

 

The infiltrators, apart from being equipped with small arms 

and grenade launchers, were also armed with mortars, artillery 

and anti-aircraft guns. Many posts were also heavily mined, 

with India later stating to have recovered more than 8,000 

anti-personnel mines according to an ICBL report. Pakistan's 

reconnaissance was done through unmanned aerial vehicles 

and AN/TPQ-36 Firefinder radars supplied by the US. The 

initial Indian attacks were aimed at controlling the hills 

overlooking NH 1, with high priority being given to the 

stretches of the highway near the town of Kargil. The majority 

of posts along the LOC were adjacent to the highway, and 

therefore the recapture of nearly every infiltrated post 

increased both the territorial gains and the security of the 

highway. The protection of this route and the recapture of the 

forward posts were thus ongoing objectives throughout the 

war.  

The Indian Army's first priority was to recapture peaks that 

were in the immediate vicinity of NH 1. This resulted in Indian 

troops first targeting the Tiger Hill and Tololing complex in 

Dras, which dominated the Srinagar-Leh route. This was soon 

followed by the Batalik-Turtok sub-sector which provided 

access to Siachen Glacier. Some of the peaks that were of vital 

strategic importance to the Pakistani defensive troops were 

Point 4590 and Point 5353. 

While 4590 was the nearest point that had a view of NH 1, 

point 5353 was the highest feature in the Dras sector, allowing 

the Pakistani troops to observe NH 1. The recapture of Point 

4590 by Indian troops on 14 June was significant, 

notwithstanding the fact that it resulted in the Indian Army 

suffering the most casualties in a single battle during the 
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conflict. Although most of the posts in the vicinity of the 

highway were cleared by mid-June, some parts of the highway 

near Drass witnessed sporadic shelling until the end of the 

war.  

Once India regained control of the hills overlooking NH 1, the 

Indian Army turned to driving the invading force back across 

the LOC. The Battle of Tololing, amongst other assaults, slowly 

tilted the combat in India's favour. The Pakistani troops at 

Tololing were aided by Pakistani fighters from Kashmir. Some 

of the posts put up a stiff resistance, including Tiger Hill 

(Point 5140) that fell only later in the war. Indian troops found 

well-entrenched Pakistani soldiers at Tiger Hill, and both sides 

suffered heavy casualties. After a final assault on the peak in 

which ten Pakistani soldiers and five Indian soldiers were 

killed, Tiger Hill finally fell. A few of the assaults occurred atop 

hitherto unheard of peaks—most of them unnamed with only 

Point numbers to differentiate them—which witnessed fierce 

hand to hand combat.  

As the operation was fully underway, about 250 artillery guns 

were brought in to clear the infiltrators in the posts that were 

in the line-of-sight. The Bofors FH-77B field howitzer played a 

vital role, with Indian gunners making maximum use of the 

terrain. However, its success was limited elsewhere due to the 

lack of space and depth to deploy it.  

The Indian Air Force was tasked to act jointly with ground 

troops on 25 May. The code name assigned to their role was 

Operation Safed Sagar It was in this type of terrain that aerial 

attacks were used, initially with limited effectiveness. On 27 

May 1999, the IAF lost a MiG-27 strike aircraft piloted by Flt. 
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Lt. Nachiketa, which it attributed to an engine failure, and a 

MiG-21 fighter piloted by Sqn Ldr Ajay Ahuja which was shot 

down by the Pakistani army, both over Batalik sector.; initially 

Pakistan said it shot down both jets after they crossed into its 

territory. According to reports, Ahuja had bailed out of his 

stricken plane safely but was apparently killed by his captors 

as his body was returned riddled with bullet wounds. One 

Indian Mi-8 helicopter was also lost due to Stinger SAMs. 

French made Mirage 2000H of the IAF were tasked to drop 

laser-guided bombs to destroy well-entrenched positions of the 

Pakistani forces and flew its first sortie on 30 May. The effects 

of the pinpoint non-stop bombing by the Mirage-2000, by day 

and by night, became evident with almost immediate effect.  

In many vital points, neither artillery nor air power could 

dislodge the outposts manned by the Pakistani soldiers, who 

were out of visible range. 

The Indian Army mounted some direct frontal ground assaults 

which were slow and took a heavy toll given the steep ascent 

that had to be made on peaks as high as 5,500 metres 

(18,000 ft). Since any daylight attack would be suicidal, all the 

advances had to be made under the cover of darkness, 

escalating the risk of freezing. 

Accounting for the wind chill factor, the temperatures were 

often as low as −15 to −11 °C (5 to 12 °F) near the mountain 

tops. Based on military tactics, much of the costly frontal 

assaults by the Indians could have been avoided if the Indian 

Military had chosen to blockade the supply route of the 

opposing force, creating a siege. Such a move would have 

involved the Indian troops crossing the LOC as well as 
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initiating aerial attacks on Pakistani soil, however, a 

manoeuvre India was not willing to exercise due to the likely 

expansion of the theatre of war and reduced international 

support for its cause.  

Two months into the conflict, Indian troops had slowly retaken 

most of the ridges that were encroached upon by the 

infiltrators; according to the official count, an estimated 75–

80% of the intruded area and nearly all the high ground were 

back under Indian control.  

Withdrawal and final battles 

Following the outbreak of armed fighting, Pakistan sought 

American help in de-escalating the conflict. Bruce Riedel, who 

was then an aide to President Bill Clinton, reported that US 

intelligence had imaged Pakistani movements of nuclear 

weapons to forward deployments for fear of the Kargil 

hostilities escalating into a wider conflict. However, President 

Clinton refused to intervene until Pakistan had removed all 

forces from the Indian side of the LOC. Following the 

Washington accord of 4 July 1999, when Sharif agreed to 

withdraw Pakistani troops, most of the fighting came to a 

gradual halt, but some Pakistani forces remained in positions 

on the Indian side of the LOC. In addition, the United Jihad 

Council (an umbrella for extremist groups) rejected Pakistan's 

plan for a climb-down, instead deciding to fight on.  

The Indian army launched its final attacks in the last week of 

July in co-ordination with relentless attacks by the IAF, both 

by day and night, in their totally successful Operation Safed 

Sagar; as soon as the Drass subsector had been cleared of 
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Pakistani forces, the fighting ceased on 26 July. The day has 

since been marked as Kargil Vijay Diwas (Kargil Victory Day) in 

India. In the wake of its successive military defeats in Kargil, 

diplomatic isolation in the international arena, its precarious 

economic situation, and the mounting international pressure, 

the Pakistani establishment was compelled to negotiate a face 

saving withdrawal from the residual areas on the Indian side of 

the LoC, thereby restoring the sanctity of the LOC, as was 

established in July 1972 as per the Simla Agreement.  

World opinion 

Pakistan was heavily criticised by other countries for 

instigating the war, as its paramilitary forces and insurgents 

had crossed the LOC (Line of Control). Pakistan's primary 

diplomatic response, one of plausible deniability linking the 

incursion to what it officially termed as "Kashmiri freedom 

fighters", was in the end not successful. Veteran analysts 

argued that the battle was fought at heights where only 

seasoned troops could survive, so poorly equipped "freedom 

fighters" would neither have the ability nor the wherewithal to 

seize land and defend it. 

Moreover, while the army had initially denied the involvement 

of its troops in the intrusion, two soldiers were awarded the 

Nishan-E-Haider (Pakistan's highest military honour). Another 

90 soldiers were also given gallantry awards, most of them 

posthumously, confirming Pakistan's role in the episode. India 

also released taped phone conversations between the Army 

Chief and a senior Pakistani general where the latter is 

recorded saying: "the scruff of [the militants] necks is in our 

hands", although Pakistan dismissed it as a "total fabrication". 
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Concurrently, Pakistan made several contradicting statements, 

confirming its role in Kargil, when it defended the incursions 

saying that the LOC itself was disputed. Pakistan also 

attempted to internationalise the Kashmir issue, by linking the 

crisis in Kargil to the larger Kashmir conflict, but such a 

diplomatic stance found few backers on the world stage.  

As the Indian counter-attacks picked up momentum, Pakistani 

prime minister Nawaz Sharif flew to meet US President Bill 

Clinton on 4 July to obtain support from the United States. 

Clinton rebuked Sharif, however, and asked him to use his 

contacts to rein in the militants and withdraw Pakistani 

soldiers from Indian territory. Clinton would later reveal in his 

autobiography that "Sharif's moves were perplexing" since the 

Indian Prime Minister had travelled to Lahore to promote 

bilateral talks aimed at resolving the Kashmir problem and "by 

crossing the Line of Control, Pakistan had wrecked the 

[bilateral] talks". On the other hand, he applauded Indian 

restraint for not crossing the LOC and escalating the conflict 

into an all-out war.  

G8 nations supported India and condemned the Pakistani 

violation of the LOC at the Cologne summit. The European 

Union also opposed Pakistan's violation of the LOC. 

China, a long-time ally of Pakistan, insisted on a pullout of 

forces to the pre-conflict positions along the LOC and settling 

border issues peacefully. Other organisations like the ASEAN 

Regional Forum too supported India's stand on the inviolability 

of the LOC.  

Faced with growing international pressure, Sharif managed to 

pull back the remaining soldiers from Indian territory. The 
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joint statement issued by Clinton and Sharif conveyed the need 

to respect the LOC and resume bilateral talks as the best 

forum to resolve all disputes.  

Impact and influence of media 

The Kargil War was significant for the impact and influence of 

the mass media on public opinion in both nations. Coming at a 

time of exploding growth in electronic journalism in India, the 

Kargil news stories and war footage were often telecast live on 

TV, and many websites provided in-depth analysis of the war. 

The conflict became the first "live" war in South Asia and it 

was given such detailed media coverage that one effect was the 

drumming up of jingoistic feelings.  

The conflict soon turned into a news propaganda war, in which 

press briefings given by government officials of each nation 

produced conflicting claims and counterclaims. The Indian 

government placed a temporary News Embargo on information 

from Pakistan, banning the telecast of the state-run Pakistani 

channel PTV and blocking access to online editions of the 

Dawn newspaper. The Pakistani media criticised this apparent 

curbing of freedom of the press in India, while India media 

claimed it was in the interest of national security. The Indian 

government ran advertisements in foreign publications 

including The Times and The Washington Post detailing 

Pakistan's role in supporting extremists in Kashmir in an 

attempt to garner political support for its position.  

As the war progressed, media coverage of the conflict was more 

intense in India than in Pakistan. Many Indian channels 

showed images from the battle zone in a style reminiscent of 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 1 

86 

 

CNN's coverage of the Gulf War (one of the shells fired by 

Pakistan troops even hit a Doordarshan transmission centre in 

Kargil; coverage continued, however). Reasons for India's 

increased coverage included the greater number of privately 

owned electronic media in India compared to Pakistan and 

relatively greater transparency in the Indian media. At a 

seminar in Karachi, Pakistani journalists agreed that while the 

Indian government had taken the press and the people into its 

confidence, Pakistan had not.  

The print media in India and abroad was largely sympathetic to 

the Indian cause, with editorials in newspapers based in the 

west and other neutral countries observing that Pakistan was 

largely responsible for the conflict. 

Some analysts believe that Indian media, which was both 

larger in number and more credible, may have acted as a force 

multiplier for the Indian military operation in Kargil and 

served as a morale booster. As the fighting intensified, the 

Pakistani version of events found little backing on the world 

stage. This helped India gain valuable diplomatic recognition 

for its position.  

WMDs and the nuclear factor 

Since Pakistan and India each had weapons of mass 

destruction, many in the international community were 

concerned that if the Kargil conflict intensified, it could lead to 

nuclear war. Both countries had tested their nuclear capability 

in 1998 (India conducted its first test in 1974 while it was 

Pakistan's first-ever nuclear test). Many pundits believed the 

tests to be an indication of the escalating stakes in the 
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scenario in South Asia. When the Kargil conflict started just a 

year after the nuclear tests, many nations desired to end it 

before it intensified.  

International concerns increased when Pakistani foreign 

secretary Shamshad Ahmad made a statement on 31 May 

warning that an escalation of the limited conflict could lead 

Pakistan to use "any weapon" in its arsenal. This was 

immediately interpreted as a threat of nuclear retaliation by 

Pakistan in the event of an extended war, and the belief was 

reinforced when the leader of Pakistan's senate noted, "The 

purpose of developing weapons becomes meaningless if they 

are not used when they are needed". Many such ambiguous 

statements from officials of both countries were viewed as 

warnings of an impending nuclear crisis where the combatants 

would consider use of their limited nuclear arsenals in 

"tactical" nuclear warfare in the belief that it would not have 

ended in mutual assured destruction, as could have occurred 

in a nuclear conflict between the United States and the USSR. 

Some experts believe that following nuclear tests in 1998, the 

Pakistani military was emboldened by its nuclear deterrent to 

markedly increase coercion against India.  

The nature of the India-Pakistan conflict took a more sinister 

turn when the United States received intelligence that 

Pakistani nuclear warheads were being moved towards the 

border. Bill Clinton tried to dissuade Pakistan prime minister 

Nawaz Sharif from nuclear brinkmanship, even threatening 

Pakistan of dire consequences. According to a White House 

official, Sharif seemed to be genuinely surprised by this 

supposed missile movement and responded that India was 

probably planning the same. In an article published in a 
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defence journal in 2000, Sanjay Badri-Maharaj, a security 

expert, claimed while quoting another expert that India too had 

readied at least five nuclear-tipped ballistic missiles.  

Sensing a deteriorating military scenario, diplomatic isolation, 

and the risks of a larger conventional and nuclear war, Sharif 

ordered the Pakistani army to vacate the Kargil heights. He 

later claimed in his official biography that General Pervez 

Musharraf had moved nuclear warheads without informing 

him. Recently however, Pervez Musharraf revealed in his 

memoirs that Pakistan's nuclear delivery system was not 

operational during the Kargil war; something that would have 

put Pakistan under serious disadvantage if the conflict went 

nuclear.  

The threat of WMD included chemical and even biological 

weapons. Pakistan accused India of using chemical weapons 

and incendiary weapons such as napalm against the Kashmiri 

fighters. India, on the other hand, showcased a cache of gas 

masks as proof that Pakistan may have been prepared to use 

non-conventional weapons. US official and the Organisation for 

the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons determined that Pakistani 

allegations of India using banned chemicals in its bombs were 

unfounded.  

Aftermath 

India 

From the end of the war until February 2000, the Indian stock 

market rose by more than 30%. The next Indian national 

budget included major increases in military spending.  
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There was a surge in patriotism, with many celebrities 

expressing their support for the Kargil cause. Indians were 

angered by media reports of the death of pilot Ajay Ahuja, 

especially after Indian authorities reported that Ahuja had 

been murdered and his body mutilated by Pakistani troops. 

The war had produced higher than expected fatalities for the 

Indian military, with a sizeable percentage of them including 

newly commissioned officers. One month after conclusion of 

the Kargil War, the Atlantique Incident, in which a Pakistan 

Navy plane was shot down by India, briefly reignited fears of a 

conflict between the two countries.  

After the war, the Indian government severed ties with 

Pakistan and increased defence preparedness. India increased 

its defence budget as it sought to acquire more state of the art 

equipment. Media reported about military procurement 

irregularities and criticism of intelligence agencies like 

Research and Analysis Wing, which failed to predict the 

intrusions or the identity/number of infiltrators during the 

war. An internal assessment report by the armed forces, 

published in an Indian magazine, showed several other 

failings, including "a sense of complacency" and being 

"unprepared for a conventional war" on the presumption that 

nuclearism would sustain peace. 

It also highlighted the lapses in command and control, the 

insufficient troop levels and the dearth of large-calibre guns 

like the Bofors. In 2006, retired Air Chief Marshal, A. Y. 

Tipnis, alleged that the Indian Army did not fully inform the 

government about the intrusions, adding that the army chief 

Ved Prakash Malik, was initially reluctant to use the full strike 

capability of the Indian Air Force, instead requesting only 
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helicopter gunship support. Soon after the conflict, India also 

decided to complete the project, previously stalled by Pakistan, 

to fence the entire LOC.  

The end of the Kargil conflict was followed by the 13th Indian 

General Elections to the Lok Sabha, which gave a decisive 

mandate to the National Democratic Alliance (NDA) 

government. It was re-elected to power in September–October 

1999 with a majority of 303 seats out of 545 in the Lok Sabha. 

On the diplomatic front, Indo-US relations improved, as the 

United States appreciated Indian attempts to restrict the 

conflict to a limited geographic area. Relations with Israel—

which had discreetly aided India with ordnance supply and 

matériel such as unmanned aerial vehicles, laser-guided 

bombs, and satellite imagery—also were bolstered.  

The end and victory of the Kargil War is celebrated annually in 

India as Kargil Vijay Diwas.  

Kargil Review Committee 

Soon after the war the Atal Bihari Vajpayee government set up 

an inquiry into its causes and to analyse perceived Indian 

intelligence failures. The high-powered committee was chaired 

by eminent strategic affairs analyst K. Subrahmanyam and 

given powers to interview anyone with current or past 

associations with Indian security, including former Prime 

Ministers. The committee's final report (also referred to as the 

"Subrahmanyam Report") led to a large-scale restructuring of 

Indian Intelligence. It, however, came in for heavy criticism in 

the Indian media for its perceived avoidance of assigning 

specific responsibility for failures over detecting the Kargil 
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intrusions. The committee was also embroiled in controversy 

for indicting Brigadier Surinder Singh of the Indian Army for 

his failure to report enemy intrusions in time, and for his 

subsequent conduct. Many press reports questioned or 

contradicted this finding and claimed that Singh had in fact 

issued early warnings that were ignored by senior Indian Army 

commanders and, ultimately, higher government functionaries.  

In a departure from the norm the final report was published 

and made publicly available. Some chapters and all annexures, 

however, were deemed to contain classified information by the 

government and not released. K. Subrahmanyam later wrote 

that the annexures contained information on the development 

of India's nuclear weapons program and the roles played by 

Prime Ministers Rajiv Gandhi, P. V. Narasimha Rao and V. P. 

Singh.  

Pakistan 

Shortly after declaring itself a nuclear weapons state, Pakistan 

had been humiliated diplomatically and militarily. Faced with 

the possibility of international isolation, the already fragile 

Pakistan economy was weakened further. The morale of 

Pakistan forces after the withdrawal declined as many units of 

the Northern Light Infantry suffered heavy casualties. The 

government refused to accept the dead bodies of many officers, 

an issue that provoked outrage and protests in the Northern 

Areas. Pakistan initially did not acknowledge many of its 

casualties, but Sharif later said that over 4,000 Pakistani 

troops were killed in the operation. Responding to this, 

Pakistan President Pervez Musharraf said, "It hurts me when 

an ex-premier undermines his own forces", and claimed that 
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Indian casualties were more than that of Pakistan. The legacy 

of Kargil war still continues to be debated on Pakistan's news 

channels and television political correspondents, which 

Musharraf repeatedly appeared to justify.  

Many in Pakistan had expected a victory over the Indian 

military based on Pakistani official reports on the war, but 

were dismayed by the turn of events and questioned the 

eventual retreat. The military leadership is believed to have felt 

let down by the prime minister's decision to withdraw the 

remaining fighters. However, some authors, including 

Musharraf's close friend and former American CENTCOM 

Commander General Anthony Zinni, and former Prime minister 

Nawaz Sharif, state that it was General Musharraf who 

requested Sharif to withdraw the Pakistani troops. In 2012, 

Musharraf's senior officer and retired major-general Abdul 

Majeed Malik maintained that Kargil was a "total disaster" and 

bitterly criticised General Musharraf. Pointing out the fact that 

Pakistan was in no position to fight India in that area; the 

Nawaz Sharif government initiated the diplomatic process by 

involving the US President Bill Clinton and got Pakistan out of 

the difficult scenario. Malik maintained that soldiers were not 

"Mujaheddin" but active-duty serving officers and soldiers of 

the Pakistan Army.  

In a national security meeting with Prime minister Nawaz 

Sharif at the Joint Headquarters, General Musharraf became 

heavily involved with serious altercations with Chief of Naval 

Staff Admiral Fasih Bokhari who ultimately called for a court-

martial against General Musharraf. With Sharif placing the 

onus of the Kargil attacks squarely on the army chief Pervez 

Musharraf, there was an atmosphere of uneasiness between 
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the two. On 12 October 1999, General Musharraf staged a 

bloodless coup d'état, ousting Nawaz Sharif.  

Benazir Bhutto, an opposition leader in the parliament and 

former prime minister, called the Kargil War "Pakistan's 

greatest blunder". Many ex-officials of the military and the 

Inter-Services Intelligence (Pakistan's principal intelligence 

agency) also believed that "Kargil was a waste of time" and 

"could not have resulted in any advantage" on the larger issue 

of Kashmir. A retired Pakistan Army's Lieutenant-General Ali 

Kuli Khan, lambasted the war as "a disaster bigger than the 

East Pakistan tragedy", adding that the plan was "flawed in 

terms of its conception, tactical planning and execution" that 

ended in "sacrificing so many soldiers". The Pakistani media 

criticised the whole plan and the eventual climbdown from the 

Kargil heights since there were no gains to show for the loss of 

lives and it only resulted in international condemnation.  

Despite calls by many, no public commission of inquiry was set 

up in Pakistan to investigate the people responsible for 

initiating the conflict. The Pakistan Muslim League (PML(N)) 

published a white paper in 2006, which stated that Nawaz 

Sharif constituted an inquiry committee that recommended a 

court martial for General Pervez Musharraf, but Musharraf 

"stole the report" after toppling the government, to save 

himself. The report also claims that India knew about the plan 

11 months before its launch, enabling a complete victory for 

India on military, diplomatic and economic fronts. A statement 

in June 2008 by a former X Corps commander and Director-

General of Military Intelligence (M.I.) that time, Lieutenant-

General (retired) Jamshed Gulzar Kiani said that: "As Prime 

minister, Nawaz Sharif "was never briefed by the army" on the 
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Kargil attack, reignited the demand for a probe of the episode 

by legal and political groups. Though the Kargil conflict had 

brought the Kashmir dispute into international focus, which 

was one of Pakistan's aims, it had done so in negative 

circumstances that eroded its credibility, since the infiltration 

came just after a peace process between the two countries had 

been concluded. The sanctity of the LOC too received 

international recognition. President Clinton's move to ask 

Islamabad to withdraw hundreds of armed militants from 

Indian-administered Kashmir was viewed by many in Pakistan 

as indicative of a clear shift in US policy against Pakistan.  

After the war, a few changes were made to the Pakistan armed 

forces. In recognition of the Northern Light Infantry's 

performance in the war, which even drew praise from a retired 

Indian Lt. General, the regiment was incorporated into the 

regular army. 

The war showed that despite a tactically sound plan that had 

the element of surprise, little groundwork had been done to 

gauge the political ramifications. And like previous 

unsuccessful infiltrations attempts, such as Operation 

Gibraltar, which sparked the 1965 war, there was little co-

ordination or information sharing among the branches of the 

Pakistani Armed Forces. 

One US Intelligence study is reported to have stated that Kargil 

was yet another example of Pakistan's (lack of) grand strategy, 

repeating the follies of the previous wars. In 2013, General 

Musharraf's close collaborator and confidential subordinate 

Lieutenant General (retired) Shahid Aziz revealed to Pakistan's 

news televisions and electronic media, that "[Kargil] adventure' 
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was India's intelligence failure and Pakistan's miscalculated 

move, the Kargil operation was known only to General Parvez 

Musharraf and four of his close collaborators".  

Casualties 

Pakistan army losses have been difficult to determine. Pakistan 

confirmed that 453 soldiers were killed. The US Department of 

State had made an early, partial estimate of close to 700 

fatalities. 

According to numbers stated by Nawaz Sharif there were over 

4,000 fatalities. His PML (N) party in its "white paper" on the 

war mentioned that more than 3,000 Mujahideens, officers and 

soldiers were killed. Another major Pakistani political party, 

the Pakistan Peoples Party, also says that "thousands" of 

soldiers and irregulars died. Indian estimates stand at 1,042 

Pakistani soldiers killed. Musharraf, in his Hindi version of his 

memoirs, titled "Agnipath", differs from all the estimates 

stating that 357 troops were killed with a further 665 

wounded. 

Apart from General Musharraf's figure on the number of 

Pakistanis wounded, the number of people injured in the 

Pakistan camp is not yet fully known although they are at least 

more than 400 according to Pakistan army's website. One 

Indian pilot was officially captured during the fighting, while 

there were eight Pakistani soldiers who were captured during 

the fighting, and were repatriated on 13 August 1999. India 

gave its official casualty figures as 527 dead and 1,363 

wounded.  
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Kargil War Memorial, India 

The Kargil War memorial, built by the Indian Army, is located 

in Dras, in the foothills of the Tololing Hill. The memorial, 

located about 5 km from the city centre across the Tiger Hill, 

commemorates the martyrs of the Kargil War. A poem "Pushp 

Kii Abhilasha" (Wish of a Flower) by Makhanlal Chaturvedi, a 

renowned 20th century neo-romantic Hindi poet, is inscribed 

on the gateway of the memorial greets visitors. The names of 

the soldiers who lost their lives in the War are inscribed on the 

Memorial Wall and can be read by visitors. A museum attached 

to the Kargil War Memorial, which was established to celebrate 

the victory of Operation Vijay, houses pictures of Indian 

soldiers, archives of important war documents and recordings, 

Pakistani war equipments and gear, and official emblems of the 

Army from the Kargil war.  

A giant national flag, weighing 15 kg was hoisted at the Kargil 

war memorial on Kargil Vijay Diwas to commemorate the 13th 

anniversary of India's victory in the war.  

Popular culture 

The brief conflict provided considerable dramatic material for 

filmmakers and authors in India. Some documentaries which 

were shot on the subject were used by the ruling party 

coalition, led by Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP), in furthering its 

election campaign that immediately followed the war. The 

following is a list of the major films and dramas on the subject.  
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• Lord John Marbury is a 1999 episode in the first 

season of The West Wing which depicts a 

fictionalised representation of the Kargil conflict. 

• Pentagram's single, 'Price of Bullets', released in 

1999 dealt with the Kargil War. 

• Shaheed-E-Kargil (2001), a Hindi movie directed by 

Dilip Gulati was released in 2001, based on the 

incident of Kargil conflict. 

• LOC: Kargil (2003), a Hindi movie which depicts 

many incidents from the war was one of the longest 

in Indian movie history, running for more than four 

hours. 

• Lakshya (2004), another Hindi movie portraying a 

fictionalised account of the conflict. Movie critics 

have generally appreciated the realistic portrayal of 

characters. The film also received good reviews in 

Pakistan because it portrays both sides fairly. 

• Sainika (2002), the Kannada film directed by Mahesh 

Sukhdhare depicted the life of a soldier with Kargil 

war as one of the events. Starring C.P.Yogishwar and 

Sakshi Shivanand. 

• Dhoop (2003), Hindi film directed by Ashwini 

Chaudhary depicted the life of Anuj Nayyar's parents 

after his death. Anuj Nayyar was a captain in the 

Indian army and was awarded Maha Vir Chakra 

posthumously. Om Puri plays the role of S.K. 

Nayyar, Anuj's father. 

• Mission Fateh – Real Stories of Kargil Heroes, a TV 

series telecast on Sahara channel chronicling the 

Indian Army's missions. 

• Fifty Day War – A theatrical production on the war, 

directed by Aamir Raza Husain, the title indicating 
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the length of the Kargil conflict. This was claimed to 

be the biggest production of its kind in Asia, budget 

of Rs. 15 million, involving real aircraft and 

explosions in an outdoor setting. 

• Kurukshetra (2008) – A Malayalam film directed by a 

former Indian Army Major Ravi (Retd) based on his 

experience of Kargil War. 

• Laag (2000) – A Pakistani film-drama based on the 

armed intrusions and struggle of Pakistan army 

soldiers in the conflict. 

• Kargil Kartoons (1999) – With the support of eight 

leading cartoonists, Shekhar Gurera compiled a 

collection of cartoons dedicated to the Indian defence 

forces. He also coordinated Kargil Kartoons (A 

Collection of Cartoons and a chain of Cartoon 

Exhibition), the solidarity gesture of drawing on-the-

spot cartoons of army men who passing through the 

New Delhi railway station on their way to Kargil. The 

cartoons on Kargil War were later exhibited at The 

Lalit Kala Academy, New Delhi. 25–31 July 1999, 

followed by the chain exhibition of cartoons at 

Jaipur, Chandigarh, Patna and Indore. 

• Stumped (2003) – A film expressing the mixed 

emotions of 1999 Cricket World Cup celebrations and 

mourning associated with individual's casualty in 

the Kargil war. 

• Mausam (2011), romantic drama film directed by 

Pankaj Kapoor, spanned over the period between 

1992 and 2002 covering major events. 

• Gunjan Saxena: The Kargil Girl (2020) – An Indian 

biographical film was based on life of Indian Air 
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Force pilot Gunjan Saxena, the first Indian female 

air force pilot in combat during Kargil War. 

• Shershaah (2021) – An Indian War film was based on 

life of Indian army captain Vikram Batra. 

The impact of the war in the sporting arena was visible during 

the India-Pakistan clash in the 1999 Cricket World Cup, which 

coincided with the Kargil timeline. The game witnessed 

heightened passions and was one of the most viewed matches 

in the tournament.  

Third Vajpayee ministry 

• Atal Bihari Vajpayee was sworn in as Prime Minister 

of India for third time on 13 October 1999. He 

headed his Third Vajpayee Ministry. Here is the list 

of ministers in his ministry. 

Reshuffles 

In a reshuffle on 29 September 2000, Venkaiah Naidu and 

Sushma Swaraj were inducted in the ministry as cabinet 

ministers and Shripad Yasso Naik (Goa), Satyabrata Mukherjee 

(West Bengal), Kanyakumari MP P.Radhakrishnan and film 

star-turned-MP U V Krishnam Raju (Andhra Pradesh) as 

minister of state. Later that year Uma Bharti was elevated to 

cabinet rank.[1][[File:[2]]]  

In a reshuffle in 2001 Vajpayee inducted Karia Munda, Ved 

Prakash Goyal, Syed Shahnawaz Hussain and Tapan Sikdar as 

Cabinet ministers and Anna Sahib Patil, Ashok Pradhan, Ravi 

Shankar Prasad and Rajiv Pratap Rudy as ministers of state.[3] 
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In a reshuffle in 2002 he dropped four ministers and inducted 

four new cabinet ministers and nine new ministers of state. 

New cabinet ministers were: Shatrughan Sinha, Sahib Singh 

Verma, Jana Krishnamurthy, Balasaheb Vikhe Patil. The new 

ministers of state were: Basangouda Patil, Sanjay Paswan, 

Shripad Yasso Naik, Vinod Khanna, Nikhil Chaudhary, 

S.Thirunavukarasar, Anant Geete and A. K. Moorthy .[4] 

In a reshuffle in 2003 Vajpayee inducted three new cabinet 

rank ministers and five ministers of state . The new cabinet 

ministers were :Rajnath Singh, B.C. Khanduri and Subodh 

Mohite. The new ministers of state were : Chinmayanand 

Swami (BJP), Kailash Meghwal (BJP), Nagmani (Rashtriya 

Janata Dal-Democratic), Prahlad Singh Patel (BJP) and P.C. 

Thomas (Indian Federal Democratic Party).[5] 

2001 Indian Parliament attack 

The 2001 Indian Parliament attack was a terrorist attack on 

the Parliament of India in New Delhi, India on 13 December 

2001. The perpetrators belonged to Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT) and 

Jaish-e-Mohammed (JeM) - two Pakistan-raised terrorist 

organizations. The attack led to the deaths of six Delhi Police 

personnel, two Parliament Security Service personnel, and a 

gardener – in total 9 – and led to increased tensions between 

India and Pakistan, resulting in the 2001–02 India–Pakistan 

standoff. The 5 terrorists were killed outside the parliament.  

Attack 

On 13 December 2001, five terrorists infiltrated the Parliament 

House in a car with Home Ministry and Parliament labels. 
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While both the Rajya Sabha and Lok Sabha had been 

adjourned 40 minutes prior to the incident, many members of 

parliament (MPs) and government officials such as Home 

Minister LK Advani and Minister of State for Defence Harin 

Pathak were believed to have still been in the building at the 

time of the attack. More than 100 people, including major 

politicians, were inside the parliament building at the time. 

The gunmen used a fake identity sticker on the car they drove 

and thus easily breached the security deployed around the 

parliamentary complex. The terrorists carried AK47 rifles, 

grenade launchers, pistols and grenades.  

The gunmen drove their vehicle into the car of the Indian Vice 

President Krishan Kant (who was in the building at the time), 

got out, and began shooting. 

The Vice President's guards and security personnel shot back 

at the terrorists and then started closing the gates of the 

compound. A similar attack was carried out on the assembly of 

Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir, during November 2001, when 

38 people were killed by terrorists.  

Delhi Police officials said that gunmen received instructions 

from Pakistan and the operation was carried out under the 

guidance of Pakistan's Inter-Services Intelligence (ISI) agency. 

In their book The Exile: The Flight of Osama bin Laden, Cathy 

Scott-Clark and Adrian Levy state that then-CIA station chief 

Robert Grenier and Ambassador Wendy Chamberlin suspected 

that the ISI had approved the attack in order to force the 

redeployment of troops under the command of Ali Jan Aurakzai 

away from the Durand Line, allowing Osama bin Laden to 

escape into Pakistan during the Battle of Tora Bora.  
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Casualties 

Constable Kamlesh Kumari of the Central Reserve Police Force 

was the first to spot the terrorists and was shot by them as she 

raised the alarm. She died on the spot. One gunman's suicide 

vest exploded when he was shot dead; the other four gunmen 

were also killed. The ministers and MPs escaped unhurt. The 

total number killed was 9 and at least 18 other people were 

injured in the attack.  

Perpetrators 

Delhi Police stated that five terrorists carried out the attack 

and the names given by them were: Hamza, Haider alias Tufail, 

Rana, Ranvijay and Mohammed - who were allegedly members 

of Jaish-e-Mohammed - were killed.  

Trial 

The attack triggered extensive investigations which revealed 

involvement of four accused, namely Mohammad Afzal Guru, 

Shaukat Hussain Guru (cousin of Afzal Guru) and S.A.R. Gilani 

(Syed Abdul Rahman Gilani) and Shaukat's wife Afsan Guru 

(Navjot Sandhu before marriage). Some other proclaimed 

offenders were said to be the leaders of the banned terrorist 

organisation known as Jaish-e-Mohammed. After the 

conclusion of investigation, investigating agency filed the 

report under Section 173 of Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 

(India) against four accused persons on 14 May 2002. Charges 

were framed under various sections of Indian Penal Code (IPC), 
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the Prevention of Terrorism Act, 2002 (POTA), and the 

Explosive Substances Act by the designated sessions Court.  

The designated Special Court was presided over by S. N. 

Dhingra. The accused were tried and the trial concluded within 

a record period of about six months. 80 witnesses were 

examined for the prosecution and 10 witnesses were examined 

on behalf of the accused S.A.R. Gilani. About 300 documents 

were exhibited. Afzal Guru, Shaukat Hussain and S.A.R. Gilani 

were convicted for the offences under Sections 121, 121A, 122, 

Section 120B read with Sections 302 & 307 read with Section 

120B of IPC, sub-Sections (2), (3) and (5) of Section 3 and 

Section 4(b) of POTA and Sections 3 and 4 of Explosive 

Substances Act. The accused 1 and 2 were also convicted 

under Section 3(4) of POTA.  

Accused 4, namely Navjot Sandhu a.k.a. Afsan, was acquitted 

of all the charges except the one under Section 123 IPC for 

which she was convicted and sentenced to undergo rigorous 

imprisonment for five years and to pay a fine. Death sentences 

were imposed on the other three accused for the offences under 

Section 302 read with Section 120B IPC and Section 3(2) of 

POTA. They were also sentenced to life imprisonment on as 

many as eight counts under the provisions of IPC, POTA and 

Explosive Substances Act in addition to varying amounts of 

fine. The amount of a million Indian rupees, which was 

recovered from the possession of two of the accused, namely, 

Afzal Guru and Shaukat Hussain, was forfeited to the State 

under Section 6 of the POTA.  

On appeal, the high court subsequently acquitted S. A. R. 

Geelani and Afsan, but upheld Shaukat's and Afzal's death 
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sentence. Geelani was represented by Ram Jethmalani in the 

Delhi High Court and subsequently in the Supreme Court of 

India. Jethmalani said it almost cost him his political career 

for defending Geelani. Geelani's acquittal blew a gaping hole in 

the prosecution's version of the parliament attack. He was 

presented as the mastermind of the entire attack. Geelani, a 

young lecturer at Delhi University, received support from his 

outraged colleagues and friends, who were certain that he had 

been framed. They contacted the well-known lawyer Nandita 

Haksar and asked her to take on his case.  

Shaukat Hussain was released nine months prior to his 

scheduled date of release, because of his "good conduct".  

Two Delhi Police officials, ACP Rajbir Singh and Mohan Chand 

Sharma are credited for gathering prima facie evidence in the 

case. Singh was later shot dead by a friend over a property 

deal and Sharma was killed during the Batla House encounter 

with terrorists in Delhi.  

Response 

The Indian Government initially accused Lashkar-e-Taiba and 

Jaish-e-Mohammed of involvement in the attack. However, 

Lashkar-e-Taiba denied any involvement in the incident. In 

November 2002, four JeM members were arrested by Indian 

authorities and put on trial. All four were found guilty of 

playing various roles in the incident, although the fourth, 

Afsan/Navjot Sandhu, wife of Shaukat Hussain (one of the 

accused) was found guilty of a minor charge of concealing 

knowledge of conspiracy. One of the accused, Afzal Guru, was 

sentenced to death for the incident.  
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World leaders and leaders in India's immediate neighbourhood 

condemned the attack on the Parliament. On 14 December, the 

ruling National Democratic Alliance (NDA) blamed Pakistan-

based Lashkar-e-Taiba and Jaish-e-Mohammed for the attack. 

Home Minister LK Advani claimed, "We have received some 

clues about yesterday's incident, which shows that a 

neighbouring country, and some terrorist organisations active 

there behind it", in an indirect reference to Pakistan and 

Pakistan-based terrorist groups.  

The same day, in a demarche to Pakistani High Commissioner 

to India, Ashraf Jehangir Qazi, India demanded that Pakistan 

stop the activities of LeT and JeM, that Pakistan apprehend the 

organisations' leaders and that Pakistan curb the financial 

assets and the groups' access to these assets. In response to 

the Indian government's statements, Pakistani forces were put 

on high alert the same day. On 20 December, India mobilised 

and deployed its troops to Kashmir and Punjab in what was 

India's largest military mobilisation since the 1971 Indo-

Pakistani War.  

Following the attack, many suspects were arrested, and in 

December 2002 four Jaish-e-Mohammed members were 

convicted for roles in the attack. In 2003, the Border Security 

Force (BSF) killed Ghazi Baba, the commander-in-chief of 

Jaish-e-Mohammed and the mastermind of the attack, in the 

Noor Bagh neighborhood of Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir.  

Afzal Guru, sentenced to death by Indian court and due to be 

hanged on 20 October 2006, had his execution stayed. His 

family had camped in New Delhi to meet the President Dr. 

A.P.J Abdul Kalam to accept the mercy petition. The family of 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 1 

106 

 

Kamlesh Kumari Jatav, a CRPF Jawan who died in the attack 

has said that they would return the Ashok Chakra, if the 

president accepted the petition, and on 13 December 2006, the 

families of the deceased returned the medals to the 

government. As of April 2007, the then President of India, 

A.P.J. Abdul Kalam, refused to interfere in the judicial process.  

The sentence was scheduled to be carried out on 20 October 

2006, but Afzal was given a stay of execution and remained on 

death row. On 3 February 2013, his mercy petition was 

rejected by the then President of India Pranab Mukherjee. He 

was hanged in Delhi's Tihar Jail at 8:00 A.M. on 9 February 

2013, and buried in Tihar jail with full religious rites.  

Agra summit 

The Agra summit was a historic two-day summit meeting 

between India and Pakistan which lasted from 14–16 July 

2001. It was organized with the aim of resolving long-standing 

issues between India and Pakistan.  

At this meeting, a proposal was made to drastically reduce 

nuclear arsenals, and other issues involving the Kashmir 

dispute, and cross-border terrorism. However, the negotiations 

broke down and the process was collapsed so the Agra treaty 

was never signed.  

Earlier in 1999, during Indian PM Atal Bihari Vajpayee's visit 

to Pakistan, both countries had acceded and successfully 

ratified the Lahore Declaration and pledged to make joint 

efforts for peace and stability in South Asia. The Kargil war 

was a major blow to the Lahore treaty and it stalled the treaty 
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as the relations between two countries suffered a serious 

setback. General Musharraf is widely believed to be a strategic 

mastermind and brain behind the Kargil war.  

On 11 March 2001, the UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan 

called upon both India and Pakistan to retain the spirit of the 

Lahore Declaration, saying that it would require restraint, 

wisdom, and constructive steps from both sides. Finally, the 

framework for negotiations of the Agra treaty began with talks 

in New Delhi between President Pervez Musharraf and Prime 

Minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee in July 2001.  

After much diplomatic efforts, the Agra summit started amid 

high hopes of resolving various disputes between the two 

countries including the five decades old Kashmir issue. Both 

sides started the summit with hopefulness and in a spirit of 

good will; especially President Musharraf who used the phrases 

"cautious optimism", "flexibility" and "open mind" to describe 

his views for the summit. The Indian President, K. R. 

Narayanan, also promised to take "bold and innovative" 

measures and to discuss the "core issue" between the two 

countries.  

Various rounds of one-to-one talks were held between 

President Musharraf and Prime Minister Vajpayee. On the first 

day, a 90-minute one-on-one session was held and the two 

leaders discussed the Kashmir issue, cross-border terrorism, 

nuclear risk reduction, release of prisoners of war, and 

commercial ties. There were high hopes in Pakistan that both 

the leaders would arrive at an agreement and a joint statement 

or declaration would be made at the end of the summit as the 

two leaders plunged into serious talks. Despite reservations 
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from the Indian Government, President Musharraf also held 

face-to-face meetings with the top Kashmiri leadership 

represented by the All Parties Hurriyat Conference.  

The most important agenda of Prime Minister, Atal Bihari 

Vajpayee, in the Indo-Pak summit was to stress upon the 

economic betterment of the people of Kashmir, for which he 

invited a dialogue with the All Parties Hurriyat Conference.  

Quote:  

"Pakistan has been seeking a solution to J&K in accordance 

with the wishes of the "Kashmiri people". I am certain that the 

primary wish of every single Kashmiri, whether from the 

Kashmir valley or Jammu, Ladakh, Pakistan occupied Kashmir, 

the Northern areas or the Shaksgam Valley, is to live in peace, 

security and freedom, so that he can make economic progress. 

We should constantly strive to provide him with this 

fundamental right. Most of the Kashmiris have their elected 

representatives, through whom they express their legitimate 

aspirations. We are also willing to listen to all other streams of 

Kashmiri opinion, however small the minority they represent, 

as long as they abjure violence. It is in this spirit that we had 

offered to talk to the representatives of the All Parties’ Hurriyat 

Conference." 

Collapse 

The talks and peace process, however, collapsed and no 

signatures were attained for the Agra treaty. The talks faced a 

number of obstacles. According to the Indian scholar, Gaurav 

Kampani, there were three major reasons for the Indian 
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government's reluctance in accepting Pakistan's assurances at 

face value. First, the Vajpayee government did not trust 

President Pervez Musharraf and the establishment that he 

represents in Delhi. In India alone, it was widely felt that it 

was Musharraf who sabotaged joint peace efforts of Pakistan 

Prime minister Navaz Sharif and Indian Prime Minister Atal 

Bihari Vajpayee at the Lahore Summit in 1999. Second, India 

was not satisfied with Pakistan's pledge to halt cross-border 

infiltrations; thirdly the Indian government had plans for 

holding regional elections in Indian Kashmir in October 2002. 

Similarly, Indian leadership considered Musharraf's refusal to 

give up support to the cross-border insurgency in Kashmir as 

the reason behind the failure of the Agra Summit in June 

2001.  

Despite the failure of the talks, General Pervez Musharraf 

joined Vajpayee to call on the two countries to bury their past. 

He also invited the Indian Prime Minister to visit Pakistan as 

he felt that the issues between Pakistan and India were much 

more complicated and could not be resolved in a short time.  

Following the August 2001 Agra summit, India reiterated the 

necessity of implementing the Simla Agreement and the Lahore 

Declaration. It said that India would support the Simla 

Agreement, the Lahore Declaration, and the issue of cross-

border terrorism.  

On 6 July 2015, A. S. Dulat, former chief of the Research and 

Analysis Wing, India's external intelligence agency, revealed 

that L.K. Advani played a role in the collapse of the Agra 

Summit.  

  



Chapter 4 

2002 Gujarat Riots 

The 2002 Gujarat riots, also known as the 2002 Gujarat 

violence and the Gujarat pogrom, was a three-day period of 

inter-communal violence in the western Indian state of 

Gujarat. The burning of a train in Godhra on 27 February 

2002, which caused the deaths of 58 Hindu pilgrims karsevaks 

returning from Ayodhya, is cited as having instigated the 

violence. Following the initial riot incidents, there were further 

outbreaks of violence in Ahmedabad for three months; 

statewide, there were further outbreaks of violence against the 

minority Muslim population of Gujarat for the next one year.  

According to official figures, the riots ended with 1,044 dead, 

223 missing, and 2,500 injured. Of the dead, 790 were Muslim 

and 254 Hindu. The Concerned Citizens Tribunal Report, 

estimated that as many as 1,926 may have been killed. Other 

sources estimated death tolls in excess of 2,000. Many brutal 

killings and rapes were reported on as well as widespread 

looting and destruction of property. Narendra Modi, then Chief 

Minister of Gujarat and later Prime Minister of India, was 

accused of initiating and condoning the violence, as were 

police and government officials who allegedly directed the 

rioters and gave lists of Muslim-owned properties to them.  

In 2012, Modi was cleared of complicity in the violence by 

Special Investigation Team (SIT) appointed by the Supreme 

Court of India. The SIT also rejected claims that the state 

government had not done enough to prevent the riots. The 
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Muslim community was reported to have reacted with anger 

and disbelief. In July 2013, allegations were made that the SIT 

had suppressed evidence. That December, an Indian court 

upheld the earlier SIT report and rejected a petition seeking 

Modi's prosecution. In April 2014, the Supreme Court 

expressed satisfaction over the SIT's investigations in nine 

cases related to the violence, and rejected a plea contesting the 

SIT report as "baseless".  

Though officially classified as a communalist riot, the events of 

2002 have been described as a pogrom by many scholars, with 

some commentators alleging that the attacks had been 

planned, with the attack on the train was a "staged trigger" for 

what was actually premeditated violence. Other observers have 

stated that these events had met the "legal definition of 

genocide," or referred to them as state terrorism or ethnic 

cleansing. Instances of mass violence include the Naroda 

Patiya massacre that took place directly adjacent to a police 

training camp; the Gulbarg Society massacre where Ehsan 

Jafri, a former parliamentarian, was among those killed; and 

several incidents in Vadodara city. Scholars studying the 2002 

riots state that they were premeditated and constituted a form 

of ethnic cleansing, and that the state government and law 

enforcement were complicit in the violence that occurred.  

Godhra train burning 

On the morning of 27 February 2002, the Sabarmati Express, 

returning from Ayodhya to Ahmedabad, stopped near the 

Godhra railway station. The passengers were Hindu pilgrims, 

returning from Ayodhya after a religious ceremony at the site 

of the demolished Babri Masjid. An argument erupted between 
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the train passengers and the vendors on the railway platform. 

The argument became violent and under uncertain 

circumstances four coaches of the train caught fire with many 

people trapped inside. In the resulting conflagration, 59 people 

(nine men, 25 women, and 25 children) burned to death.  

The government of Gujarat set up Gujarat High Court judge K. 

G. Shah as a one-man commission to look into the incident, 

but following outrage among families of victims and in the 

media over Shah's alleged closeness to Modi, retired Supreme 

Court judge G.T. Nanavati was added as chairman of the now 

two-person commission.  

In 2003, The Concerned Citizens Tribunal (CCT) concluded that 

the fire had been an accident. Several other independent 

commentators have also concluded that the fire itself was 

almost certainly an accident, saying that the initial cause of 

the conflagration has never been conclusively determined. 

Historian Ainslie Thomas Embree stated that the official story 

of the attack on the train (that it was organized and carried 

out by people under orders from Pakistan) was entirely 

baseless.  

The Union government led by the Indian National Congress 

party in 2005 also set up a committee to probe the incident, 

headed up by retired Supreme Court judge Umesh Chandra 

Banerjee. The committee concluded that the fire had begun 

inside the train and was most likely accidental. However, the 

Gujarat High Court ruled in 2006 that the matter was outside 

the jurisdiction of the union government, and that the 

committee was therefore unconstitutional.  
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After six years of going over the details, Nanavati-Mehta 

Commission submitted its preliminary report which concluded 

that the fire was an act of arson, committed by a mob of one to 

two thousand locals. Maulvi Husain Haji Ibrahim Umarji, a 

cleric in Godhra, and a dismissed Central Reserve Police Force 

officer named Nanumiyan were presented as the "masterminds" 

behind the arson. After 24 extensions, the commission 

submitted its final report on 18 November 2014. The findings 

of the commission were called into question by a video 

recording released by Tehelka magazine, which showed Arvind 

Pandya, counsel for the Gujarat government, stating that the 

findings of the Shah-Nanavati commission would support the 

view presented by the Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP), as Shah 

was "their man" and Nanavati could be bribed.  

In February 2011, the trial court convicted 31 people and 

acquitted 63 others based on the murder and conspiracy 

provisions of the Indian Penal Code, saying the incident was a 

"pre-planned conspiracy."  Of those convicted, 11 were 

sentenced to death and the other 20 to life in prison. Maulvi 

Umarji, presented by the Nanavati-Shah commission as the 

prime conspirator, was acquitted along with 62 others accused 

for lack of evidence.  

Post-Godhra violence 

Following the attack on the train, the Vishva Hindu Parishad 

(VHP) called for a statewide bandh, or strike. Although the 

Supreme Court had declared such strikes to be 

unconstitutional and illegal, and despite the common tendency 

for such strikes to be followed by violence, no action was taken 

by the state to prevent the strike. The government did not 
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attempt to stop the initial outbreak of violence across the 

state. Independent reports indicate that the state BJP 

president Rana Rajendrasinh had endorsed the strike, and that 

Modi and Rana used inflammatory language which worsened 

the situation.  

Then-Chief Minister Narendra Modi declared that the attack on 

the train had been an act of terrorism, and not an incident of 

communal violence. Local newspapers and members of the 

state government used the statement to incite violence against 

the Muslim community by claiming, without proof, that the 

attack on the train was carried out by Pakistan's intelligence 

agency and that local Muslims had conspired with them to 

attack Hindus in the state. False stories were also printed by 

local newspapers which claimed that Muslim people had 

kidnapped and raped Hindu women.  

Numerous accounts describe the attacks on the Muslim 

community that began on 28 February (the day after the train 

fire) as highly coordinated with mobile phones and 

government-issued printouts listing the homes and businesses 

of Muslims. Attackers arrived in Muslim communities across 

the region in trucks, wearing saffron robes and khaki shorts, 

bearing a variety of weapons. In many cases, attackers 

damaged or burned Muslim-owned or occupied buildings while 

leaving adjacent Hindu buildings untouched. Although many 

calls to the police were made from victims, they were told by 

the police that "we have no orders to save you." In some cases, 

the police fired on Muslims who attempted to defend 

themselves. The rioters used mobile phones to coordinate their 

attacks. By the end of the day on 28 February a curfew had 

been declared in 27 towns and cities across the state. A 
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government minister stated that although the circumstances 

were tense in Baroda and Ahmedabad, the situation was under 

control, and that the police who had been deployed were 

enough to prevent any violence. In Baroda the administration 

imposed a curfew in seven areas of the city.  

M. D. Antani, then the deputy superintendent of police, 

deployed the Rapid Action Force to sensitive areas in Godhra. 

Gordhan Zadafia, the Minister of State for Home, believed there 

would be no retaliation from the Hindu community for the train 

burning. Modi stated that the violence was no longer as intense 

as it had been and that it would soon be brought under 

control, and that if the situation warranted it, the police would 

be supported by deploying the army. A shoot-to-kill order was 

issued. However the troop deployment was withheld by the 

state government until 1 March, when the most severe violence 

had ended. After more than two months of violence a 

unanimous vote to authorize central intervention was passed 

in the upper house of parliament. Members of the opposition 

made accusations that the government had failed to protect 

Muslim people in the worst rioting in India in more than 10 

years.  

It is estimated that 230 mosques and 274 dargahs were 

destroyed during the violence. For the first time in the history 

of communal riots Hindu women took part, looting Muslim 

shops. It is estimated that up to 150,000 people were displaced 

during the violence. It is estimated that 200 police officers died 

while trying to control the violence, and Human Rights Watch 

reported that acts of exceptional heroism were committed by 

Hindus, Dalits and tribals who tried to protect Muslims from 

the violence.  
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Attacks on Muslims 

In the aftermath of the violence, it became clear that many 

attacks were focused not only on Muslim populations, but also 

on Muslim women and children. Organizations such as Human 

Rights Watch criticised the Indian government and the Gujarat 

state administration for failure to address the resulting 

humanitarian condition of victims who fled their homes for 

relief camps during the violence, the "overwhelming majority of 

them Muslim." 

According to Teesta Setalvad on 28 February in the districts of 

Morjari Chowk and Charodia Chowk in Ahmedabad of all forty 

people who had been killed by police shooting were Muslim. An 

international fact-finding committee formed of all women 

international experts from US, UK, France, Germany and Sri 

Lanka reported, "sexual violence was being used as a strategy 

for terrorizing women belonging to minority community in the 

state."  

It is estimated that at least two-hundred and fifty girls and 

women were gang raped and then burned to death. Children 

were force fed petrol and then set on fire, pregnant women 

were gutted and then had their unborn child's body shown to 

them. In the Naroda Patiya mass grave of ninety-six bodies, 

forty-six were women. Rioters also flooded homes and 

electrocuted entire families inside. Violence against women 

also included them being stripped naked, violated with objects, 

and then killed. According to Kalpana Kannabiran the rapes 

were part of a well-organized, deliberate and pre-planned 

strategy, and which facts place the violence into the categories 

of political pogrom and genocide. Other acts of violence against 
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women included acid attacks, beatings and the killing of 

women who were pregnant. Children were also killed in front of 

their parents. George Fernandes in a discussion in parliament 

on the violence caused widespread furor in his defense of the 

state government, saying that this was not the first time that 

women had been violated and raped in India.  

Children were killed by being burnt alive and those who dug 

the mass graves described the bodies interred within them as 

"burned and butchered beyond recognition." Children and 

infants were speared and held aloft before being thrown into 

fires. Describing the sexual violence perpetrated against 

Muslim women and girls, Renu Khanna writes that the 

survivors reported that it "consisted of forced nudity, mass 

rapes, gang-rapes, mutilation, insertion of objects into bodies, 

cutting of breasts, slitting the stomach and reproductive 

organs, and carving of Hindu religious symbols on women's 

body parts." The Concerned Citizens' Tribunal, characterised 

the use of rape "as an instrument for the subjugation and 

humiliation of a community." Testimony heard by the 

committee stated that:  

A chilling technique, absent in pogroms unleashed hitherto but 

very much in evidence this time in a large number of cases, 

was the deliberate destruction of evidence. Barring a few, in 

most instances of sexual violence, the women victims were 

stripped and paraded naked, then gang-raped, and thereafter 

quartered and burnt beyond recognition. . . . The leaders of the 

mobs even raped young girls, some as young as 11 years 

old . . . before burning them alive. . . . Even a 20-day-old 

infant, or a fetus in the womb of its mother, was not spared.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 1 

118 

 

Vandana Shiva stated that "Young boys have been taught to 

burn, rape and kill in the name of Hindutva."  

Dionne Bunsha, writing on the Gulbarg Society massacre and 

murder of Ehsan Jafri, has said that when Jafri begged the 

crowd to spare the women, he was dragged into the street and 

forced to parade naked for refusing to say "Jai Shri Ram." He 

was then beheaded and thrown onto a fire, after which rioters 

returned and burned Jafri's family, including two small boys, 

to death. After the massacre Gulbarg remained in flames for a 

week.  

Attacks on Hindus 

The Times of India reported that over ten thousand Hindus 

were displaced during the violence. According to police records, 

157 riots after the Godhra incident were started by Muslims. In 

Mahajan No Vando, a Hindu residential area in Jamalpur, 

residents reported that Muslim attackers injured 

approximately twenty-five Hindu residents and destroyed five 

houses on 1 March. The community head reported that the 

police responded quickly, but were ineffectual as there were so 

few of them present to help during the attack. The colony was 

later visited by Modi on 6 March, who promised the residents 

that they would be taken care of.  

On 17 March, it was reported that Muslims attacked Dalits in 

the Danilimda area of Ahmedabad. In Himatnagar, a man was 

reportedly found dead with both his eyes gouged out. The 

Sindhi Market and Bhanderi Pole areas of Ahmedabad were 

also reportedly attacked by mobs.  
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India Today reported on 20 May 2002 that there were sporadic 

attacks on Hindus in Ahmedabad. On 5 May, Muslim rioters 

attacked Bhilwas locality in the Shah Alam area. Hindu doctors 

were asked to stop practicing in Muslim areas after one Hindu 

doctor was stabbed.  

Frontline magazine reported that in Ahmedabad of the 249 

bodies recovered by 5 March, thirty were Hindu. Of the Hindus 

that had been killed, thirteen had died as a result of police 

action and several others had died while attacking Muslim 

owned properties. Despite the relatively few attacks by Muslim 

mobs on Hindu neighbourhoods, twenty-four Muslims were 

reported to have died in police shootings.  

Media coverage 

The events in Gujarat were the first instance of communal 

violence in India in the age of 24-hour news coverage and were 

televised worldwide. This coverage played a central role in the 

politics of the situation. Media coverage was generally critical 

of the Hindu right; however, the BJP portrayed the coverage as 

an assault on the honor of Gujaratis and turned the hostility 

into an emotive part of their electoral campaign. With the 

violence receding in April, a peace meeting was arranged at 

Sabarmati Ashram, a former home of Mahatma Gandhi. 

Hindutva supporters and police officers attacked almost a 

dozen journalists. 

The state government banned television news channels critical 

of the government's response, and local stations were blocked. 

Two reporters working for STAR News were assaulted several 

times while covering the violence. On a return trip from having 
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interviewed Modi when their car was surrounded by a crowd, 

one of the crowd claimed that they would be killed should they 

be a member of a minority community.  

The Editors Guild of India, in its report on media ethics and 

coverage on the incidents stated that the news coverage was 

exemplary, with only a few minor lapses. The local newspapers 

Sandesh and Gujarat Samachar, however, were heavily 

criticised. The report states that Sandesh had headlines which 

would "provoke, communalize and terrorize people. The 

newspaper also used a quote from a VHP leader as a headline, 

"Avenge with blood." The report stated that Gujarat Samachar 

had played a role in increasing the tensions but did not give all 

of its coverage over to "hawkish and inflammatory reportage in 

the first few weeks". The paper carried reports to highlight 

communal harmony. Gujarat Today was given praise for 

showing restraint and for the balanced reportage of the 

violence. Critical reporting on the Gujarat government's 

handling of the situation helped bring about the Indian 

government's intervention in controlling the violence. The 

Editors Guild rejected the charge that graphic news coverage 

aggravated the situation, saying that the coverage exposed the 

"horrors" of the riots as well as the "supine if not complicit" 

attitude of the state, helping to propel remedial action.  

Allegations of state complicity 

Many scholars and commentators have accused the state 

government of being complicit in the attacks, either in failing 

to exert any effort to quell the violence or for actively planning 

and executing the attacks themselves. The United States 

Department of State ultimately banned Narendra Modi from 
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travelling to the United States due to his alleged role in the 

attacks. These allegations center around several ideas. First, 

the state did little to quell the violence, with attacks 

continuing well through the Spring. The historian Gyanendra 

Pandey described these attacks as state terrorism, saying that 

they were not riots but "organized political massacres." 

According to Paul Brass the only conclusion from the evidence 

which is available points to a methodical Anti-Muslim pogrom 

which was carried out with exceptional brutality coordination.  

The media has described the attacks as state terrorism rather 

than "communal riots" due to the lack of state intervention. 

Many politicians downplayed the incidents, claiming that the 

situation was under control. One minister who spoke with 

Rediff.com stated that though the circumstances were tense in 

Baroda and Ahmedabad, the situation was under control, and 

that the police who had been deployed were enough to prevent 

any violence. 

The deputy superintendent of police stated that the Rapid 

Action Force had been deployed to sensitive areas in Godhra. 

Gordhan Zadafia, the Minister of State for Home, stated that 

he believed there would be no retaliation from the Hindu 

community. Once troops were airlifted in on 1 March, Modi 

stated that the violence was no longer as intense as it had 

been and that it would soon be brought under control. The 

violence continued for 3 months with no intervention from the 

federal government till May. Local and state-level politicians 

were seen leading violent mobs, restraining the police and 

arranging the distribution of weapons, leading investigative 

reports to conclude that the violence was "engineered and 

launched."  
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Throughout the violence, attacks were made in full view of 

police stations and police officers who did not intervene. In 

many instances, police joined the mobs in perpetrating 

violence. At one Muslim locality, of the twenty-nine deaths, 

sixteen were caused by police firing into the locality. Some 

rioters even had printouts of voter registration lists, allowing 

them to selectively target Muslim properties. Selective 

targeting of properties was shown by the destruction of the 

offices of the Muslim Wakf board which was located within the 

confines of the high security zone and just 500 meters from the 

office of the chief minister.  

According to Scott W. Hibbard, the violence had been planned 

far in advance, and that similar to other instances of 

communal violence the Bajrang Dal, the VHP and the Rashtriya 

Swayamsevak Sangh (RSS) all took part in the attacks. 

Following the attack on the train the VHP called for a statewide 

bandh (strike), and the state took no action to prevent this.  

The Concerned Citizens Tribunal (CCT) report includes 

testimony of the then Gujarat BJP minister Haren Pandya 

(since murdered), who testified about an evening meeting 

convened by Modi the evening of the train burning. At this 

meeting, officials were instructed not to obstruct the Hindu 

rage following the incident. The report also highlighted a 

second meeting, held in Lunawada village of Panchmahal 

district, attended by state ministers Ashok Bhatt, and 

Prabhatsinh Chauhan, among other BJP and RSS leaders, 

where "detailed plans were made on the use of kerosene and 

petrol for arson and other methods of killing." The Jamiat 

Ulama-i-Hind claimed in 2002 that some regional Congress 

workers collaborated with the perpetrators of the violence.  
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Dipankar Gupta believes that the state and police were clearly 

complicit in the violence, but that some officers were 

outstanding in the performance of their duties, such as 

Himanshu Bhatt and Rahul Sharma. Sharma was reported to 

have said "I don't think any other job would have allowed me to 

save so many lives." Human Rights Watch has reported on acts 

of exceptional heroism by Hindus, Dalits and tribals who tried 

to protect Muslims from the violence.  

In response to allegations of state involvement, Gujarat 

government spokesman, Bharat Pandya, told the BBC that the 

rioting was a spontaneous Hindu backlash fueled by 

widespread anger against Muslims. He said "Hindus are 

frustrated over the role of Muslims in the on-going violence in 

Indian-administered Kashmir and other parts of India." In 

support of this, the US Ambassador at-large for International 

Religious Freedom, John Hanford, expressed concern over 

religious intolerance in Indian politics and said that while the 

rioters may have been aided by state and local officials, he did 

not believe that the BJP-led central government was involved 

in inciting the riots.  

Criminal prosecutions 

Prosecution of the perpetrators of the violence hampered by 

witnesses being bribed or intimidated and the perpetrators' 

names being deleted from the charge sheets. Local judges were 

also biased. After more than two years of acquittals, the 

Supreme Court of India stepped in, transferring key cases to 

the Bombay High Court and ordering the police to reopen two 

thousand cases that had been previously closed. The Supreme 

Court also lambasted the Gujarat government as "modern day 
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Neros" who looked elsewhere when innocent women and 

children were burning and then interfered with prosecution. 

Following this direction, police identified nearly 1,600 cases 

for re-investigation, arrested 640 accused and launched 

investigations against forty police officers for their failures.  

In March 2008, the Supreme Court ordered the setting up of a 

Special Investigation Team (SIT) to reinvestigate the Godhra 

train burning case and key cases of post-Godhra violence. The 

former CBI Director R. K. Raghavan was appointed to chair the 

Team. Christophe Jaffrelot notes that the SIT was not as 

independent as commonly believed. Other than Raghavan, half 

of the six members of the team were recruited from the Gujarat 

police, and the Gujarat High Court was still responsible for 

appointing judicial officers. The SIT made efforts to appoint 

independent prosecutors but some of them resigned due to 

their inability to function. No efforts were made to protect the 

witnesses and Raghavan himself was said to be an "absentee 

investigator," who spent only a few days every month in 

Gujarat, with the investigations being conducted by the 

remainder of the team.  

As of April 2013, 249 convictions had been secured of 184 

Hindus and 65 Muslims. Thirty-one of the Muslim convictions 

were for the massacre of Hindus in Godhra.  

Best Bakery case 

The Best Bakery murder trial received wide attention after 

witnesses retracted testimony in court and all of the accused 

were acquitted. The Indian Supreme Court, acting on a petition 

by social activist Teesta Setalvad, ordered a retrial outside 
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Gujarat in which nine accused were found guilty in 2006. A 

key witness, Zaheera Sheikh, who repeatedly changed her 

testimony during the trials and the petition was found guilty of 

perjury.  

Bilkis Bano case 

After police dismissed the case against her assailants, Bilkis 

Bano approached the National Human Rights Commission of 

India and petitioned the Supreme Court seeking a 

reinvestigation. The Supreme Court granted the motion, 

directing the Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) to take over 

the investigation. CBI appointed a team of experts from the 

Central Forensic Science Laboratory (CFSL) Delhi and All India 

Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS) under the guidance and 

leadership of Professor T. D. Dogra of AIIMS to exhume the 

mass graves to established the identity and cause of death of 

victims. The team successfully located and exhumed the 

remains of victims. 

The trial of the case was transferred out of Gujarat and the 

central government was directed to appoint a public 

prosecutor. Charges were filed in a Mumbai court against 

nineteen people as well as six police officials and a government 

doctor over their role in the initial investigations. In January 

2008, eleven men were sentenced to life imprisonment for 

rapes and murders and a policeman was convicted of falsifying 

evidence. 

The Bombay High Court upheld the life imprisonment of eleven 

men convicted for the gang rape of Bilkis Bano and murder of 

her family members during the 2002 Gujarat riots on 8 May 
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2017. The court also set aside the acquittal of the remaining 

seven accused in the case, including Gujarat police officers 

and doctors of a government hospital, who were charged with 

suppressing and tampering with evidence. Later, the final 

verdict came on 23 April 2019 as the Supreme Court ordered 

the Gujarat government to pay Bilkis Yakoob Rasool Bano ₹50 

lakh as compensation, a government job and housing in the 

area of her choice.  

Avdhootnagar case 

In 2005, the Vadodara fast-track court acquitted 108 people 

accused of murdering two youths during a mob attack on a 

group of displaced Muslims returning under police escort to 

their homes in Avdhootnagar. 

The court passed strictures against the police for failing to 

protect the people under their escort and failing to identify the 

attackers they had seen.  

Danilimda case 

Nine people were convicted of killing a Hindu man and injuring 

another during group clashes in Danilimda, Ahmedabad on 12 

April 2005, while twenty-five others were acquitted.  

Eral case 

Eight people, including a VHP leader and a member of the BJP, 

were convicted for the murder of seven members of a family 

and the rape of two minor girls in the village of Eral in 

Panchmahal district.  
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Pavagadh and Dhikva case 

Fifty-two people from Pavagadh and Dhikva villages in 

Panchmahal district were acquitted of rioting charges for lack 

of evidence.  

Godhra train-burning case 

A stringent anti-terror law, the POTA, was used by the Gujarat 

government to charge 131 people in connection to the Godhra 

train fire, but not invoked in prosecuting any of the accused in 

the post-Godhra riots. 

In 2005 the POTA Review Committee set up by the central 

government to review the application of the law opined that the 

Godhra accused should not have been tried under the 

provisions of POTA.  

In February 2011 a special fast track court convicted thirty-

one Muslims for the Godhra train burning incident and the 

conspiracy for the crime  

Dipda Darwaza case 

On 9 November 2011, a court in Ahmedabad sentenced thirty-

one Hindus to life imprisonment for murdering dozens of 

Muslims by burning a building in which they took shelter. 

Forty-one other Hindus were acquitted of murder charges due 

to a lack of evidence. Twenty-two further people were convicted 

for attempted murder on 30 July 2012, while sixty-one others 

were acquitted.  
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Naroda Patiya Massacre 

On 29 July 2012, an Indian court convicted thirty people in 

the Naroda Patiya massacre case for their involvement in the 

attacks. The convicted included former state minister Maya 

Kodnani and Hindu leader Babu Bajrangi. The court case 

began in 2009, and over three hundred people (including 

victims, witnesses, doctors, and journalists) testified before the 

court. For the first time, the verdict acknowledged the role of a 

politician in inciting Hindu mobs. 

Activists asserted that the verdict would embolden the 

opponent of Narendra Modi, the then chief minister of Gujarat, 

in the crucial run-up to state elections later that year, when 

Modi would be seeking a third term (The BJP and he eventually 

went on to win the elections). Modi refused to apologise and 

denied that the government had a role in the riots. Twenty-

nine people were acquitted during the verdict. Teesta Setalvad 

said "For the first time, this judgment actually goes beyond 

neighborhood perpetrators and goes up to the political 

conspiracy. The fact that convictions have gone that high 

means the conspiracy charge has been accepted and the 

political influencing of the mobs has been accepted by the 

judge. This is a huge victory for justice."  

Perjury cases 

In April 2009, the SIT submitted before the Court that Teesta 

Setalvad had cooked up cases of violence to spice up the 

incidents. The SIT which is headed by former CBI director, R. 

K. Raghavan has said that false witnesses were tutored to give 

evidence about imaginary incidents by Setalvad and other 
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NGOs. The SIT charged her of "cooking up macabre tales of 

killings." The court was told that twenty-two witnesses, who 

had submitted identical affidavits before various courts 

relating to riot incidents, were questioned by SIT and it was 

found that the witnesses had not actually witnessed the 

incidents and they were tutored and the affidavits were handed 

over to them by Setalvad.  

Inquiries 

There were more than sixty investigations by national and 

international bodies many of which concluded that the violence 

was supported by state officials. A report from the National 

Human Rights Commission of India (NHRC) stated that res ipsa 

loquitur applied as the state had comprehensively failed to 

protect uphold the rights of the people as set out in the 

Constitution of India. It faulted the Gujarat government for 

failure of intelligence, failure to take appropriate action, and 

failure to identify local factors and players. NHRC also 

expressed "widespread lack of faith" in the integrity of the 

investigation of major incidents of violence. It recommended 

that five critical cases should be transferred to the Central 

Bureau of Investigation (CBI).  

The US State Department's International Religious Freedom 

Report quoted the NHRC as concluding that the attacks had 

been premeditated, that state government officials were 

complicit, and that there was evidence of police not acting 

during the assaults on Muslims. The US State Department also 

cited how Gujarat's high school textbooks described Hitler's 

"charismatic personality" and the "achievements of Nazism." 

US Congressmen John Conyers and Joe Pitts subsequently 
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introduced a resolution in the House condemning the conduct 

of Modi for inciting religious persecution. They stated that 

Modi's government had a role in "promoting the attitudes of 

racial supremacy, racial hatred and the legacy of Nazism 

through his government's support of school textbooks in which 

Nazism is glorified." They also wrote a letter to the US State 

Department asking it deny Modi a visa to the United States.  

The CCT consisting of eminent high court judges released a 

detailed three-volume report on the riots. Headed by retired 

Supreme Court Justice Krishna Iyer, the CCT released its 

findings in 2003 and stated that, contrary to the government 

allegation of a conspiracy in Godhra, the incident had not been 

pre-planned and there was no evidence to indicate otherwise. 

On the statewide riots, the CCT reported that, several days 

before the Godhra incident, which was the excuse used for the 

attacks, homes belonging to Hindus in Muslim areas had been 

marked with pictures of Hindu deities or saffron flags, and that 

this had been done to prevent any accidental assaults on 

Hindu homes or businesses. The CCT investigation also 

discovered evidence that the VHP and the Bajrang Dal had 

training camps in which people were taught to view Muslims as 

an enemy. These camps were backed and supported by the BJP 

and RSS. They also reported that "The complicity of the state 

government is obvious. And, the support of the central 

government to the state government in all that it did is also by 

now a matter of common knowledge."  

The state government commissioned J. G. Shah to conduct, 

what became, a controversial one man inquiry into the Godhra 

incident, its credibility was questioned and the NHRC and the 

National Minorities Commission requested that a sitting judge 
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from the supreme court be appointed. The supreme court 

overturned the findings by Shah stating, "this judgement is not 

based on the understanding of any evidence, but on 

imagination."  

Early in 2003, the state government of Gujarat set up the 

Nanavati-Shah commission to investigate the entire incident, 

from the initial one at Godhra to the ensuing violence. The 

commission was caught up in controversy from the beginning. 

Activists and members of the opposition insisted on a judicial 

commission to be set up and headed by a sitting judge rather 

than a retired one from the high court. The state government 

refused. Within a few months Nanavati, before hearing any 

testimony declared there was no evidence of lapses by either 

the police or government in their handling of the violence. In 

2008 Shah died and was replaced by Justice Akshay Mehta, 

another retired high court judge. 

Metha's appointment was controversial as he was the judge 

who allowed Babu Bajrangi, a prime suspect in the massacre 

Naroda Patiya massacre, to be released on bail. In July 2013 

the commission was given its 20th extension, and Mukul Sinha 

of the civil rights group Jan Sangharsh Manch said of the 

delays "I think the Commission has lost its significance and it 

now seems to be awaiting the outcome of the 2014 Lok Sabha 

election." In 2007 Tehelka in an undercover operation had said 

that the Nanavati-Shah commission had relied on 

"manufactured evidence." Tehelka editor Tarun Tejpal has 

claimed that they had taped witnesses who stated they had 

given false testimony after they had been bribed by the 

Gujarati police force. Tehelka also recorded Ranjitsinh Patel 

where he stated that he and Prabhatsinh Patel had been paid 
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fifty thousand rupees each to amend earlier statements and to 

identify some Muslims as conspirators. According to B G 

Verghese, the Tehelka expose was far too detailed to have been 

fake.  

A fact finding mission by the Sahmat organisation led by Dr. 

Kamal Mitra Chenoy concluded that the violence was more akin 

to ethnic cleansing or a pogrom rather than communal 

violence. The report said that the violence surpassed other 

periods of communal violence such as in 1969, 1985, 1989, 

and 1992 not only in the total loss of life, but also in the 

savagery of the attacks.  

Aftermath 

Rioting in Gujarat 

There was widespread destruction of property. 273 dargahs, 

241 mosques, 19 temples, and 3 churches were either 

destroyed or damaged. It is estimated that Muslim property 

losses were "100,000 houses, 1,100 hotels, 15,000 businesses, 

3,000 handcarts and 5,000 vehicles." Overall, 27,780 people 

were arrested. Of them, 11,167 were arrested for criminal 

behavior (3,269 Muslim, 7,896 Hindu) and 16,615 were 

arrested as a preventive measure (2,811 Muslim, 13,804 

Hindu). The CCT tribunal reported that 90 percent of those 

arrested were almost immediately granted bail, even if they had 

been arrested on suspicion of murder or arson. There were also 

media reports that political leaders gave those being released 

public welcomes. This contradicts the state government's 

statement during the violence that: "Bail applications of all 

accused persons are being strongly defended and rejected."  
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Police transfers 

According to R. B. Sreekumar, police officers who followed the 

rule of law and helped prevent the riots from spreading were 

punished by the Modi government. They were subjected to 

disciplinary proceedings and transfers with some having to 

leave the state. Sreekumar also claims it is common practice to 

intimidate whistleblowers and otherwise subvert the justice 

system, and that the state government issued 

"unconstitutional directives", with officials asking him to kill 

Muslims involved in rioting or disrupting a Hindu religious 

event. The Gujarat government denied his allegations, claiming 

that they were "baseless" and based on malice because 

Sreekumar had not been promoted.  

Further violence promotion by extremist groups 

Following the violence Bal Thackeray then leader of the Hindu 

nationalist group Shiv Sena said "Muslims are a cancer to this 

country. Cancer is an incurable disease. Its only cure is 

operation. O Hindus, take weapons in your hands and remove 

this cancer from your roots." Pravin Togadia, international 

president of the Vishva Hindu Parishad (VHP), said "All 

Hindutva opponents will get the death sentence" and Ashok 

Singhal, the then president of the VHP, has said that the 

violence in Gujarat was a "successful experiment" which would 

be repeated nationwide.  

The militant group Indian Mujahideen have carried out attacks 

in revenge and to also act as a deterrent against further 

instances of mass violence against Muslims. They also claimed 

to have carried out the 2008 Delhi bombings in revenge for 
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mistreatment of Muslims, referencing the destruction of the 

Babri Mosque and the violence in Gujarat 2002. In September 

2002 there was an attack on the Hindu temple of Akshardham, 

gunmen carried letters on their persons which suggested that 

it was a revenge attack for the violence that Muslims had 

undergone. In August 2002 Shahid Ahmad Bakshi, an 

operative for the militant group Lashkar-e-Toiba planned to 

assassinate Modi, Pravin Togadia of the VHP, and other 

members of the right wing nationalist movement to avenge the 

2002 Gujarat violence.  

Human Rights Watch has accused the state of orchestrating a 

cover-up of their role in the violence. Human rights activists 

and Indian solicitors have urged that legislation be passed so 

that "communal violence is treated as genocide." Following the 

violence thousands of Muslims were fired from their places of 

work, and those who tried to return home had to endure an 

economic and social boycott.  

Organisational changes and political reactions 

On 3 May 2002, former Punjab police chief Kanwar Pal Singh 

Gill was appointed as security adviser to Modi. Defending the 

Modi administration in the Rajya Sabha against charges of 

genocide, BJP spokesman V. K. Malhotra said that the official 

toll of 254 Hindus, killed mostly by police fire, indicates how 

the state authorities took effective steps to curb the violence. 

Opposition parties and three coalition partners of the BJP-led 

central government demanded the dismissal of Modi for failing 

to contain the violence, with some calling for the removal of 

Union Home Minister L. K. Advani as well.  
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On 18 July, Modi asked the Governor of Gujarat to dissolve the 

state assembly and call fresh elections. The Indian Election 

Commission ruled out early elections citing the prevailing law 

and order situation and held them in December 2002. The BJP 

capitalised on the violence using posters and videotapes of the 

Godhra incident and painting Muslims as terrorists. The party 

gained in all the constituencies affected by the communal 

violence and a number of candidates implicated in the violence 

were elected, which in turn ensured freedom from prosecution.  

Media investigation 

In 2004, the weekly magazine Tehelka published a hidden 

camera exposé alleging that BJP legislator Madhu Srivastava 

bribed Zaheera Sheikh, a witness in the Best Bakery case. 

Srivastava denied the allegation, and an inquiry committee 

appointed by the Supreme Court drew an "adverse inference" 

from the video footage, though it failed to uncover evidence 

that money was actually paid. In a 2007 expose, the magazine 

released hidden camera footage of several members of the BJP, 

VHP and the Bajrang Dal admitting their role in the riots. 

Among those featured in the tapes was the special counsel 

representing the Gujarat government before the Nanavati-Shah 

Commission, 

Arvind Pandya, who resigned from his post after the release. 

While the report was criticised by some as being politically 

motivated, some newspapers said the revelations simply 

reinforced what was common knowledge. 

However, the report contradicted official records with regard to 

Modi's alleged visit to Naroda Patiya and a local police 
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superintendent's location. The Gujarat government blocked 

telecast of cable news channels broadcasting the expose, a 

move strongly condemned by the Editors Guild of India.  

Taking a stand decried by the media and other rights groups, 

Nafisa Hussain, a member of the National Commission for 

Women accused organisations and the media of needlessly 

exaggerating the plight of women victims of the riots, which 

was strongly disputed as Gujarat did not have a State 

Commission for Women to act on the ground. The newspaper 

Tribune reported that "The National Commission for Women 

has reluctantly agreed to the complicity of Gujarat Government 

in the communal violence in the state." The tone of their most 

recent report was reported by the Tribune as "lenient".  

Special Investigation Team 

In April 2012, the three-member SIT formed in 2008 by the 

Supreme Court as a response to a petition by one of the 

aggrieved in the Gulmerg massacre absolved Modi of any 

involvement in the Gulberg massacre, arguably the worst 

episode of the riots.  

In his report, Raju Ramachandran, the amicus curiae for the 

case, strongly disagreed with a key conclusion of R. K. 

Raghavan who led SIT: that IPS officer Sanjiv Bhatt was not 

present at a late-night meeting of top Gujarat cops held at the 

Chief Minister's residence in the wake of 27 February 2002 

Godhra carnage. It has been Bhatt's claim—made in an 

affidavit before the apex court and in statements to the SIT 

and the amicus—that he was present at the meeting where 

Modi allegedly said Hindus must be allowed to carry out 
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retaliatory violence against Muslims. Ramachandran was of the 

opinion that Modi could be prosecuted for alleged statements 

he had made. He said there was no clinching material available 

in the pre-trial stage to disbelieve Bhatt, whose claim could be 

tested only in court. "Hence, it cannot be said, at this stage, 

that Shri Bhatt should be disbelieved and no further 

proceedings should be taken against Shri Modi."  

Further, R. K. Shah, the public prosecutor in the Gulbarg 

Society massacre, resigned because he found it impossible to 

work with the SIT and further stated that "Here I am collecting 

witnesses who know something about a gruesome case in 

which so many people, mostly women and children huddled in 

Jafri's house, were killed and I get no cooperation. The SIT 

officers are unsympathetic towards witnesses, they try to 

browbeat them and don't share evidence with the prosecution 

as they are supposed to do." Teesta Setalvad referred to the 

stark inequalities between the SIT team's lawyers who are paid 

9 lakh rupees per day and the government prosecutors who are 

paid a pittance. SIT officers have been paid Rs. 1.5 lakh per 

month for their participation in the SIT since 2008.  

Diplomatic ban 

Modi's failure to stop anti-Muslim violence led to a de facto 

travel ban imposed by the United Kingdom, United States, and 

several European nations, as well as the boycott of his 

provincial government by all but the most junior officials. In 

2005, Modi was refused a US visa as someone held responsible 

for a serious violation of religious freedom. Modi had been 

invited to the US to speak before the Asian-American Hotel 

Owners Association. A petition was set up by Coalition Against 
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Genocide led by Angana Chatterji and signed by 125 academics 

requesting that Modi be refused a diplomatic visa.  

Hindu groups in the US also protested and planned to 

demonstrate in cities in Florida. A resolution was submitted by 

John Conyers and Joseph R. Pitts in the House of 

Representatives which condemned Modi for inciting religious 

persecution. Pitts also wrote to then United States Secretary of 

State Condoleezza Rice requesting Modi be refused a visa. On 

19 March Modi was denied a diplomatic visa and his tourist 

visa was revoked.  

As Modi rose to prominence in India, the UK and the EU lifted 

their bans in October 2012 and March 2013, respectively, and 

after his election as prime minister he was invited to 

Washington, in the US.  

Relief efforts 

By 27 March 2002, nearly one-hundred thousand displaced 

people moved into 101 relief camps. This swelled to over 

150,000 in 104 camps the next two weeks. The camps were run 

by community groups and NGOs, with the government 

committing to provide amenities and supplementary services. 

Drinking water, medical help, clothing and blankets were in 

short supply at the camps. At least another 100 camps were 

denied government support, according to a camp organiser, 

and relief supplies were prevented from reaching some camps 

due to fears that they may be carrying arms.  

Reactions to the relief effort were further critical of the Gujarat 

government. Relief camp organisers alleged that the state 
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government was coercing refugees to leave relief camps, with 

twenty-five thousand people made to leave eighteen camps 

which were shut down. Following government assurances that 

further camps would not be shut down, the Gujarat High Court 

bench ordered that camp organizers be given a supervisory role 

to ensure that assurances were met.  

On 9 September 2002, Modi mentioned during a speech that he 

was against running relief camps. In January 2010, the 

Supreme Court ordered the government to hand over the 

speech and other documents to the SIT.  

What brother, should we run relief camps? Should I start 

children-producing centres there? We want to achieve progress 

by pursuing the policy of family planning with determination. 

Ame paanch, Amara pachhees! (we are five and we have twenty-

five) . . . Can't Gujarat implement family planning? Whose 

inhibitions are coming in our way? Which religious sect is 

coming in the way? . . ." 

On 23 May 2008, the Union Government announced a 3.2 

billion rupee (US$80 million) relief package for the victims of 

the riots. In contrast, Amnesty International's annual report on 

India in 2003 claimed the "Gujarat government did not actively 

fulfill its duty to provide appropriate relief and rehabilitation 

to the survivors". The Gujarat government initially offered 

compensation payments of 200,000 rupees to the families of 

those who died in the Godhra train fire and 100,000 rupees to 

the families of those who died in the subsequent riots, which 

local Muslims took to be discriminatory.  

  



Chapter 5 

A. P. J. Abdul Kalam 

Avul Pakir Jainulabdeen Abdul Kalam (15 October 1931 – 27 

July 2015) was an Indian aerospace scientist who served as the 

11thPresident of India from 2002 to 2007. He was born and 

raised in Rameswaram, Tamil Nadu and studied physics and 

aerospace engineering. He spent the next four decades as a 

scientist and science administrator, mainly at the Defence 

Research and Development Organisation (DRDO) and Indian 

Space Research Organisation (ISRO) and was intimately 

involved in India's civilian space programme and military 

missile development efforts. He thus came to be known as the 

Missile Man of India for his work on the development of 

ballistic missile and launch vehicle technology. He also played 

a pivotal organisational, technical, and political role in India's 

Pokhran-II nuclear tests in 1998, the first since the original 

nuclear test by India in 1974.  

Kalam was elected as the 11th President of India in 2002 with 

the support of both the ruling Bharatiya Janata Party and the 

then-opposition Indian National Congress. Widely referred to 

as the "People's President", he returned to his civilian life of 

education, writing and public service after a single term. He 

was a recipient of several prestigious awards, including the 

Bharat Ratna, India's highest civilian honour.  

While delivering a lecture at the Indian Institute of 

Management Shillong, Kalam collapsed and died from an 

apparent cardiac arrest on 27 July 2015, aged 83. Thousands, 
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including national-level dignitaries, attended the funeral 

ceremony held in his hometown of Rameswaram, where he was 

buried with full state honours.  

Early life and education 

Avul Pakir Jainulabdeen Abdul Kalam was born on 15 October 

1931 to a Tamil Muslim family in the pilgrimage centre of 

Rameswaram on Pamban Island, then in the Madras Presidency 

and now in the State of Tamil Nadu. His father Jainulabdeen 

Marakayar was a boat owner and imam of a local mosque; his 

mother Ashiamma was a housewife. His father owned a ferry 

that took Hindu pilgrims back and forth between Rameswaram 

and the now uninhabited Dhanushkodi. Kalam was the 

youngest of four brothers and one sister in his family. His 

ancestors had been wealthy Marakayar traders and 

landowners, with numerous properties and large tracts of land. 

Even though his ancestors had been wealthy Marakayar 

traders, the family had lost most of its fortunes by the 1920s 

and was poverty-stricken by the time Kalam was born. 

Marakayar are a Muslim ethnic found in coastal Tamil Nadu 

and Sri Lanka who claim descendance from arab traders and 

local women. 

Their business had involved trading groceries between the 

mainland and the island and to and from Sri Lanka, as well as 

ferrying pilgrims between the mainland and Pamban. As a 

young boy he had to sell newspapers in order to add to the 

family’s meager income. With the opening of the Pamban 

Bridge to the mainland in 1914, however, the businesses failed 

and the family fortune and properties were lost over time, 

apart from the ancestral home.  
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In his school years, Kalam had average grades but was 

described as a bright and hardworking student who had a 

strong desire to learn. He spent hours on his studies, 

especially mathematics. After completing his education at the 

Schwartz Higher Secondary School, Ramanathapuram, Kalam 

went on to attend Saint Joseph's College, Tiruchirappalli, then 

affiliated with the University of Madras, from where he 

graduated in physics in 1954. 

He moved to Madras in 1955 to study aerospace engineering in 

Madras Institute of Technology. While Kalam was working on a 

senior class project, the Dean was dissatisfied with his lack of 

progress and threatened to revoke his scholarship unless the 

project was finished within the next three days. Kalam met the 

deadline, impressing the Dean, who later said to him, "I was 

putting you under stress and asking you to meet a difficult 

deadline". He narrowly missed achieving his dream of becoming 

a fighter pilot, as he placed ninth in qualifiers, and only eight 

positions were available in the IAF.  

Career as a scientist 

• After graduating from the Madras Institute of 

Technology in 1960, Kalam joined the Aeronautical 

Development Establishment of the Defence Research 

and Development Organisation (by Press Information 

Bureau, Government of India) as a scientist after 

becoming a member of the Defence Research & 

Development Service (DRDS). He started his career 

by designing a small hovercraft, but remained 

unconvinced by his choice of a job at DRDO. Kalam 

was also part of the INCOSPAR committee working 
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under Vikram Sarabhai, the renowned space 

scientist. In 1969, Kalam was transferred to the 

Indian Space Research Organisation (ISRO) where he 

was the project director of India's first Satellite 

Launch Vehicle (SLV-III) which successfully deployed 

the Rohini satellite in near-earth orbit in July 1980; 

Kalam had first started work on an expandable 

rocket project independently at DRDO in 1965. In 

1969, Kalam received the government's approval and 

expanded the programme to include more engineers. 

In 1963 to 1964, he visited NASA's Langley Research Center in 

Hampton, Virginia; Goddard Space Flight Center in Greenbelt, 

Maryland; and Wallops Flight Facility. Between the 1970s and 

1990s, Kalam made an effort to develop the Polar Satellite 

Launch Vehicle (PSLV) and SLV-III projects, both of which 

proved to be successful.  

Kalam was invited by Raja Ramanna to witness the country's 

first nuclear test Smiling Buddha as the representative of 

TBRL, even though he had not participated in its development. 

In the 1970s, Kalam also directed two projects, Project Devil 

and Project Valiant, which sought to develop ballistic missiles 

from the technology of the successful SLV programme. Despite 

the disapproval of the Union Cabinet, Prime Minister Indira 

Gandhi allotted secret funds for these aerospace projects 

through her discretionary powers under Kalam's directorship. 

Kalam played an integral role convincing the Union Cabinet to 

conceal the true nature of these classified aerospace projects. 

His research and educational leadership brought him great 

laurels and prestige in the 1980s, which prompted the 

government to initiate an advanced missile programme under 
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his directorship. Kalam and Dr V S Arunachalam, metallurgist 

and scientific adviser to the Defence Minister, worked on the 

suggestion by the then Defence Minister, R. Venkataraman on 

a proposal for simultaneous development of a quiver of 

missiles instead of taking planned missiles one after another. 

R Venkatraman was instrumental in getting the cabinet 

approval for allocating ₹ 3.88 billion for the mission, named 

Integrated Guided Missile Development Programme (IGMDP) 

and appointed Kalam as the chief executive. Kalam played a 

major part in developing many missiles under the mission 

including Agni, an intermediate range ballistic missile and 

Prithvi, the tactical surface-to-surface missile, although the 

projects have been criticised for mismanagement and cost and 

time overruns.  

Kalam served as the Chief Scientific Adviser to the Prime 

Minister and Secretary of the Defence Research and 

Development Organisation from July 1992 to December 1999. 

The Pokhran-II nuclear tests were conducted during this period 

in which he played an intensive political and technological 

role. Kalam served as the Chief Project Coordinator, along with 

Rajagopala Chidambaram, during the testing phase. Media 

coverage of Kalam during this period made him the country's 

best known nuclear scientist. However, the director of the site 

test, K Santhanam, said that the thermonuclear bomb had 

been a "fizzle" and criticised Kalam for issuing an incorrect 

report. Both Kalam and Chidambaram dismissed the claims.  

In 1998, along with cardiologist Soma Raju, Kalam developed a 

low cost coronary stent, named the "Kalam-Raju Stent". In 

2012, the duo designed a rugged tablet computer for health 

care in rural areas, which was named the "Kalam-Raju Tablet".  
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Presidency 

Kalam served as the 11th President of India, succeeding K. R. 

Narayanan. He won the 2002 presidential election with an 

electoral vote of 922,884, surpassing the 107,366 votes won by 

Lakshmi Sahgal. His term lasted from 25 July 2002 to 25 July 

2007.  

On 10 June 2002, the National Democratic Alliance (NDA) 

which was in power at the time, expressed that they would 

nominate Kalam for the post of President, and both the 

Samajwadi Party and the Nationalist Congress Party backed his 

candidacy. After the Samajwadi Party announced its support 

for Kalam, Narayanan chose not to seek a second term in 

office, leaving the field clear. Kalam said of the announcement 

of his candidature:  

I am really overwhelmed. Everywhere both in Internet and in 

other media, I have been asked for a message. I was thinking 

what message I can give to the people of the country at this 

juncture. 

On 18 June, Kalam filed his nomination papers in the Indian 

Parliament, accompanied by Vajpayee and his senior Cabinet 

colleagues.  

The polling for the presidential election began on 15 July 2002 

in Parliament and the state assemblies, with the media 

claiming that the election was a one-sided affair and Kalam's 

victory was a foregone conclusion; the count was held on 18 

July. Kalam became the 11th president of the Republic of India 

in an easy victory, and moved into the Rashtrapati Bhavan 
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after he was sworn in on 25 July. Kalam was the third 

President of India to have been honoured with a Bharat Ratna, 

India's highest civilian honour, before becoming the President 

Sarvepalli Radhakrishnan (1954) and Zakir Hussain (1963) 

were the earlier recipients of Bharat Ratna who later became 

the President of India. He was also the first scientist and the 

first bachelor to occupy Rashtrapati Bhawan.  

During his term as president, he was affectionately known as 

the People's President, saying that signing the Office of Profit 

Bill was the toughest decision he had taken during his tenure. 

Kalam was criticised for his inaction in deciding the fate of 20 

out of the 21 mercy petitions submitted to him during his 

tenure. Article 72 of the Constitution of India empowers the 

President of India to grant pardons, and suspend or commute 

the death sentence of convicts on death row. Kalam acted on 

only one mercy plea in his five-year tenure as president, 

rejecting the plea of rapist Dhananjoy Chatterjee, who was 

later hanged. Perhaps the most notable plea was from Afzal 

Guru, a Kashmiri terrorist who was convicted of conspiracy in 

the December 2001 attack on the Indian Parliament and was 

sentenced to death by the Supreme Court of India in 2004. 

While the sentence was scheduled to be carried out on 20 

October 2006, the pending action on his mercy plea resulted in 

him remaining on death row. He also took the controversial 

decision to impose President's Rule in Bihar in 2005.  

In September 2003, in an interactive session in PGI 

Chandigarh, Kalam supported the need of Uniform Civil Code 

in India, keeping in view the population of the country.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 1 

147 

 

At the end of his term, on 20 June 2007, Kalam expressed his 

willingness to consider a second term in office provided there 

was certainty about his victory in the 2007 presidential 

election. However, two days later, he decided not to contest the 

Presidential election again stating that he wanted to avoid 

involving Rashtrapati Bhavan from any political processes. He 

did not have the support of the left parties, Shiv Sena and UPA 

constituents, to receive a renewed mandate.  

Nearing the expiry of the term of the 12th President Pratibha 

Patil on 24 July 2012, media reports in April claimed that 

Kalam was likely to be nominated for his second term. After 

the reports, social networking sites witnessed a number of 

people supporting his candidature. The BJP potentially backed 

his nomination, saying that the party would lend their support 

if the Trinamool Congress, Samajwadi Party and Indian 

National Congress proposed him for the 2012 presidential 

election.  

A month ahead of the election, Mulayam Singh Yadav and 

Mamata Banerjee also expressed their support for Kalam. Days 

afterwards, Mulayam Singh Yadav backed out, leaving Mamata 

Banerjee as the solitary supporter. On 18 June 2012, Kalam 

declined to contest the 2012 presidential poll. He said of his 

decision not to do so:  

Many, many citizens have also expressed the same wish. It 

only reflects their love and affection for me and the aspiration 

of the people. I am really overwhelmed by this support. This 

being their wish, I respect it. I want to thank them for the 

trust they have in me. 
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Post-presidency 

After leaving office, Kalam became a visiting professor at the 

Indian Institute of Management Shillong, the Indian Institute 

of Management Ahmedabad, and the Indian Institute of 

Management Indore; an honorary fellow of Indian Institute of 

Science, Bangalore; chancellor of the Indian Institute of Space 

Science and Technology Thiruvananthapuram; professor of 

Aerospace Engineering at Anna University; and an adjunct at 

many other academic and research institutions across India. 

He taught information technology at the International Institute 

of Information Technology, Hyderabad, and technology at 

Banaras Hindu University and Anna University.  

In May 2012, Kalam launched a programme for the youth of 

India called the What Can I Give Movement, with a central 

theme of defeating corruption.  

In 2011, Kalam was criticised by civil groups over his stand on 

the Koodankulam Nuclear Power Plant; he supported the 

establishment of the nuclear power plant and was accused of 

not speaking with the local people. The protesters were hostile 

to his visit as they saw him as a pro-nuclear scientist and were 

unimpressed by the assurances he provided regarding the 

safety features of the plant.  

Death 

On 27 July 2015, Kalam travelled to Shillong to deliver a 

lecture on "Creating a Livable Planet Earth" at the Indian 

Institute of Management Shillong. While climbing a flight of 

stairs, he experienced some discomfort, but was able to enter 
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the auditorium after a brief rest. At around 6:35 p.m. IST, only 

five minutes into his lecture, he collapsed. He was rushed to 

the nearby Bethany Hospital in a critical condition; upon 

arrival, he lacked a pulse or any other signs of life. Despite 

being placed in the intensive care unit, Kalam was confirmed 

dead of a sudden cardiac arrest at 7:45 p.m. IST. His last 

words, to his aide Srijan Pal Singh, were reportedly: "Funny 

guy! Are you doing well?"  

Following his death, Kalam's body was airlifted in an Indian 

Air Force helicopter from Shillong to Guwahati, from where it 

was flown to New Delhi on the morning of 28 July in an air 

force C-130J Hercules. The flight landed at Palam Air Base 

that afternoon and was received by the President, the Vice-

President, the Prime Minister, Chief Minister of Delhi Arvind 

Kejriwal, and the three service chiefs of the Indian Armed 

Forces, who laid wreaths on Kalam's body. His body was then 

placed on a gun carriage draped with the Indian flag and taken 

to his Delhi residence at 10 Rajaji Marg; there, the public and 

numerous dignitaries paid homage, including former prime 

minister Manmohan Singh, Congress President Sonia Gandhi 

and Vice-President Rahul Gandhi, and Uttar Pradesh Chief 

Minister Akhilesh Yadav.  

On the morning of 29 July, Kalam's body, wrapped in the 

Indian flag, was taken to Palam Air Base and flown to Madurai 

in an air force C-130J aircraft, arriving at Madurai Airport that 

afternoon. His body was received at the airport by the three 

service chiefs and national and state dignitaries, including 

cabinet ministers Manohar Parrikar, Venkaiah Naidu, Pon 

Radhakrishnan and the governors of Tamil Nadu and 

Meghalaya, K Rosaiah and V. Shanmuganathan. After a brief 
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ceremony, Kalam's body was flown by air force helicopter to 

the town of Mandapam, from where it was taken in an army 

truck to his hometown of Rameswaram. Upon arriving at 

Rameswaram, his body was displayed in an open area in front 

of the local bus station to allow the public to pay their final 

respects until 8 p.m. that evening.  

On 30 July 2015, the former president was laid to rest at 

Rameswaram's Pei Karumbu Ground with full state honours. 

Over 350,000 people attended the last rites, including the 

Prime Minister, the governor of Tamil Nadu and the chief 

ministers of Karnataka, Kerala and Andhra Pradesh.  

Reactions 

India reacted to Kalam's death with an outpouring of grief; 

numerous tributes were paid to the former president across the 

nation and on social media. The Government of India declared 

a seven-day state mourning period as a mark of respect. 

President Pranab Mukherjee, Vice-President Hamid Ansari, 

Home Minister Rajnath Singh, and other leaders condoled the 

former President's demise. Prime Minister Narendra Modi said 

"Kalam's death is a great loss to the scientific community. He 

took India to great heights. He showed the way." Former Prime 

Minister Dr Manmohan Singh, who had served as prime 

minister under Kalam, said, "our country has lost a great 

human being who made phenomenal contributions to the 

promotion of self-reliance in defence technologies. I worked 

very closely with Dr. Kalam as prime minister and I greatly 

benefited from his advice as president of our country. His life 

and work will be remembered for generations to come." ISRO 

chairman A. S. Kiran Kumar called his former colleague "a 
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great personality and a gentleman", while former chairman G. 

Madhavan Nair described Kalam as "a global leader" for whom 

"the downtrodden and poor people were his priority. He always 

had a passion to convey what is in his mind to the young 

generation", adding that his death left a vacuum which none 

could fill.  

South Asian leaders expressed condolences and lauded the late 

statesman. The Bhutanese government ordered the country's 

flags to fly at half-staff to mourn Kalam's death and lit 1000 

butter lamps in homage. Bhutanese Prime Minister Tshering 

Tobgay expressed deep sadness, saying Kalam "was a leader 

greatly admired by all people, especially the youth of India who 

have referred to him as the people's President". Bangladesh 

Prime Minister Sheikh Hasina described Kalam as "a rare 

combination of a great statesman, acclaimed scientist, and a 

source of inspiration to the young generation of South Asia" 

and termed his death an "irreparable loss to India and 

beyond". Bangladesh Nationalist Party chief Khaleda Zia said 

"as a nuclear scientist, he engaged himself in the welfare of the 

people". 

Ashraf Ghani, the President of Afghanistan, called Kalam "an 

inspirational figure to millions of people," noting that "we have 

a lot to learn from his life". Nepalese Prime Minister Sushil 

Koirala recalled Kalam's scientific contributions to India: 

"Nepal has lost a good friend and I have lost an honoured and 

ideal personality." The President of Pakistan, Mamnoon 

Hussain, and Prime Minister of Pakistan Nawaz Sharif also 

expressed their grief and condolences on his death. The 

President of Sri Lanka, Maithripala Sirisena, also expressed 

his condolences. "Dr. Kalam was a man of firm conviction and 
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indomitable spirit, and I saw him as an outstanding statesman 

of the world. His death is an irreparable loss not only to India 

but to the entire world." Maldivian President Abdulla Yameen 

and Vice-President Ahmed Adeeb condoled Kalam's death, with 

Yameen naming him as a close friend of the Maldives who 

would continue to be an inspiration to Indians and generations 

of South Asians. 

Former President Maumoon Abdul Gayoom, who had made an 

official visit to India during Kalam's presidency, termed his 

demise as a great loss to all of humankind. The Commander-

in-Chief of the Myanmar Armed Forces, Senior General Min 

Aung Hlaing, expressed condolences on behalf of the Myanmar 

government. The Dalai Lama expressed his sadness and offered 

condolences and prayers, calling Kalam's death "an irreparable 

loss".  

Kathleen Wynne, the Premier of Ontario, which Kalam had 

visited on numerous occasions, expressed "deepest 

condolences ... as a respected scientist, he played a critical 

role in the development of the Indian space programme. As a 

committed educator, he inspired millions of young people to 

achieve their very best. And as a devoted leader, he gained 

support both at home and abroad, becoming known as 'the 

people's President'. I join our Indo–Canadian families, friends, 

and neighbours in mourning the passing of this respected 

leader." United States President Barack Obama extended 

"deepest condolences to the people of India on the passing of 

former Indian President Dr. APJ Abdul Kalam", and highlighted 

his achievements as a scientist and as a statesman, notably 

his role in strengthening US–India relations and increasing 

space co-operation between the two nations. "Suitably named 
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'the People's President', Dr. Kalam's humility and dedication to 

public service served as an inspiration to millions of Indians 

and admirers around the world." Russian President Vladimir 

Putin expressed sincere condolences and conveyed his 

sympathy and support "to the near and dear ones of the 

deceased leader, to the government, and entire people of 

India".  

He remarked on Kalam's outstanding "personal contribution to 

the social, economic, scientific, and technical progress of India 

and in ensuring its national security," adding that Kalam 

would be remembered as a "consistent exponent of closer 

friendly relations between our nations, who has done a lot for 

cementing mutually beneficial Russian–Indian cooperation." 

Other international leaders—including former Indonesian 

president Susilo Bambang Yudhoyono, Malaysian Prime 

Minister Najib Razak, Singaporean Prime Minister Lee Hsien 

Loong, President of the United Arab Emirates Sheikh Khalifa 

bin Zayed Al Nahyan, and Vice-President and Prime Minister of 

the United Arab Emirates and emir of Dubai Sheikh 

Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum—also paid tribute to 

Kalam. 

In a special gesture, Secretary-General of the United Nations 

Ban Ki-moon visited the Permanent Mission of India to the UN 

and signed a condolence book. "The outpouring of grief around 

the world is a testament of the respect and inspiration he has 

garnered during and after his presidency. 

The UN joins the people of India in sending our deepest 

condolences for this great statesman. May he rest in peace and 

eternity", Ban wrote in his message.  
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Memorial 

The Dr. A. P. J. Abdul Kalam National Memorial was built in 

memory of Kalam by the DRDO in Pei Karumbu, in the island 

town of Rameswaram, Tamil Nadu. It was inaugurated by Prime 

Minister Narendra Modi in July 2017. On display are the 

replicas of rockets and missiles which Kalam had worked with. 

Acrylic paintings about his life are also displayed along with 

hundreds of portraits depicting the life of the mass leader. 

There is a statue of Kalam in the entrance showing him playing 

the Veena. There are two other smaller statues of the leader in 

sitting and standing posture.  

Personal life 

Kalam was the youngest of five siblings, the eldest of whom 

was a sister, Asim Zohra (d. 1997), followed by three elder 

brothers: Mohammed Muthu Meera Lebbai Maraikayar (5 

November 1916 - 7 March 2021) Mustafa Kalam (d. 1999) and 

Kasim Mohammed (d. 1995). He was extremely close to his 

elder siblings and their extended families throughout his life, 

and would regularly send small sums of money to his older 

relations, himself remaining a lifelong bachelor.  

Kalam was noted for his integrity and his simple lifestyle. He 

never owned a television, and was in the habit of rising at 6:30 

or 7 a.m. and sleeping by 2 a.m. 

His few personal possessions included his books, his veena, 

some articles of clothing, a CD player and a laptop; at his 

death, he left no will, and his possessions went to his eldest 

brother, who survived him.  
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Religious and spiritual views 

Religion and spirituality were very important to Kalam 

throughout his life. In fact, he made his own spiritual journey 

the subject of his final book, Transcendence: My Spiritual 

Experiences with Pramukh Swamiji.  

Islam 

A proud and practising Muslim, daily namaz and fasting during 

Ramadan were integral to Kalam's life. His father, the imam of 

a mosque in his hometown of Rameswaram, had strictly 

instilled these Islamic customs in his children. His father had 

also impressed upon the young Kalam the value of interfaith 

respect and dialogue. As Kalam recalled: "Every evening, my 

father A. P. Jainulabdeen, an imam, Pakshi Lakshmana Sastry, 

the head priest of the Ramanathaswamy Hindu temple, and a 

church priest used to sit with hot tea and discuss the issues 

concerning the island." Such early exposure convinced Kalam 

that the answers to India's multitudinous issues lay in 

"dialogue and cooperation" among the country's religious, 

social, and political leaders. Moreover, since Kalam believed 

that "respect for other faiths" was one of the key cornerstones 

of Islam, he was fond of saying: "For great men, religion is a 

way of making friends; small people make religion a fighting 

tool."  

Syncretism 

One component of Kalam's widespread popularity among 

diverse groups in India, and an enduring aspect of his legacy, 
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is the syncretism he embodied in appreciating various elements 

of the many spiritual and cultural traditions of India. In 

addition to his faith in the Quran and Islamic practice, Kalam 

was well-versed in Hindu traditions; he learnt Sanskrit, read 

the Bhagavad Gita and he was a vegetarian. Kalam also 

enjoyed writing Tamil poetry, playing the veena (an ancient 

Indian string instrument), and listening to Carnatic devotional 

music every day. 

In 2002, in one of his early speeches to Parliament after 

becoming president, he reiterated his desire for a more united 

India, stating that "during the last one year I met a number of 

spiritual leaders of all religions ... and I would like to 

endeavour to work for bringing about unity of minds among the 

divergent traditions of our country". Describing Kalam as a 

unifier of diverse traditions, Congress leader Shashi Tharoor 

stated, "Kalam was a complete Indian, an embodiment of the 

eclecticism of India's heritage of diversity". BJP leader L. K. 

Advani concurred that Kalam was "the best exemplar of the 

Idea of India, one who embodied the best of all the cultural 

and spiritual traditions that signify India's unity in immense 

diversity. This was most strikingly evident in the second-to-

last book he published, presciently titled Transcendence: My 

Spiritual Experiences with Pramukh Swami".  

Pramukh Swami as Guru 

Kalam's desire to meet spiritual leaders to help create a more 

prosperous, spiritual, and unified India was what initially led 

him to meet Pramukh Swami, the Hindu guru of the BAPS 

Swaminarayan Sampradaya, who Kalam would come to 

consider his ultimate spiritual teacher and guru. The first of 
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eight meetings between Kalam and Pramukh Swami over a 

fourteen-year period took place on 30 June 2001 in New Delhi, 

during which Kalam described being immediately drawn to 

Pramukh Swami's simplicity and spiritual purity. Kalam stated 

that he was inspired by Pramukh Swami throughout their 

numerous interactions.  

One such incident occurred the day following the terrorist 

attack on BAPS' Akshardham, Gandhinagar complex in 

September 2002; Pramukh Swami prayed for, and sprinkled 

holy water upon, the sites of all of the deceased, including the 

terrorists, demonstrating the view that all human life is 

sacred. Kalam recalled being moved by Pramukh Swami's 

equanimity and compassion, citing this incident as one of his 

motivations for writing Transcendence: My Spiritual 

Experiences with Pramukh Swamiji. Summarising the effect 

that Pramukh Swami had on him, Kalam stated that "[Pramukh 

Swami] has indeed transformed me. He is the ultimate stage of 

the spiritual ascent in my life ... Pramukh Swamiji has put me 

in a God-synchronous orbit. No manoeuvres are required any 

more, as I am placed in my final position in eternity." 

Following Kalam's death a month after his final book was 

released, co-author Arun Tiwari pointed to this passage as 

potentially prophetic and premonitory of Kalam's death.  

Writings 

In his book India 2020, Kalam strongly advocated an action 

plan to develop India into a "knowledge superpower" and a 

developed nation by the year 2020. He regarded his work on 

India's nuclear weapons programme as a way to assert India's 

place as a future superpower.  
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I have identified five areas where India has a core competence 

for integrated action: (1) agriculture and food processing; (2) 

education and healthcare; (3) information and communication 

technology; (4) infrastructure, reliable and quality electric 

power, surface transport and infrastructure for all parts of the 

country; and (5) self-reliance in critical technologies. These 

five areas are closely inter-related and if advanced in a 

coordinated way, will lead to food, economic and national 

security. 

Kalam describes a "transformative moment" in his life when he 

asked Pramukh Swami, the guru of the BAPS Swaminarayan 

Sampradaya, how India might realise this five-pronged vision 

of development.  Pramukh Swami's answer—to add a sixth area 

developing faith in God and spirituality to overcome the 

current climate of crime and corruption—became the spiritual 

vision for the next 15 years Kalam's life, which he describes in 

his final book, Transcendence: My Spiritual Experiences with 

Pramukh Swamiji, published just a month before his death.  

It was reported that there was considerable demand in South 

Korea for translated versions of books authored by him.  

Kalam took an active interest in other developments in the 

field of science and technology, including a research 

programme for developing biomedical implants. He also 

supported open source technology over proprietary software, 

predicting that the use of free software on a large scale would 

bring the benefits of information technology to more people.  

Kalam set a target of interacting with 100,000 students during 

the two years after his resignation from the post of scientific 

adviser in 1999. He explained, "I feel comfortable in the 
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company of young people, particularly high school students. 

Henceforth, I intend to share with them experiences, helping 

them to ignite their imagination and preparing them to work 

for a developed India for which the road map is already 

available." His dream is to let every student to light up the sky 

with victory using their latent fire in the heart.  

Awards and honours 

Kalam received 7 honorary doctorates from 40 universities. The 

Government of India honoured him with the Padma Bhushan in 

1981 and the Padma Vibhushan in 1990 for his work with 

ISRO and DRDO and his role as a scientific advisor to the 

Government. In 1997, Kalam received India's highest civilian 

honour, the Bharat Ratna, for his contribution to the scientific 

research and modernisation of defence technology in India. In 

2013, he was the recipient of the Von Braun Award from the 

National Space Society "to recognize excellence in the 

management and leadership of a space-related project".  

In 2012, Kalam was ranked number 2 in Outlook India's poll of 

the Greatest Indian.  

Following his death, Kalam received numerous tributes. The 

Tamil Nadu state government announced that his birthday, 15 

October, would be observed across the state as "Youth 

Renaissance Day;" the state government further instituted the 

"Dr. A. P. J. Abdul Kalam Award", constituting an 8-gram gold 

medal, a certificate and ₹500,000 (US$7,000). The award will 

be awarded annually on Independence Day, beginning in 2015, 

to residents of the state with achievements in promoting 

scientific growth, the humanities or the welfare of students.  
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On the anniversary of Kalam's birth in 2015 the CBSE set 

topics on his name in the CBSE expression series.  

Prime Minister Narendra Modi ceremonially released postage 

stamps commemorating Kalam at DRDO Bhawan in New Delhi 

on 15 October 2015, the 84th anniversary of Kalam's birth.  

Researchers at the NASA's Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL) had 

discovered a new bacterium on the filters of the International 

Space Station (ISS) and named it Solibacillus kalamii to honour 

the late president Dr. A. P. J. Abdul Kalam.  

Several educational and scientific institutions and other 

locations were renamed or named in honour of Kalam following 

his death.  

• Kerala Technological University, headquartered at 

Thiruvananthapuram where Kalam lived for years, 

was renamed to A P J Abdul Kalam Technological 

University after his death. 

• An agricultural college at Kishanganj, Bihar, was 

renamed the "Dr. Kalam Agricultural College, 

Kishanganj" by the Bihar state government on the 

day of Kalam's funeral. The state government also 

announced it would name a proposed science city 

after Kalam. 

• India's First Medical Tech Institute named as Kalam 

Institute of Health Technology located at 

Visakhapatnam. 

• Uttar Pradesh Technical University (UPTU) was 

renamed A. P. J. Abdul Kalam Technical University 

by the Uttar Pradesh state government. 
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• A. P. J. Abdul Kalam Memorial Travancore Institute 

of Digestive Diseases, a new research institute in 

Kollam city, Kerala attached to the Travancore 

Medical College Hospital. 

• A new academic complex at Mahatma Gandhi 

University in Kerala. 

• Construction of Dr. A. P. J. Abdul Kalam Science 

City started in Patna in February 2019. 

• A new science centre and planetarium in Lawspet, 

Puducherry. 

• India and the US have launched the Fulbright-Kalam 

Climate Fellowship in September 2014. The first call 

for applicants was announced on Friday, 12 March 

2016, for the fellowship which will enable up to 6 

Indian PhD students and post-doctoral researchers 

to work with US host institutions for a period of 6–

12 months. The fellowship will be operated by the 

binational US-India Educational Foundation (USIEF) 

under the Fulbright programme. 

• Dr APJ Abdul Kalam Planetarium in Burla, 

Sambalpur, Odisha was named after him. 

Island 

Wheeler Island, a national missile test site in Odisha, was 

renamed Abdul Kalam Island in September 2015.  

Road 

A prominent road in New Delhi was renamed from Aurangzeb 

Road to Dr APJ Abdul Kalam Road in August 2015.  
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Plant species 

In February 2018, scientists from the Botanical Survey of India 

named a newly found plant species as Drypetes kalamii, in his 

honour.  

Books, documentaries and popular culture 

• Kalam's writings 

• Developments in Fluid Mechanics and Space 

Technology by A P J Abdul Kalam and Roddam 

Narasimha; Indian Academy of Sciences, 1988 

• India 2020: A Vision for the New Millennium by A P J 

Abdul Kalam, Y. S. Rajan; New York, 1998. 

• Wings of Fire: An Autobiography by A P J Abdul 

Kalam, Arun Tiwari; Universities Press, 1999. 

• Ignited Minds: Unleashing the Power Within India by 

A P J Abdul Kalam; Viking, 2002. 

• The Luminous Sparks by A P J Abdul Kalam, by; 

Punya Publishing Pvt Ltd., 2004. 

• Mission India by A P J Abdul Kalam, Paintings by 

Manav Gupta; Penguin Books, 2005 

• Inspiring Thoughts by A P J Abdul Kalam; Rajpal & 

Sons, 2007 

• Indomitable Spirit by A P J Abdul Kalam; Rajpal and 

Sons Publishing 

• Envisioning an Empowered Nation by A P J Abdul 

Kalam with A Sivathanu Pillai; Tata McGraw-Hill, 

New Delhi  

• You Are Born To Blossom: Take My Journey Beyond 

by A P J Abdul Kalam and Arun Tiwari; Ocean Books, 

2011. 
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• Turning Points: A journey through challenges by A P J 

Abdul Kalam; Harper Collins India, 2012. 

• Target 3 Billion by A P J Abdul Kalam and Srijan Pal 

Singh; December 2011 | Publisher Penguin Books. 

• My Journey: Transforming Dreams into Actions by A P 

J Abdul Kalam; 2014 by the Rupa Publication. 

• A Manifesto for Change: A Sequel to India 2020 by A 

P J Abdul Kalam and V Ponraj; July 2014 by Harper 

Collins. 

• Forge your Future: Candid, Forthright, Inspiring by A 

P J Abdul Kalam; by Rajpal and Sons, 29 October 

2014. 

• Reignited: Scientific Pathways to a Brighter Future by 

A P J Abdul Kalam and Srijan Pal Singh; by Penguin 

India, 14 May 2015. 

• Transcendence: My Spiritual Experiences with 

Pramukh Swamiji by A P J Abdul Kalam with Arun 

Tiwari; HarperCollins Publishers, June 2015 

• Advantage India: From Challenge to Opportunity by A 

P J Abdul Kalam and Srijan Pal Singh; HarperCollins 

Publishers,15 Oct 2015. 

  



Chapter 6 

Manmohan Singh 

• Manmohan Singh (born 26 September 1932) is an

Indian economist, academic, and politician who

served as the 13th prime minister of India from 2004

to 2014. A member of the Indian National Congress,

Singh was the first Sikh Prime minister of India.

Singh was also the first prime minister since

Jawaharlal Nehru to be re-elected after completing a

full five-year term.

Born in Gah, West Punjab, in what is today Pakistan, Singh's 

family migrated to India during its partition in 1947. After 

obtaining his doctorate in economics from Oxford, Singh 

worked for the United Nations during 1966–1969. He 

subsequently began his bureaucratic career when Lalit 

Narayan Mishra hired him as an advisor in the Ministry of 

Commerce and Industry. During the 1970s and 1980s, Singh 

held several key posts in the Government of India, such as 

Chief Economic Advisor (1972–1976), governor of the Reserve 

Bank (1982–1985) and head of the Planning Commission 

(1985–1987).  

In 1991, as India faced a severe economic crisis, newly elected 

Prime Minister P. V. Narasimha Rao surprisingly inducted the 

apolitical Singh into his cabinet as Finance Minister. Over the 

next few years, despite strong opposition, he as a Finance 

Minister carried out several structural reforms that liberalised 

India's economy. Although these measures proved successful in 
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averting the crisis, and enhanced Singh's reputation globally 

as a leading reform-minded economist, the incumbent 

Congress party fared poorly in the 1996 general election. 

Subsequently, Singh served as Leader of the Opposition in the 

Rajya Sabha (the upper house of the Parliament of India) 

during the Atal Bihari Vajpayee government of 1998–2004.  

In 2004, when the Congress-led United Progressive Alliance 

(UPA) came to power, its chairperson Sonia Gandhi 

unexpectedly relinquished the premiership to Manmohan 

Singh. Singh's first ministry executed several key legislations 

and projects, including the Rural Health Mission, Unique 

Identification Authority, Rural Employment Guarantee scheme 

and Right to Information Act. In 2008, opposition to a historic 

civil nuclear agreement with the United States nearly caused 

Singh's government to fall after Left Front parties withdrew 

their support. Although India's economy grew rapidly under 

UPA I, its security was threatened by several terrorist incidents 

(including the 2008 Mumbai attacks) and the continuing 

Maoist insurgency.  

The 2009 general election saw the UPA return with an 

increased mandate, with Singh retaining the office of Prime 

Minister. Over the next few years, Singh's second ministry 

government faced a number of corruption charges—over the 

organisation of the 2010 Commonwealth Games, the 2G 

spectrum allocation case and the allocation of coal blocks. 

After his term ended in 2014 he opted out from the race for the 

office of the Prime Minister of India during the 2014 Indian 

general election. Singh was never a member of the Lok Sabha 

but served as a member of the Parliament of India, 

representing the state of Assam in the Rajya Sabha for five 
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terms from 1991 to 2019. In August 2019, Singh filed his 

nomination as a Congress candidate to the Rajya Sabha from 

Rajasthan after the death of sitting MP Madan Lal Saini.  

Early life and education 

Singh was born to Gurmukh Singh and Amrit Kaur on 26 

September 1932, in Gah, Punjab, British India, into a Sikh 

family. He lost his mother when he was very young and was 

raised by his paternal grandmother, to whom he was very 

close.  

After the Partition of India, his family migrated to Amritsar, 

India, where he studied at Hindu College. He attended Panjab 

University, then in Hoshiarpur, Punjab, studying Economics 

and got his bachelor's and master's degrees in 1952 and 1954, 

respectively, standing first throughout his academic career. He 

completed his Economics Tripos at University of Cambridge as 

he was a member of St John's College in 1957.  

In a 2005 interview with the British journalist Mark Tully, 

Singh said about his Cambridge days:  

I first became conscious of the creative role of politics in 

shaping human affairs, and I owe that mostly to my teachers 

Joan Robinson and Nicholas Kaldor. Joan Robinson was a 

brilliant teacher, but she also sought to awaken the inner 

conscience of her students in a manner that very few others 

were able to achieve. She questioned me a great deal and made 

me think the unthinkable. She propounded the left wing 

interpretation of Keynes, maintaining that the state has to play 

more of a role if you really want to combine development with 
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social equity. Kaldor influenced me even more; I found him 

pragmatic, scintillating, stimulating. Joan Robinson was a 

great admirer of what was going on in China, but Kaldor used 

the Keynesian analysis to demonstrate that capitalism could be 

made to work. 

After Cambridge, Singh returned to India and served as a 

teacher at Panjab University. In 1960, he went to the 

University of Oxford for the DPhil, where he was a member of 

Nuffield College. His 1962 doctoral thesis under the 

supervision of I.M.D. Little was titled "India's export 

performance, 1951–1960, export prospects and policy 

implications", and was later the basis for his book "India's 

Export Trends and Prospects for Self-Sustained Growth".  

Early career 

After completing his D.Phil., Singh returned to India. He was a 

senior lecturer of economics at Panjab University from 1957 to 

1959. During 1959 and 1963, he served as a reader in 

economics at Panjab University, and from 1963 to 1965, he 

was an economics professor there. Then he went to work for 

the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development 

(UNCTAD) from 1966–1969. Later, he was appointed as an 

advisor to the Ministry of Foreign Trade by Lalit Narayan 

Mishra, in recognition of Singh's talent as an economist.  

From 1969 to 1971, Singh was a professor of international 

trade at the Delhi School of Economics, University of Delhi.  

In 1972, Singh was chief economic adviser in the Ministry of 

Finance, and in 1976 he was secretary in the Finance Ministry. 
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In 1980–1982 he was at the Planning Commission, and in 

1982, he was appointed governor of the Reserve Bank of India 

under then finance minister Pranab Mukherjee and held the 

post until 1985. He went on to become the deputy chairman of 

the Planning Commission (India) from 1985 to 1987. Following 

his tenure at the Planning Commission, he was secretary 

general of the South Commission, an independent economic 

policy think tank headquartered in Geneva, Switzerland from 

1987 to November 1990.  

Singh returned to India from Geneva in November 1990 and 

held the post as the advisor to Prime Minister of India on 

economic affairs during the tenure of V. P. Singh. In March 

1991, he became chairman of the University Grants 

Commission.  

Family and personal life 

Singh married Gursharan Kaur in 1958. They have three 

daughters, Upinder Singh, Daman Singh and Amrit Singh. 

Upinder Singh is a professor of history at Ashoka University. 

She has written six books, including Ancient Delhi (1999) and 

A History of Ancient and Early Medieval India (2008). Daman 

Singh is a graduate of St. Stephen's College, 

Delhi and Institute of Rural Management, Anand, Gujarat, and 

author of The Last Frontier: People and Forests in Mizoram and 

a novel Nine by Nine, Amrit Singh is a staff attorney at the 

American Civil Liberties Union. Ashok Pattnaik, 1983 batch 

Indian Police Service officer, son-in-law of former Prime 

Minister Manmohan Singh, was appointed CEO of National 

Intelligence Grid (NATGRID) in 2016.  
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Singh has undergone multiple cardiac bypass surgeries, the 

most recent of which took place in January 2009.  

Political career 

In June 1991, India's prime minister at the time, P. V. 

Narasimha Rao, chose Singh to be his finance minister. Singh 

told Mark Tully the British journalist in 2005 "On the day 

(Rao) was formulating his cabinet, he sent his Principal 

Secretary to me saying, 'The PM would like you to become the 

Minister of Finance'. I didn't take it seriously. He eventually 

tracked me down the next morning, rather angry, and 

demanded that I get dressed up and come to Rashtrapati 

Bhavan for the swearing in. So that's how I started in politics".  

Minister of Finance 

In 1991, India's fiscal deficit was close to 8.5 per cent of the 

gross domestic product, the balance of payments deficit was 

huge and the current account deficit was close to 3.5 percent 

of India's GDP. India's foreign reserves barely amounted to 

US$1 billion, enough to pay for 2 weeks of imports, in 

comparison to US$283 billion today.  

Evidently, India was facing an economic crisis. At this point, 

the government of India sought funds from the supranational 

International Monetary Fund, which, while assisting India 

financially, imposed several conditions regarding India's 

economic policy. In effect, IMF-dictated policy meant that the 

ubiquitous Licence Raj had to be dismantled, and India's 

attempt at a state-controlled economy had to end.  
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Manmohan explained to the PM and the party that India is 

facing an unprecedented crisis. However the rank and file of 

the party resisted deregulation. So Chidambaram and 

Manmohan explained to the party that the economy would 

collapse if it was not deregulated. To the dismay of the party, 

Rao allowed Manmohan to deregulate the Indian economy.  

Subsequently, Singh, who had thus far been one of the most 

influential architects of India's socialist economy, eliminated 

the permit raj, reduced state control of the economy, and 

reduced import taxes  

Rao and Singh thus implemented policies to open up the 

economy and change India's socialist economy to a more 

capitalistic one, in the process dismantling the Licence Raj, a 

system that inhibited the prosperity of private businesses. 

They removed many obstacles standing in the way of Foreign 

Direct Investment (FDI), and initiated the process of the 

privatisation of public sector companies. However, in spite of 

these reforms, Rao's government was voted out in 1996 due to 

non-performance of government in other areas. 

In praise of Singh's work that pushed India towards a market 

economy, long-time Cabinet minister P. Chidambaram has 

compared Singh's role in India's reforms to Deng Xiaoping's in 

China.  

In 1993, Singh offered his resignation from the post of Finance 

Minister after a parliamentary investigation report criticised 

his ministry for not being able to anticipate a US$1.8 billion 

securities scandal. Prime Minister Rao refused Singh's 

resignation, instead promising to punish the individuals 

directly accused in the report.  
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Leader of Opposition in Rajya Sabha 

Singh was first elected to the upper house of Parliament, the 

Rajya Sabha, in 1991 by the legislature of the state of Assam, 

and was re-elected in 1995, 2001, 2007 and 2013. From 1998 

to 2004, while the Bharatiya Janata Party was in power, Singh 

was the Leader of the Opposition in the Rajya Sabha. In 1999, 

he contested for the Lok Sabha from South Delhi but was 

unable to win the seat.  

Prime Minister 

First term: 2004-2009 

After the 2004 general elections, the Indian National Congress 

ended the incumbent National Democratic Alliance (NDA) 

tenure by becoming the political party with the single largest 

number of seats in the Lok Sabha. It formed United Progressive 

Alliance (UPA) with allies and staked claim to form government. 

In a surprise move, Chairperson Sonia Gandhi declared 

Manmohan Singh, a technocrat, as the UPA candidate for the 

Prime Ministership. Despite the fact that Singh had never won 

a Lok Sabha seat, according to the BBC, he "enjoyed massive 

popular support, not least because he was seen by many as a 

clean politician untouched by the taint of corruption that has 

run through many Indian administrations." He took the oath as 

the Prime Minister of India on 22 May 2004.  

Economic policy 

In 1991, Singh, as Finance Minister, abolished the Licence Raj, 

source of slow economic growth and corruption in the Indian 
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economy for decades. He liberalised the Indian economy, 

allowing it to speed up development dramatically. During his 

term as Prime Minister, Singh continued to encourage growth 

in the Indian market, enjoying widespread success in these 

matters. Singh, along with the former Finance Minister, P. 

Chidambaram, presided over a period where the Indian 

economy grew with an 8–9% economic growth rate. In 2007, 

India achieved its highest GDP growth rate of 9% and became 

the second fastest growing major economy in the world. Singh's 

ministry enacted a National Employment Guarantee Act 

(MGNREGA) in 2005.  

Singh's government continued the Golden Quadrilateral and 

the highway modernisation program that was initiated by 

Vajpayee's government. Singh also worked on reforming the 

banking and financial sectors, as well as public sector 

companies. The Finance ministry worked towards relieving 

farmers of their debt and worked towards pro-industry policies. 

In 2005, Singh's government introduced the value added tax, 

replacing sales tax. In 2007 and early 2008, the global problem 

of inflation impacted India.  

Healthcare and education 

In 2005, Prime Minister Singh and his government's health 

ministry started the National Rural Health Mission (NHRM), 

which mobilised half a million community health workers. This 

rural health initiative was praised by the American economist 

Jeffrey Sachs. In 2006, his Government implemented the 

proposal to reserve 27% of seats in All India Institute of 

Medical Studies (AIIMS), Indian Institutes of Technology (IITs), 

the Indian Institutes of Management (IIMs) and other central 
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institutions of higher education for Other Backward Classes 

which led to 2006 Indian anti-reservation protests.  

On 2 July 2009, Singh ministry introduced The Right to 

Education Act (RTE) act. Eight IIT's were opened in the states 

of Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Gujarat, Orissa, Punjab, Madhya 

Pradesh, Rajasthan and Himachal Pradesh. The Singh 

government also continued the Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan 

programme. The programme includes the introduction and 

improvement of mid-day meals and the opening of schools all 

over India, especially in rural areas, to fight illiteracy.  

Security and Home Affairs 

Singh's government strengthened anti-terror laws with 

amendments to Unlawful Activities (Prevention) Act (UAPA). 

National Investigation Agency (NIA) was also created soon after 

the Nov 2008 Mumbai terror attacks, as need for a central 

agency to combat terrorism was realised. 

Also, Unique Identification Authority of India was established 

in February 2009, an agency responsible for implementing the 

envisioned Multipurpose National Identity Card with the 

objective of increasing national security and facilitating e-

governance.  

Singh's administration initiated a massive reconstruction effort 

in Kashmir to stabilise the region but after some period of 

success, insurgent infiltration and terrorism in Kashmir has 

increased since 2009. However, the Singh administration was 

successful in reducing terrorism in Northeast India.  
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Legislations 

The important National Rural Employment Guarantee Act 

(NREGA) and the Right to Information Act were passed by the 

Parliament in 2005 during his tenure. While the effectiveness 

of the NREGA has been successful at various degrees, in 

various regions, the RTI act has proved crucial in India's fight 

against corruption. New cash benefits were also introduced for 

widows, pregnant women, and landless persons.  

The Right to Fair Compensation and Transparency in Land 

Acquisition, Rehabilitation and Resettlement Act, 2013 was 

passed on 29 August 2013 in the Lok Sabha (lower house of 

the Indian parliament) and on 4 September 2013 in Rajya 

Sabha (upper house of the Indian parliament). The bill received 

the assent of the President of India, Pranab Mukherjee on 27 

September 2013. The Act came into force from 1 January 2014.  

Right of Children to Free and Compulsory Education Act was 

enacted on 4 August 2009, which describes the modalities of 

the importance of free and compulsory education for children 

between 6 and 14 in India under Article 21A of the Indian 

Constitution. India became one of 135 countries to make 

education a fundamental right of every child when the act 

came into force on 1 April 2010.  

Foreign policy 

Manmohan Singh continued the pragmatic foreign policy that 

was started by P.V. Narasimha Rao and continued by Bharatiya 

Janata Party's Atal Bihari Vajpayee. Singh continued the peace 

process with Pakistan initiated by his predecessor, Atal Bihari 
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Vajpayee. Exchange of high-level visits by top leaders from 

both countries have highlighted his tenure. Efforts have been 

made during Singh's tenure to end the border dispute with 

People's Republic of China. In November 2006, Chinese 

President Hu Jintao visited India which was followed by 

Singh's visit to Beijing in January 2008. A major development 

in Sino-Indian relations was the reopening of the Nathula Pass 

in 2006 after being closed for more than four decades. Premier 

of the State Council of the People's Republic of China, Li 

Keqiang paid a state visit to India (Delhi-Mumbai) from 19–21 

May 2013. Singh paid an official visit to China from 22–24 

October 2013. Signed were three agreements establishing 

sister-city partnership between Delhi-Beijing, Kolkata-Kunming 

and Bangalore-Chengdu. As of 2010, the People's Republic of 

China is the second biggest trade partner of India.  

Relations with Afghanistan have improved considerably, with 

India now becoming the largest regional donor to Afghanistan. 

During Afghan President Hamid Karzai's visit to New Delhi in 

August 2008, Manmohan Singh increased the aid package to 

Afghanistan for the development of more schools, health 

clinics, infrastructure, and defence. Under the leadership of 

Singh, India emerged as one of the single largest aid donors to 

Afghanistan.  

Singh's government worked towards stronger ties with the 

United States. He visited the United States in July 2005 

initiating negotiations over the Indo-US civilian nuclear 

agreement. This was followed by George W. Bush's successful 

visit to India in March 2006, during which the declaration over 

the nuclear agreement was made, giving India access to 

American nuclear fuel and technology while India will have to 
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allow IAEA inspection of its civil nuclear reactors. After more 

than two years for more negotiations, followed by approval 

from the IAEA, Nuclear Suppliers Group and the US Congress, 

India and the US signed the agreement on 10 October 2008 

with Pranab Mukherjee representing India. Singh had the first 

official state visit to the White House during the administration 

of US President Barack Obama. The visit took place in 

November 2009, and several discussions took place, including 

on trade and nuclear power.  

Relations have improved with Japan and European Union 

countries, like the United Kingdom, France, and Germany. 

Relations with Iran have continued and negotiations over the 

Iran-Pakistan-India gas pipeline have taken place. New Delhi 

hosted an India–Africa Summit in April 2006 which was 

attended by the leaders of 15 African states. Relations have 

improved with other developing countries, particularly Brazil 

and South Africa. Singh carried forward the momentum which 

was established after the "Brasilia Declaration" in 2003 and 

the IBSA Dialogue Forum was formed.  

Singh's government has also been especially keen on expanding 

ties with Israel. Since 2003, the two countries have made 

significant investments in each other and Israel now rivals 

Russia to become India's defence partner. Though there have 

been a few diplomatic glitches between India and Russia, 

especially over the delay and price hike of several Russian 

weapons to be delivered to India, relations between the two 

remain strong with India and Russia signing various 

agreements to increase defence, nuclear energy and space co-

operation.  
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Second term: 2009-2014 

India held general elections to the 15th Lok Sabha in five 

phases between 16 April 2009 and 13 May 2009. The results of 

the election were announced on 16 May 2009. Strong showing 

in Andhra Pradesh, Rajasthan, Maharashtra, Tamil Nadu, 

Kerala, West Bengal and Uttar Pradesh helped the United 

Progressive Alliance (UPA) form the new government under the 

incumbent Singh, who became the first prime minister since 

Jawaharlal Nehru in 1962 to win re-election after completing a 

full five-year term. The Congress and its allies were able to put 

together a comfortable majority with support from 322 

members out of 543 members of the House. These included 

those of the UPA and the external support from the Bahujan 

Samaj Party (BSP), Samajwadi Party (SP), Janata Dal (Secular) 

(JD(S)), Rashtriya Janata Dal (RJD) and other minor parties.  

On 22 May 2009, Manmohan Singh was sworn in as the Prime 

Minister during a ceremony held at Rashtrapati Bhavan. The 

2009 Indian general election was the largest democratic 

election in the world held to date, with an eligible electorate of 

714 million. The 2012 report filed by the CAG in Parliament of 

India states that due to the allocation of coal blocks to certain 

private companies without bidding process the nation suffered 

an estimated loss of Rs 1.85 trillion (short scale) between 2005 

and 2009 in which Manmohan Singh was the coal minister of 

India.  

Manmohan Singh declined to appear before a Joint 

Parliamentary Committee (JPC) in April 2013 when called upon 

by one of the members of JPC Yashwant Sinha for his alleged 

involvement in the 2G case.  
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Post-premiership (2014-present) 

Singh's premiership officially ended at noon on May 17, 2014. 

He did not contest the 2014 general election for the 16th Lok 

Sabha. Singh resigned his post as prime minister, after the 

Bharatiya Janata Party led National Democratic Alliance won 

the 2014 Lok Sabha election. Though he served as the acting 

prime minister till 25 May 2014, when Narendra Modi was 

sworn in as the new prime minister. Singh along with Congress 

president Sonia Gandhi, former Presidents A. P. J. Abdul 

Kalam and Pratibha Patil, Vice President Hamid Ansari 

attended Narendra Modi's swearing-in ceremony. After the 

swearing-in ceremony Singh shifted to 3 Motilal Nehru Road 

bungalow, New Delhi. In 2016 it was announced that Singh 

was to take up a position at Panjab University as the 

Jawaharlal Nehru Chair.  

Cultural and political image 

The Independent described Singh as "one of the world's most 

revered leaders" and "a man of uncommon decency and grace," 

noting that he drives a Maruti 800, one of the humblest cars in 

the Indian market. Khushwant Singh lauded Singh as the best 

prime minister India has had, even rating him higher than 

Jawaharlal Nehru. He mentions an incident in his book 

Absolute Khushwant: The Low-Down on Life, Death and Most 

things In-between where after losing the 1999 Lok Sabha 

elections, Singh immediately returned the ₹2 lakh (US$2,800) 

he had borrowed from the writer for hiring taxis. Terming him 

as the best example of integrity, Khushwant Singh stated, 
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"When people talk of integrity, I say the best example is the 

man who occupies the country's highest office."  

In 2010, Newsweek magazine recognised him as a world leader 

who is respected by other heads of state, describing him as 

"the leader other leaders love." The article quoted Mohamed 

ElBaradei, who remarked that Singh is "the model of what a 

political leader should be." Singh also received the World 

Statesman Award in 2010. Henry Kissinger described Singh as 

"a statesman with vision, persistence and integrity", and 

praised him for his "leadership, which has been instrumental 

in the economic transformation underway in India."  

Manmohan Singh was ranked 18 on the 2010 Forbes list of the 

World's Most Powerful People. Forbes magazine described 

Singh as being "universally praised as India's best prime 

minister since Nehru". Australian journalist Greg Sheridan 

praised Singh "as one of the greatest statesmen in Asian 

history." Singh was later ranked 19 and 28 in 2012 and 2013 

in the Forbes list.  

Conversely, Time magazine's Asia edition for 10–17 July 2012, 

on its cover remarked that Singh was an "underachiever". It 

stated that Singh appears "unwilling to stick his neck out" on 

reforms that will put the country back onto a growth path. 

Congress spokesperson Manish Tewari rebutted the charges. 

UPA ally Lalu Prasad Yadav took issue with the magazine's 

statements. Praising the government, Prasad said UPA projects 

[were] doing well and asked, "What will America say as their 

own economy is shattered?".  

Political opponents, including BJP co-founder L. K. Advani, 

have claimed that Singh is a "weak" prime minister. Advani 
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declared "He is weak. What do I call a person who can't take 

his decisions until 10 Janpath gives instruction." The 

Independent also claimed that Singh did not have genuine 

political power.  

Singh's public image had been tarnished, with his coalition 

government having been accused of various corruption 

scandals since the start of its second term in 2009. The 

opposition demanded his resignation for his alleged inaction 

and indecisiveness in the 2G spectrum case and Indian coal 

allocation scam. Senior MP of the Communist Party of India 

Gurudas Dasgupta accused Manmohan Singh of "Dereliction of 

duty", alleging that Singh was fully aware of irregularities in 

dispensing of 2G telecom licences.  

His party, the Indian National Congress, was criticised by the 

Supreme Court for appointing P.J. Thomas as the CVC chief, 

while there was an ongoing corruption enquiry against the 

same individual in the Palmolein Oil Import Scam. Singh has 

come in for severe criticism for remaining silent on the matter. 

Singh was also criticised for allowing allocation of S-band 

spectrum without any bidding to ISRO by an agreement. The 

agreement was between Devas multimedia, a private firm and 

Antrix Corporation, a commercial wing of ISRO.  

Degrees and posts held 

• B.A (Honours) in Economics 1952; M.A (First Class) 

in Economics, 1954 Panjab University, Chandigarh 

(then in Hoshiarpur, Punjab), India 

• Honours degree in Economics, University of 

Cambridge – St John's College (1957)  
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• Senior Lecturer, Economics (1957–1959) 

• Reader (1959–1963) 

• Professor (1963–1965) 

• Professor of International Trade (1969–1971) 

• DPhil in Economics, University of Oxford – Nuffield 

College (1962) 

• Delhi School of Economics, University of Delhi  

• Honorary Professor (1966) 

• Chief, Financing for Trade Section, UNCTAD, United 

Nations Secretariat, New York  

• 1966 : Economic Affairs Officer 1966 

• Economic Adviser, Ministry of Foreign Trade, India 

(1971–1972) 

• Chief Economic Adviser, Ministry of Finance, India, 

(1972–1976) 

• Honorary Professor, Jawaharlal Nehru University, 

New Delhi (1976) 

• Director, Reserve Bank of India (1976–1980) 

• Director, Industrial Development Bank of India 

(1976–1980) 

• Board of Governors, Asian Development Bank, 

Manila 

• Secretary, Ministry of Finance (Department of 

Economic Affairs), Government of India, (1977–1980) 

• Governor, Reserve Bank of India (1982–1985) 

• Deputy chairman, Planning Commission of India, 

(1985–1987) 

• Secretary General, South Commission, Geneva 

(1987–1990) 

• Advisor to Prime Minister of India on Economic 

Affairs (1990–1991) 
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• Chairman, University Grants Commission (15 March 

1991 – 20 June 1991) 

• Finance Minister of India, (21 June 1991 – 15 May 

1996) 

• Leader of the Opposition (India) in the Rajya Sabha 

(1998–2004) 

• Prime Minister of India (22 May 2004 – 26 May 2014) 

Honours, awards and international 

recognition 

• In March 1983, Panjab University awarded him 

Doctor of Letters and in 2009 created a Dr. 

Manmohan Singh chair in their economics 

department. In 1997, the University of Alberta 

awarded him an honorary Doctor of Law degree. The 

University of Oxford awarded him an honorary 

Doctor of Civil Law degree in July 2005, and in 

October 2006, the University of Cambridge followed 

with the same honour. St. John's College further 

honoured him by naming a PhD Scholarship after 

him, the Dr. Manmohan Singh Scholarship. In 2008, 

he was awarded honorary Doctor of Letters degree by 

Benaras Hindu University and later that year he was 

awarded an honorary doctorate degree by University 

of Madras. In 2010, he was awarded honorary 

doctorate degree by King Saud University and in 

2013, he was awarded honorary doctorate degree by 

Moscow State Institute of International Relations. In 

2017 awarded Indira Gandhi Prize for Peace, 

Disarmament and Development.  
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In popular culture 

A Bollywood film was made in 2019 based on Singh's life, titled 

The Accidental Prime Minister directed by Vijay Gutte and 

written by Mayank Tewari. The film was based on the 2014 

memoir of the same name by Sanjaya Baru with Anupam Kher 

in the titular role.  

Pradhanmantri (lit.   'Prime Minister'), a 2013 Indian 

documentary television series which aired on ABP News and 

covers the various policies and political tenures of Indian PMs, 

includes the tenureship of Manmohan Singh in the episodes 

"Story of Sonia Gandhi and UPA-I Government", and "Scams in 

UPA government and anti-corruption movement".  

  



Chapter 7 

United Nations Security Council

The United Nations Security Council (UNSC) is one of the six 

principal organs of the United Nations (UN), charged with 

ensuring international peace and security, recommending the 

admission of new UN members to the General Assembly, and 

approving any changes to the UN Charter. Its powers include 

establishing peacekeeping operations, enacting international 

sanctions, and authorizing military action. The UNSC is the 

only UN body with the authority to issue binding resolutions 

on member states.  

Like the UN as a whole, the Security Council was created after 

World War II to address the failings of the League of Nations in 

maintaining world peace. It held its first session on 17 

January 1946, and in the ensuing decades was largely 

paralyzed by the Cold War between the United States and the 

Soviet Union and their respective allies. Nevertheless, it 

authorized military interventions in the Korean War and the 

Congo Crisis and peacekeeping missions in the Suez Crisis, 

Cyprus, and West New Guinea. With the collapse of the Soviet 

Union, UN peacekeeping efforts increased dramatically in 

scale, with the Security Council authorizing major military and 

peacekeeping missions in Kuwait, Namibia, Cambodia, Bosnia 

and Herzegovina, Rwanda, Somalia, Sudan, and the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo.  

The Security Council consists of fifteen members, of which five 

are permanent: the People’s Republic of China, the French 
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Republic, the Russian Federation, the United Kingdom of Great 

Britain and Northern Ireland, and the United States of 

America. These were the great powers, or their successor 

states, that were the victors of World War II. Permanent 

members can veto any substantive resolution, including those 

on the admission of new member states to the United Nations 

or nominees for the office of Secretary-General. The remaining 

ten members are elected on a regional basis to serve a term of 

two years. The body's presidency rotates monthly among its 

members.  

Resolutions of the Security Council are typically enforced by 

UN peacekeepers, military forces voluntarily provided by 

member states and funded independently of the main UN 

budget. As of March 2019, there are thirteen peacekeeping 

missions with over 81,000 personnel from 121 countries, with 

a total budget of nearly $6.7 billion.  

History 

Background and creation 

• In the century prior to the UN's creation, several 

international treaty organizations and conferences 

had been formed to regulate conflicts between 

nations, such as the International Committee of the 

Red Cross and the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 

1907. Following the catastrophic loss of life in World 

War I, the Paris Peace Conference established the 

League of Nations to maintain harmony between the 

nations. This organization successfully resolved 

some territorial disputes and created international 
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structures for areas such as postal mail, aviation, 

and opium control, some of which would later be 

absorbed into the UN. However, the League lacked 

representation for colonial peoples (then half the 

world's population) and significant participation 

from several major powers, including the US, USSR, 

Germany, and Japan; it failed to act against the 

1931 Japanese invasion of Manchuria, the Second 

Italo-Ethiopian War in 1935, the 1937 Japanese 

occupation of China, and Nazi expansions under 

Adolf Hitler that escalated into World War II. 

On New Year's Day 1942, President Roosevelt, Prime Minister 

Churchill, Maxim Litvinov, of the USSR, and T. V. Soong, of 

China, signed a short document, based on the Atlantic Charter 

and the London Declaration, which later came to be known as 

the United Nations Declaration. The next day the 

representatives of twenty-two other nations added their 

signatures." The term United Nations was first officially used 

when 26 governments signed this Declaration. By 1 March 

1945, 21 additional states had signed. "Four Powers" was 

coined to refer to the four major Allied countries: the United 

States, the United Kingdom, the Soviet Union, and China. and 

became the foundation of an executive branch of the United 

Nations, the Security Council.  

Following the 1943 Moscow Conference and Tehran Conference, 

in mid-1944, the delegations from the Allied "Big Four", the 

Soviet Union, the UK, the US and China, met for the 

Dumbarton Oaks Conference in Washington, D.C. to negotiate 

the UN's structure, and the composition of the UN Security 

Council quickly became the dominant issue. France, the 
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Republic of China, the Soviet Union, the UK, and US were 

selected as permanent members of the Security Council; the 

US attempted to add Brazil as a sixth member but was opposed 

by the heads of the Soviet and British delegations. The most 

contentious issue at Dumbarton and in successive talks proved 

to be the veto rights of permanent members. The Soviet 

delegation argued that each nation should have an absolute 

veto that could block matters from even being discussed, while 

the British argued that nations should not be able to veto 

resolutions on disputes to which they were a party. At the 

Yalta Conference of February 1945, the American, British, and 

Russian delegations agreed that each of the "Big Five" could 

veto any action by the council, but not procedural resolutions, 

meaning that the permanent members could not prevent debate 

on a resolution.  

On 25 April 1945, the UN Conference on International 

Organization began in San Francisco, attended by 

50 governments and a number of non-governmental 

organizations involved in drafting the United Nations Charter. 

At the conference, H. V. Evatt of the Australian delegation 

pushed to further restrict the veto power of Security Council 

permanent members. Due to the fear that rejecting the strong 

veto would cause the conference's failure, his proposal was 

defeated twenty votes to ten.  

The UN officially came into existence on 24 October 1945 upon 

ratification of the Charter by the five then-permanent members 

of the Security Council and by a majority of the other 46 

signatories. On 17 January 1946, the Security Council met for 

the first time at Church House, Westminster, in London, 

United Kingdom.  
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Cold War 

The Security Council was largely paralysed in its early decades 

by the Cold War between the US and USSR and their allies, 

and the Council generally was only able to intervene in 

unrelated conflicts. (A notable exception was the 1950 Security 

Council resolution authorizing a US-led coalition to repel the 

North Korean invasion of South Korea, passed in the absence 

of the USSR). 

In 1956, the first UN peacekeeping force was established to 

end the Suez Crisis; however, the UN was unable to intervene 

against the USSR's simultaneous invasion of Hungary following 

that country's revolution. Cold War divisions also paralysed 

the Security Council's Military Staff Committee, which had 

been formed by Articles 45–47 of the UN Charter to oversee UN 

forces and create UN military bases. The committee continued 

to exist on paper but largely abandoned its work in the mid-

1950s.  

In 1960, the UN deployed the United Nations Operation in the 

Congo (UNOC), the largest military force of its early decades, to 

restore order to the breakaway State of Katanga, restoring it to 

the control of the Democratic Republic of the Congo by 1964. 

However, the Security Council found itself bypassed in favour 

of direct negotiations between the superpowers in some of the 

decade's larger conflicts, such as the Cuban Missile Crisis or 

the Vietnam War. Focusing instead on smaller conflicts without 

an immediate Cold War connection, the Security Council 

deployed the United Nations Temporary Executive Authority in 

West New Guinea in 1962 and the United Nations Peacekeeping 
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Force in Cyprus in 1964, the latter of which would become one 

of the UN's longest-running peacekeeping missions.  

On 25 October 1971, over US opposition, but with the support 

of many Third World nations, along with the Socialist People's 

Republic of Albania, the mainland, communist People's 

Republic of China was given the Chinese seat on the Security 

Council in place of the Republic of China; the vote was widely 

seen as a sign of waning US influence in the organization. With 

an increasing Third World presence and the failure of UN 

mediation in conflicts in the Middle East, Vietnam, and 

Kashmir, the UN increasingly shifted its attention to its 

ostensibly secondary goals of economic development and 

cultural exchange. By the 1970s, the UN budget for social and 

economic development was far greater than its budget for 

peacekeeping.  

Post-Cold War 

After the Cold War, the UN saw a radical expansion in its 

peacekeeping duties, taking on more missions in ten years 

than it had in its previous four decades. Between 1988 and 

2000, the number of adopted Security Council resolutions 

more than doubled, and the peacekeeping budget increased 

more than tenfold. The UN negotiated an end to the Salvadoran 

Civil War, launched a successful peacekeeping mission in 

Namibia, and oversaw democratic elections in post-apartheid 

South Africa and post-Khmer Rouge Cambodia. In 1991, the 

Security Council demonstrated its renewed vigor by 

condemning the Iraqi invasion of Kuwait on the same day of 

the attack, and later authorizing a US-led coalition that 

successfully repulsed the Iraqis. Undersecretary-General Brian 
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Urquhart later described the hopes raised by these successes 

as a "false renaissance" for the organization, given the more 

troubled missions that followed.  

Though the UN Charter had been written primarily to prevent 

aggression by one nation against another, in the early 1990s, 

the UN faced a number of simultaneous, serious crises within 

nations such as Haiti, Mozambique and the former Yugoslavia. 

The UN mission to Bosnia faced "worldwide ridicule" for its 

indecisive and confused mission in the face of ethnic 

cleansing. In 1994, the United Nations Assistance Mission for 

Rwanda failed to intervene in the Rwandan genocide in the face 

of Security Council indecision.  

In the late 1990s, UN-authorised international interventions 

took a wider variety of forms. The UN mission in the 1991–

2002 Sierra Leone Civil War was supplemented by British 

Royal Marines, and the UN-authorised 2001 invasion of 

Afghanistan was overseen by NATO. In 2003, the US invaded 

Iraq despite failing to pass a UN Security Council resolution 

for authorization, prompting a new round of questioning of the 

organization's effectiveness. In the same decade, the Security 

Council intervened with peacekeepers in crises including the 

War in Darfur in Sudan and the Kivu conflict in the 

Democratic Republic of Congo. In 2013, an internal review of 

UN actions in the final battles of the Sri Lankan Civil War in 

2009 concluded that the organization had suffered "systemic 

failure". In November/December 2014, Egypt presented a 

motion proposing an expansion of the NPT (non-Proliferation 

Treaty), to include Israel and Iran; this proposal was due to 

increasing hostilities and destruction in the Middle-East 

connected to the Syrian Conflict as well as others. All members 
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of the Security Council are signatory to the NPT, and all 

permanent members are nuclear weapons states.  

Role 

The UN's role in international collective security is defined by 

the UN Charter, which authorizes the Security Council to 

investigate any situation threatening international peace; 

recommend procedures for peaceful resolution of a dispute; 

call upon other member nations to completely or partially 

interrupt economic relations as well as sea, air, postal, and 

radio communications, or to sever diplomatic relations; and 

enforce its decisions militarily, or by any means necessary. The 

Security Council also recommends the new Secretary-General 

to the General Assembly and recommends new states for 

admission as member states of the United Nations. The 

Security Council has traditionally interpreted its mandate as 

covering only military security, though US Ambassador Richard 

Holbrooke controversially persuaded the body to pass a 

resolution on HIV/AIDS in Africa in 2000.  

Under Chapter VI of the Charter, "Pacific Settlement of 

Disputes", the Security Council "may investigate any dispute, 

or any situation which might lead to international friction or 

give rise to a dispute". 

The Council may "recommend appropriate procedures or 

methods of adjustment" if it determines that the situation 

might endanger international peace and security. These 

recommendations are generally considered to not be binding, 

as they lack an enforcement mechanism. A minority of 

scholars, such as Stephen Zunes, have argued that resolutions 
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made under Chapter VI are "still directives by the Security 

Council and differ only in that they do not have the same 

stringent enforcement options, such as the use of military 

force".  

Under Chapter VII, the council has broader power to decide 

what measures are to be taken in situations involving "threats 

to the peace, breaches of the peace, or acts of aggression." In 

such situations, the council is not limited to recommendations 

but may take action, including the use of armed force "to 

maintain or restore international peace and security." This was 

the legal basis for UN armed action in Korea in 1950 during 

the Korean War and the use of coalition forces in Iraq and 

Kuwait in 1991 and Libya in 2011. Decisions taken under 

Chapter VII, such as economic sanctions, are binding on UN 

members; the Security Council is the only UN body with 

authority to issue binding resolutions.  

The Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court 

recognizes that the Security Council has authority to refer 

cases to the Court in which the Court could not otherwise 

exercise jurisdiction. The Council exercised this power for the 

first time in March 2005, when it referred to the Court "the 

situation prevailing in Darfur since 1 July 2002"; since Sudan 

is not a party to the Rome Statute, the Court could not 

otherwise have exercised jurisdiction. The Security Council 

made its second such referral in February 2011 when it asked 

the ICC to investigate the Libyan government's violent response 

to the Libyan Civil War.  

Security Council Resolution 1674, adopted on 28 April 2006, 

"reaffirms the provisions of paragraphs 138 and 139 of the 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 1 

193 

 

2005 World Summit Outcome Document regarding the 

responsibility to protect populations from genocide, war 

crimes, ethnic cleansing and crimes against humanity". The 

Security Council reaffirmed this responsibility to protect in 

Resolution 1706 on 31 August of that year. These resolutions 

commit the Security Council to protect civilians in an armed 

conflict, including taking action against genocide, war crimes, 

ethnic cleansing, and crimes against humanity.  

At the UN's founding in 1945, the five permanent members of 

the Security Council were the Republic of China, the 

Provisional Government of the French Republic, the Soviet 

Union, the United Kingdom, and the United States. There have 

been two major seat changes since then. China's seat was 

originally held by Chiang Kai-shek's Nationalist Government, 

the Republic of China. However, the Nationalists were forced to 

retreat to the island of Taiwan in 1949, during the Chinese 

Civil War. 

The Chinese Communist Party assumed control of mainland 

China, thenceforth known as the People's Republic of China. In 

1971, General Assembly Resolution 2758 recognized the 

People's Republic as the rightful representative of China in the 

UN and gave it the seat on the Security Council that had been 

held by the Republic of China, which was expelled from the UN 

altogether with no opportunity for membership as a separate 

nation. After the dissolution of the Soviet Union in 1991, the 

Russian Federation was recognized as the legal successor state 

of the Soviet Union and maintained the latter's position on the 

Security Council. Additionally, France eventually reformed its 

government into the French Fifth Republic in 1958, under the 

leadership of Charles de Gaulle. France maintained its seat as 
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there was no change in its international status or recognition, 

although many of its overseas possessions eventually became 

independent.  

The five permanent members of the Security Council were the 

victorious powers in World War II and have maintained the 

world's most powerful military forces ever since. They annually 

topped the list of countries with the highest military 

expenditures. In 2013, they spent over US$1 trillion combined 

on defence, accounting for over 55% of global military 

expenditures (the US alone accounting for over 35%). They are 

also among the world's largest arms exporters and are the only 

nations officially recognized as "nuclear-weapon states" under 

the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT), though there are 

other states known or believed to be in possession of nuclear 

weapons.  

Veto power 

Under Article 27 of the UN Charter, Security Council decisions 

on all substantive matters require the affirmative votes of 

three-fifths (i.e. nine) of the members. A negative vote or "veto" 

by a permanent member prevents adoption of a proposal, even 

if it has received the required votes. 

Abstention is not regarded as a veto in most cases, though all 

five permanent members must actively concur to amend the UN 

Charter or to recommend the admission of a new UN member 

state. Procedural matters are not subject to a veto, so the veto 

cannot be used to avoid discussion of an issue. The same holds 

for certain decisions that directly regard permanent members. 

A majority of vetoes are used not in critical international 
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security situations, but for purposes such as blocking a 

candidate for Secretary-General or the admission of a member 

state.  

In the negotiations building up to the creation of the UN, the 

veto power was resented by many small countries, and in fact 

was forced on them by the veto nations—United States, United 

Kingdom, China, France and Soviet Union—through a threat 

that without the veto there will be no UN. Here is a description 

by Francis O. Wilcox, an adviser to U.S. delegation to the 1945 

conference:  

"At San Francisco, the issue was made crystal clear by the 

leaders of the Big Five: it was either the Charter with the veto 

or no Charter at all. Senator Connally [from the U.S. 

delegation] dramatically tore up a copy of the Charter during 

one of his speeches and reminded the small states that they 

would be guilty of that same act if they opposed the unanimity 

principle. 'You may, if you wish,' he said, 'go home from this 

Conference and say that you have defeated the veto. But what 

will be your answer when you are asked: "Where is the 

Charter"?'" 

As of 2012, 269 vetoes had been cast since the Security 

Council's inception. In this period, China used the veto 9 

times, France 18, the Soviet Union or Russia 128, the United 

Kingdom 32, and the United States 89.  

Roughly two-thirds of Soviet and Russian combined vetoes 

were in the first ten years of the Security Council's existence. 

Between 1996 and 2012, the United States vetoed 13 

resolutions, Russia 7, and China 5, while France and the 

United Kingdom did not use the veto.  
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An early veto by Soviet Commissar Andrei Vishinsky blocked a 

resolution on the withdrawal of French forces from the then-

colonies of Syria and Lebanon in February 1946; this veto 

established the precedent that permanent members could use 

the veto on matters outside of immediate concerns of war and 

peace. The Soviet Union went on to veto matters including the 

admission of Austria, Cambodia, Ceylon, Finland, Ireland, 

Italy, Japan, Laos, Libya, Portugal, South Vietnam, and 

Transjordan as UN member states, delaying their joining by 

several years. The United Kingdom and France used the veto to 

avoid Security Council condemnation of their actions in the 

1956 Suez Crisis. 

The first veto by the United States came in 1970, blocking 

General Assembly action in Southern Rhodesia. From 1985 to 

1990, the U.S. vetoed 27 resolutions, primarily to block 

resolutions perceived as anti-Israel but also to protect its 

interests in Panama and Korea. The Soviet Union, the United 

States, and China have all vetoed candidates for Secretary-

General, with the U.S. using the veto to block the re-election of 

Boutros Boutros-Ghali in 1996.  

Non-permanent members 

Along with the five permanent members, the Security Council 

of the United Nations has temporary members that hold their 

seats on a rotating basis by geographic region. Non-permanent 

members may be involved in global security briefings. In its 

first two decades, the Security Council had six non-permanent 

members, the first of which were Australia, Brazil, Egypt, 

Mexico, the Netherlands, and Poland. In 1965, the number of 

non-permanent members was expanded to ten.  
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These ten non-permanent members are elected by the United 

Nations General Assembly for two-year terms starting on 1 

January, with five replaced each year. To be approved, a 

candidate must receive at least two-thirds of all votes cast for 

that seat, which can result in deadlock if there are two roughly 

evenly matched candidates. In 1979, a standoff between Cuba 

and Colombia only ended after three months and a record 154 

rounds of voting; both eventually withdrew in favour of Mexico 

as a compromise candidate. A retiring member is not eligible 

for immediate re-election.  

The African Group is represented by three members; the Latin 

America and the Caribbean, Asia-Pacific, and Western 

European and Others groups by two apiece; and the Eastern 

European Group by one. 

Traditionally, one of the seats assigned to either the Asia-

Pacific Group or the African Group is filled by a nation from 

the Arab world, alternating between the groups. Currently, 

elections for terms beginning in even-numbered years select 

two African members, and one each within Eastern Europe, 

Asia-Pacific, and Latin America and the Caribbean; the 

traditional "Arab seat" is elected for this term. Terms beginning 

in odd-numbered years consist of two Western European and 

Other members, and one each from Asia-Pacific, Africa, and 

Latin America and the Caribbean.  

During the 2016 United Nations Security Council election, 

neither Italy nor the Netherlands met the required two-thirds 

majority for election. They subsequently agreed to split the 

term of the Western European and Others Group. It was the 

first time in over five decades that two members agreed to do 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 1 

198 

 

so. Usually, intractable deadlocks are resolved by the 

candidate countries withdrawing in favour of a third member 

state.  

President 

• The role of president of the Security Council involves 

setting the agenda, presiding at its meetings and 

overseeing any crisis. The president is authorized to 

issue both Presidential Statements (subject to 

consensus among Council members) and notes, 

which are used to make declarations of intent that 

the full Security Council can then pursue. The 

presidency of the council is held by each of the 

members in turn for one month, following the 

English alphabetical order of the member states' 

names. 

Meeting locations 

Unlike the General Assembly, the Security Council meets year-

round. Each Security Council member must have a 

representative available at UN Headquarters at all times in 

case an emergency meeting becomes necessary.  

The Security Council generally meets in a designated chamber 

in the United Nations Conference Building in New York City. 

The chamber was designed by the Norwegian architect Arnstein 

Arneberg and was a gift from Norway. The United Nations 

Security Council mural by Norwegian artist Per Krohg (1952) 

depicts a phoenix rising from its ashes, symbolic of the world's 

rebirth after World War II.  
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The Security Council has also held meetings in cities including 

Nairobi, Kenya; Addis Ababa, Ethiopia; Panama City, Panama; 

and Geneva, Switzerland. In March 2010, the Security Council 

moved into a temporary facility in the General Assembly 

Building as its chamber underwent renovations as part of the 

UN Capital Master Plan. The renovations were funded by 

Norway, the chamber's original donor, for a total cost of 

US$5 million. The chamber reopened on 16 April 2013.  

Consultation room 

Because meetings in the Security Council Chamber are covered 

by the international press, proceedings are highly theatrical in 

nature. Delegates deliver speeches to justify their positions 

and attack their opponents, playing to the cameras and the 

audience at home. Delegations also stage walkouts to express 

their disagreement with actions of the Security Council. Due to 

the public scrutiny of the Security Council Chamber, all of the 

real work of the Security Council is conducted behind closed 

doors in "informal consultations".  

In 1978, West Germany funded the construction of a 

conference room next to the Security Council Chamber. The 

room was used for "informal consultations", which soon 

became the primary meeting format for the Security Council. In 

1994, the French ambassador complained to the Secretary-

General that "informal consultations have become the 

Council's characteristic working method, while public 

meetings, originally the norm, are increasingly rare and 

increasingly devoid of content: everyone knows that when the 

Council goes into public meeting everything has been decided 

in advance". When Russia funded the renovation of the 
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consultation room in 2013, the Russian ambassador called it 

"quite simply, the most fascinating place in the entire 

diplomatic universe".  

Only members of the Security Council are permitted in the 

conference room for consultations. The press is not admitted, 

and other members of the United Nations cannot be invited 

into the consultations. No formal record is kept of the informal 

consultations. As a result, the delegations can negotiate with 

each other in secret, striking deals and compromises without 

having their every word transcribed into the permanent record. 

The privacy of the conference room also makes it possible for 

the delegates to deal with each other in a friendly manner. In 

one early consultation, a new delegate from a Communist 

nation began a propaganda attack on the United States, only to 

be told by the Soviet delegate, "We don't talk that way in here."  

A permanent member can cast a "pocket veto" during the 

informal consultation by declaring its opposition to a measure. 

Since a veto would prevent the resolution from being passed, 

the sponsor will usually refrain from putting the resolution to 

a vote. Resolutions are vetoed only if the sponsor feels so 

strongly about a measure that it wishes to force the permanent 

member to cast a formal veto. 

By the time a resolution reaches the Security Council 

Chamber, it has already been discussed, debated, and 

amended in the consultations. The open meeting of the 

Security Council is merely a public ratification of a decision 

that has already been reached in private. For example, 

Resolution 1373 was adopted without public debate in a 

meeting that lasted just five minutes.  
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The Security Council holds far more consultations than public 

meetings. In 2012, the Security Council held 160 

consultations, 16 private meetings, and 9 public meetings. In 

times of crisis, the Security Council still meets primarily in 

consultations, but it also holds more public meetings. 

After the outbreak of the Ukraine crisis in 2013, the Security 

Council returned to the patterns of the Cold War, as Russia 

and the Western countries engaged in verbal duels in front of 

the television cameras. In 2016, the Security Council held 150 

consultations, 19 private meetings, and 68 public meetings.  

Subsidiary organs/bodies 

Article 29 of the Charter provides that the Security Council 

can establish subsidiary bodies in order to perform its 

functions. 

This authority is also reflected in Rule 28 of the Provisional 

Rules of Procedure. The subsidiary bodies established by the 

Security Council are extremely heterogenous. On the one hand, 

they include bodies such as the Security Council Committee on 

Admission of New Members. 

On the other hand, both the International Criminal Tribunal 

for the former Yugoslavia and the International Criminal 

Tribunal for Rwanda were also created as subsidiary bodies of 

the Security Council. The by now numerous Sanctions 

Committees established in order to oversee implementation of 

the various sanctions regimes are also subsidiary bodies of the 

council.  
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United Nations peacekeepers 

• After approval by the Security Council, the UN may 

send peacekeepers to regions where armed conflict 

has recently ceased or paused to enforce the terms of 

peace agreements and to discourage combatants 

from resuming hostilities. Since the UN does not 

maintain its own military, peacekeeping forces are 

voluntarily provided by member states. These 

soldiers are sometimes nicknamed "Blue Helmets" for 

their distinctive gear. The peacekeeping force as a 

whole received the Nobel Peace Prize in 1988. 

In September 2013, the UN had 116,837 peacekeeping soldiers 

and other personnel deployed on 15 missions. The largest was 

the United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo (MONUSCO), which included 

20,688 uniformed personnel. The smallest, United Nations 

Military Observer Group in India and Pakistan (UNMOGIP), 

included 42 uniformed personnel responsible for monitoring 

the ceasefire in Jammu and Kashmir. Peacekeepers with the 

United Nations Truce Supervision Organization (UNTSO) have 

been stationed in the Middle East since 1948, the longest-

running active peacekeeping mission.  

UN peacekeepers have also drawn criticism in several postings. 

Peacekeepers have been accused of child rape, soliciting 

prostitutes, or sexual abuse during various peacekeeping 

missions in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, 

Haiti, Liberia, Sudan and what is now South Sudan, Burundi 

and Ivory Coast. Scientists cited UN peacekeepers from Nepal 
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as the likely source of the 2010–2013 Haiti cholera outbreak, 

which killed more than 8,000 Haitians following the 2010 Haiti 

earthquake.  

The budget for peacekeeping is assessed separately from the 

main UN organisational budget; in the 2013–2014 fiscal year, 

peacekeeping expenditures totalled $7.54 billion. UN peace 

operations are funded by assessments, using a formula derived 

from the regular funding scale, but including a weighted 

surcharge for the five permanent Security Council members. 

This surcharge serves to offset discounted peacekeeping 

assessment rates for less developed countries. In 2020, the top 

10 providers of assessed financial contributions to United 

Nations peacekeeping operations were the US (27.89%), China 

(15.21%), Japan (8.56%), Germany (6.09%), the United 

Kingdom (5.79%), France (5.61%), Italy (3.30%), Russian 

Federation (3.04%), Canada (2.73%), and South Korea (2.26%).  

Criticism and evaluations 

In examining the first sixty years of the Security Council's 

existence, British historian Paul Kennedy concludes that 

"glaring failures had not only accompanied the UN's many 

achievements, they overshadowed them", identifying the lack of 

will to prevent ethnic massacres in Bosnia and Rwanda as 

particular failures. Kennedy attributes the failures to the UN's 

lack of reliable military resources, writing that "above all, one 

can conclude that the practice of announcing (through a 

Security Council resolution) a new peacekeeping mission 

without ensuring that sufficient armed forces will be available 

has usually proven to be a recipe for humiliation and disaster".  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 1 

204 

 

A 2005 RAND Corporation study found the UN to be successful 

in two out of three peacekeeping efforts. It compared UN 

nation-building efforts to those of the United States, and found 

that seven out of eight UN cases are at peace. Also in 2005, the 

Human Security Report documented a decline in the number of 

wars, genocides and human rights abuses since the end of the 

Cold War, and presented evidence, albeit circumstantial, that 

international activism – mostly spearheaded by the UN – has 

been the main cause of the decline in armed conflict since the 

end of the Cold War.  

Scholar Sudhir Chella Rajan argued in 2006 that the five 

permanent members of the United Nations Security Council, 

who are all nuclear powers, have created an exclusive nuclear 

club that predominately addresses the strategic interests and 

political motives of the permanent members – for example, 

protecting the oil-rich Kuwaitis in 1991 but poorly protecting 

resource-poor Rwandans in 1994. Since three of the five 

permanent members are also European, and four are 

predominantly white Western nations, the Security Council has 

been described as a pillar of global apartheid by Titus 

Alexander, former Chair of Westminster United Nations 

Association.  

The Security Council's effectiveness and relevance is 

questioned by some because, in most high-profile cases, there 

are essentially no consequences for violating a Security 

Council resolution. During the Darfur crisis, Janjaweed 

militias, allowed by elements of the Sudanese government, 

committed violence against an indigenous population, killing 

thousands of civilians. In the Srebrenica massacre, Serbian 

troops committed genocide against Bosniaks, although 
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Srebrenica had been declared a UN safe area, protected by 400 

armed Dutch peacekeepers. In his 2009 speech, Muammar 

Gaddafi criticized the Security Council's veto powers and the 

wars permanent members of the Security Council engaged in.  

The UN Charter gives all three powers of the legislative, 

executive, and judiciary branches to the Security Council.  

In his inaugural speech at the 16th Summit of the Non-Aligned 

Movement in August 2012, Ayatollah Ali Khamenei criticized 

the United Nations Security Council as having an "illogical, 

unjust and completely undemocratic structure and mechanism" 

and called for a complete reform of the body.  

The Security Council has been criticized for failure in resolving 

many conflicts, including Cyprus, Sri Lanka, Syria, Kosovo and 

the Israeli–Palestinian conflict, reflecting the wider short-

comings of the UN. For example; at the 68th Session of the UN 

General Assembly, New Zealand Prime Minister John Key 

heavily criticized the UN's inaction on Syria, more than two 

years after the Syrian civil war began.  

There is evidence of bribery on the UNSC. Countries that are 

elected to the Security Council see a large increase in foreign 

aid from the US, averaging 59%. 

They also see an 8% increase in aid from the United Nations, 

mainly from UNICEF. The increase most strongly correlates to 

years in which the Security Council addresses issues relevant 

to the US. There is also evidence of increased foreign aid to 

elected countries from Japan and Germany. Membership on the 

UNSC results in reduced economic growth for a given country 

as compared to non-member countries (3.5% over four years 
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compared to 8.7% for nonmembers). Elected members also 

experience a reduction in democracy and freedom of the press.  

Membership reform 

Proposals to reform the Security Council began with the 

conference that wrote the UN Charter and have continued to 

the present day. As British historian Paul Kennedy writes, 

"Everyone agrees that the present structure is flawed. But 

consensus on how to fix it remains out of reach."  

There has been discussion of increasing the number of 

permanent members. The countries which have made the 

strongest demands for permanent seats are Brazil, Germany, 

India, and Japan. Japan and Germany, the main defeated 

powers in WWII, had been the UN's second- and third-largest 

funders respectively before China took over as the second 

largest funder in recent years, while Brazil and India are two of 

the largest contributors of troops to UN-mandated peace-

keeping missions.  

Italy, another main defeated power in WWII and now the UN's 

sixth-largest funder, leads a movement known as the Uniting 

for Consensus in opposition to the possible expansion of 

permanent seats. Core members of the group include Canada, 

South Korea, Spain, Indonesia, Mexico, Pakistan, Turkey, 

Argentina and Colombia. Their proposal is to create a new 

category of seats, still non-permanent, but elected for an 

extended duration (semi-permanent seats). As far as traditional 

categories of seats are concerned, the UfC proposal does not 

imply any change, but only the introduction of small and 

medium size states among groups eligible for regular seats. 
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This proposal includes even the question of veto, giving a range 

of options that goes from abolition to limitation of the 

application of the veto only to Chapter VII matters.  

Former UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan asked a team of 

advisers to come up with recommendations for reforming the 

United Nations by the end of 2004. One proposed measure is to 

increase the number of permanent members by five, which, in 

most proposals, would include Brazil, Germany, India, and 

Japan (known as the G4 nations), one seat from Africa (most 

likely between Egypt, Nigeria or South Africa), and/or one seat 

from the Arab League. On 21 September 2004, the G4 nations 

issued a joint statement mutually backing each other's claim 

to permanent status, together with two African countries. 

Currently the proposal has to be accepted by two-thirds of the 

General Assembly (128 votes).  

The permanent members, each holding the right of veto, 

announced their positions on Security Council reform 

reluctantly. 

The United States has unequivocally supported the permanent 

membership of Japan and lent its support to India and a small 

number of additional non-permanent members. 

The United Kingdom and France essentially supported the G4 

position, with the expansion of permanent and non-permanent 

members and the accession of Germany, Brazil, India and 

Japan to permanent member status, as well as an increase in 

the presence by African countries on the council. China has 

supported the stronger representation of developing countries 

and firmly opposed Japan's membership.  
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In 2017, it was reported that the G4 nations were willing 

temporarily to forgo veto power if granted permanent UNSC 

seats. In September 2017, U.S. Representatives Ami Bera and 

Frank Pallone introduced a resolution (H.Res.535) in the US 

House of Representatives (115th United States Congress), 

seeking support for India for permanent membership of the 

United Nations Security Council. 
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